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Summary of Principal Risk Factors 

This summary briefly lists the principal risks and uncertainties facing our business, which are only a select portion 
of those risks. A more complete discussion of those risks and uncertainties is set forth in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual 
Report, entitled “Risk Factors”. Additional risks not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may 
also affect us. If any of these risks occur, our business, financial condition or results of operations could be materially 
and adversely affected. 

Our business is subject to the following principal risks and uncertainties: 

Risks Associated with Development and Commercialization of Our Drug Candidates 

• The cost, time, and possibility of delays associated with clinical trials, which may be required to continue 
beyond our available funding. We cannot be certain that we will be able to raise sufficient funds to complete the 
development and commercialize any of our product candidates currently in clinical development, should they 
succeed. 

• We may suffer significant delays, setbacks or negative results in, or termination of, our clinical trials.  
• We are making use of biomarkers, which are not scientifically validated, and our reliance on biomarker data 

may thus cause us to direct our resources inefficiently. 
• We may be unable to directly control the timing, conduct and expense of our clinical trials, due to our reliance 

on contract research organizations and other third parties to conduct clinical trials. 
• We have no manufacturing capacity and will rely on third party manufacturers for the late-stage clinical trials, 

development and commercialization of any drugs we may develop or sell. 
• We may encounter difficulties in managing our growth and expanding our operations successfully as we evolve 

from a company primarily involved in discovery and development to one also involved in the 
commercialization of drugs and devices. 

• Our drug candidates are subject to extensive regulation, which can be costly and time-consuming, and we may 
not obtain approvals for the commercialization of any of our drug candidates. 

• Even if we successfully complete the clinical trials for one or more of our product candidates, the product 
candidates may fail for other reasons. 

• We face intense competition and our competitors may develop drugs that are less expensive, safer, or more 
effective than our drug candidates. 

• If we fail to enter into and maintain successful strategic alliances for our drug candidates, we may have to 
reduce or delay our drug candidate development or increase our expenditures. 

• If our drug candidates or distribution partners’ products fail to achieve market acceptance, we may not be able 
to generate significant revenue and our business may suffer. Our business may be affected by the efforts of 
government and third-party payors to contain or reduce the cost of healthcare through various means. 

• We face potential product liability exposure, and if successful claims are brought against us, we may incur 
substantial liability for a product candidate and may have to limit its commercialization. 

• We may be subject to numerous and varying privacy and security laws, and our failure to comply could result 
in penalties and reputational damage. 

Risks Related to Our Business and Financial Condition 

• We have a history of operating losses and we may never become profitable. Our stock is a highly speculative 
investment. 

• There is substantial doubt regarding our ability to continue as a going concern. We will need to raise additional 
capital in upcoming periods which may not be available to us on reasonable terms, if at all.  

• Unstable market and economic conditions may have serious adverse consequences on our business, financial 
condition and stock price. 

• If we fail to comply with the continued listing requirements of the Nasdaq Capital Market, our common stock 
may be delisted and the price of our common stock and our ability to access the capital markets could be 
negatively impacted.  
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• Funding constraints may negatively impact our research and development activities, forcing us to delay our 
efforts to develop certain product candidates in favor of developing others, which may prevent us from 
commercializing our product candidates as quickly as possible. 

• Our business has been and may continue to be adversely affected by the ongoing coronavirus pandemic. 
• We are experiencing an increasingly tight and competitive labor market with an increase in employee turnover 

rates and higher compensation and hiring costs. This may have an adverse effect on our ability to attract and 
retain skilled personnel and may harm our business. 

Risks Related to our Intellectual Property 

• If we fail to enforce adequately or defend our intellectual property rights, our business may be harmed. 
• We may incur substantial costs as a result of litigation or other proceedings relating to patent and other 

intellectual property rights. 

Risks Related to Securities Regulations and Investment in Our Securities 

• Failure to achieve and maintain internal controls in accordance with Sections 302 and 404 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 could have a material adverse effect on our business and stock price. 

• We incur increased costs and management resources as a result of being a public company, and we may fail to 
comply with public company obligations. 

• We may have limited ability to pay cash dividends on our preferred stock, and there is no assurance that future 
quarterly dividends will be declared. 

• The future sale of our common and convertible preferred stock and future issuances of our common stock upon 
conversion of our preferred stock could negatively affect our stock price and cause dilution to existing holders 
of our common stock. 

• The number of shares of common stock which are registered, including the shares to be issued upon exercise of 
our outstanding warrants, is significant in relation to our currently outstanding common stock and could cause 
downward pressure on the market price for our common stock. 

• Our management team will have broad discretion over the use of the net proceeds from any sale of our 
securities. 

• We have restated our previously issued consolidated financial statements and, as part of that process, have 
identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022. If we 
are unable to develop and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting, we may not be able to 
accurately report our financial results in a timely manner. We may also face litigation and other risks as a result 
of the restatement. 

 
PART I 

Item 1.   Business 

The following Business Section contains forward-looking statements. Our actual results could differ materially from 
those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of certain risks, uncertainties and other factors including 
the risk factors set forth in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In this report, “Cyclacel,” the 
“Company,” “we,” “us,” and “our” refer to Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 

General 

We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company working to develop innovative cancer medicines based on cell 
cycle, transcriptional regulation, epigenetics and mitosis biology. We are a pioneer company in the field of cancer cell 
cycle biology with a vision to improve patient healthcare by translating insights in cancer biology into medicines that 
can overcome resistance and ultimately increase a patient’s overall survival. 

The transcriptional regulation program is evaluating fadraciclib, a CDK2/9 inhibitor, in solid tumors and 
hematological malignancies. The epigenetic/anti-mitotic program is evaluating plogosertib, a PLK1 inhibitor, in solid 
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tumors and hematological malignancies. Our strategy is to build a diversified biopharmaceutical business based on a 
pipeline of novel drug candidates addressing oncology and hematology indications. 

We have retained rights to commercialize our clinical development candidates and our business objective is to enter 
into selective partnership arrangements with these programs. Substantially all our efforts to date have been devoted to 
performing research and development, conducting clinical trials, developing and acquiring intellectual property, raising 
capital and recruiting and training personnel. 

Cell Cycle Control Biology 

Loss of control of the cell cycle, the process by which cells grow and divide, lies at the heart of cancer. In normal 
cells, a complex set of interacting proteins tightly regulates progression through the phases of the cell cycle by which a 
cell grows, replicates its DNA and divides. This process also includes mechanisms known as cell cycle checkpoints, to 
ensure all necessary events of each cell cycle phase are completed before beginning the next phase. Specific isoforms of 
cyclin dependent kinases, or CDKs, and Polo-like Kinases, or PLKs, are some of the key regulators among the numerous 
genes and proteins involved in cell cycle checkpoints. If checkpoint control events are not completed correctly, the 
cancer cells may commit suicide by a process of programmed cell death called apoptosis. We seek to enhance and 
facilitate apoptotic outcomes in cancer cells with the objective of containing the disease and benefiting patients with 
various cancers. 

CDKs interact with proteins called cyclins to regulate cell cycle checkpoints and control transcription, DNA repair 
and metastatic spread. The discovery of CDKs and cyclins and their regulation of cell cycle checkpoint control were 
cited in the 2001 Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine. Our founder, Professor Sir David Lane, PhD, an internationally 
recognized authority in cell cycle biology who discovered p53, a key tumor suppressor that malfunctions in about two-
thirds of human cancers, first identified CDK2/9 inhibition as an optimal target profile for transcriptionally active CDK 
inhibitors. 

The lead drug in our transcriptional regulation program is fadraciclib (formerly known as CYC065). 

Polo Kinases and other mitotic kinases were first discovered in fruit flies by our former Chief Scientist, Professor 
David Glover, PhD. PLK1 is a serine/threonine kinase playing a central role in cell division, or mitosis. In particular, 
PLK1 regulates mitotic entry, spindle formation, mitotic exit, cytokinesis and is an important regulator of the DNA 
damage checkpoint. Cancer cells are much more sensitive to PLK1 depletion than normal cells with intact cell cycle 
checkpoints. Inhibiting PLK1 blocks proliferation by prolonged mitotic arrest followed by onset of cancer cell death. 

The lead drug in our anti-mitotic program is plogosertib (formerly known as CYC140). 

Clinical Development Pipeline 

Our pipeline of innovative medicines aims to provide safe and effective anticancer treatment options to patients 
combined with the convenience of oral administration. Our preclinical and clinical studies suggests that daily dosing by 
the oral route is a preferred strategy for both our drugs. We also conducted certain early clinical studies using i.v. 
administration. The aim of the current streamlined studies is to assess safety and identify signals of clinical activity 
which may lead to registration-enabling outcomes. 
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The following table summarizes our current development programs: 
   

PROGRAM   INDICATION   PHASE 
Transcriptional Regulation       
Fadraciclib CDK inhibitor 
(oral)  

  Solid tumors – multiple cohorts defined 
by tumor histology and a basket cohort

 Phase 1/2 to achieve proof of concept  

Mitosis Regulation       
Plogosertib PLK inhibitor 
(oral) 

  Solid tumors – multiple cohorts defined 
by tumor histology and a basket cohort

 Phase 1/2 to achieve proof of concept # 

CDK: cyclin-dependent kinase; PLK: polo-like kinase. # Study to resume recruitment following introduction of new oral 
formulation. 

We currently retain all global marketing rights to the compounds associated with our clinical-stage drug programs. 

Transcriptional Regulation Program 

Fadraciclib — Cyclin Dependent Kinase (CDK) Inhibitor 

CDKs are a family of enzymes first discovered as regulators of the cell cycle, but now understood to also provide 
pivotal functions in the regulation of transcription, DNA repair and metastatic spread. Different CDK inhibitor drugs 
selectively target different sets of CDKs. The precise selectivity of an individual CDK inhibitor molecule for certain 
specific CDKs is key to targeting particular tumor types and minimizing undesirable side effects through non-specific or 
off-target activity. 

The best characterized CDK enzymes include CDK2, -4, -6 and -9. 

Following Professor Sir David Lane’s insights, our drug discovery and development programs concentrated on the 
CDK2/9 isoforms, which operate as key components of the p53 pathway. 

Pharmacological inhibition of the CDK2/9 isoforms, by medicines like fadraciclib, has been shown to have potent 
anticancer effects in preclinical and clinical studies against certain cancer types, including some that are resistant to 
approved treatments. It is hoped that treatment with fadraciclib will result in clinically relevant, tumor cell death in 
patients with selected cancer types. Fadraciclib inhibits CDK2, which is activated by Cyclin E, an oncogene to which 
cancer cells become addicted and CDK9 which regulates transcription of certain genes through phosphorylation of RNA 
polymerase II . We believe that CDK2 and CDK9 inhibition together may be superior to CDK2 or CDK9 inhibition 
alone. 

The FDA approved CDK4/6 inhibitors, palbociclib, ribociclib and abemaciclib, represent an important therapeutic 
advance and are associated with clinically meaningful survival advantages with good tolerability when combined with 
hormone therapy versus hormone therapy alone in patients with hormone receptor positive, HER2-negative breast 
cancer. Clinical data show that treatment failure after CDK4/6 inhibitors is associated with amplification of cyclin E 
(Turner NC et al, JCO, 2019). Treatment of patients failing CDK4/6 inhibitors with CDK2/9 inhibitors, such as 
fadraciclib, may provide extended benefit to these patients. Preclinical data suggest that treatment of HER2-positive 
breast cancer cells resistant to standard of care trastuzumab with a combination of trastuzumab and fadraciclib results in 
regression of these difficult to treat cancer cells (Scaltriti M et al, PNAS, 2011). 

Different CDKs are responsible for controlling different aspects of proliferation which, when dysregulated, can be 
drivers of particular cancer subsets. CDK2 and CDK9 inhibitors have been shown to induce apoptosis of cancer cells. 
CDK2/9 inhibition may also overcome aberrant cell cycle control in certain non-malignant diseases of proliferation. 
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Fadraciclib mechanism and potential biomarkers: 

• CDK2/cyclin E drives cell cycle transition: 

o The cyclin dependent kinase inhibitor 2A (CDKN2A) gene encodes two tumor suppressor proteins 
p16INK4A and p14ARF. p16INK4A inhbits the activity of CDK4/6 and p14ARF inhibits 
MDM2-mediated degradation of p53. CDKN2A gene mutations or deletions can lead to decreased function 
of p16INK4A and p14ARF and are associated with cancer development. Loss of CDK4/6 inhibition by 
p16INK4A can dysregulate G1 phase cell cycle control which could be restored via CDK2 inhibition. For 
example, in CDKN2A mutant cancer cells activity of the approved CDK4/6 inhibitor drug abemaciclib is 
limited by CDK2 bypass of CDK4/6i (Gong, Cancer Cell 2017). Loss of p53 activation by p14ARF also 
contributes to cancer development, and may be countered by suppressing MDM2 expression via CDK9 
inhibition. 

o The cyclin dependent kinase inhibitor 2B (CDKN2B) gene encodes p15 INK4B and inhibits the activity of 
CDK4/6. Loss of function of CDKN2B can lead to potentially uncontrolled cell cycle progression which 
can lead to tumor growth. 

o Hypothesis generating data from fadraciclib Phase 1 studies suggest that CDKN2A and/or CDKN2B 
abnormalities are potential cancer vulnerabilities which can be exploited by a CDK2/9 inhibitor, like 
fadraciclib. We intend to test this hypothesis in patient cohorts during the proof of concept stage of our 
Phase 1/2 CYC065-101 study. 

• CDK9/cyclin T regulates transcription of certain genes through phosphorylation of RNA polymerase II C -
 terminal domain Ser2. MCL1 mRNA and protein are labile (turn over rapidly). Transient blocking of 
CDK9-dependent transcription leads quickly to loss of MCL1 protein, resulting in apoptosis in 
MCL1-dependent cancer cells. Labile proteins rapidly depleted by short exposure to a CDK2/9 inhibitor, such 
as fadraciclib, include MCL1, MYCN, MYC, MYB, BCL2A1 and MDM2. 

o MCL1 is overexpressed in many types of cancer acting as a survival and drug resistance mechanism. 

o MYC proto-oncogenes encode MYC family proteins which are overexpressed in over 50% of human 
cancers often via gene amplification. MYC proteins are transcriptional regulators which promote cancer 
cell growth and survival by increasing the expression of target genes involved in cell metabolism and 
growth. 

o Multiple studies show that knockdown of MCL1 and/or MYC lead to cancer cell death and resensitization 
to drug treatment. 

Clinical development 

Solid tumors 

Phase 1/2 Study in advanced solid tumors and lymphomas (CYC065-101, dosed orally, NCT04983810) 

The ongoing study is an open-label, multicenter, Phase 1/2 registration-directed trial using a streamlined design. 
Phase 1 explores both schedule and escalating doses of oral fadraciclib as a single-agent in a 28-day cycle with a primary 
objective of identifying maximum tolerated dose or MTD and/or the recommended Phase 2 dose or RP2D. Once RP2D 
has been established, the trial will immediately enter proof-of-concept, cohort stage, using a Simon 2-stage design, 
where single agent fadraciclib will be administered to patients in up to eight cohorts defined by histology or molecular 
subtype thought to be sensitive to the drug’s mechanism of action and informed by the clinical activity of fadraciclib in 
previous studies. The cohorts are expected to include patients with breast cancer (selected for metastatic, hormone 
receptor positive, HER-2 negative, post-CDK4/6 inhibitor; HER-2 refractory; or triple negative), colorectal (including 
KRAS mutant), endometrial, hepatobiliary, ovarian cancers, and certain lymphomas. An additional basket cohort will 
enroll patients with mechanistically relevant biomarkers, including CDKN2A and/or CDKN2B mutation or deletion, 
MCL1, MYC and/or cyclin E overexpression or amplification, regardless of histology. The protocol allows for 



8 

expansion of a cohort based on exceeding certain futility criteria. The primary objective of Phase 2 is to achieve proof of 
concept and determine preliminary efficacy by overall response rate. Safety, pharmacokinetics and efficacy will be 
investigated for all subjects. Exploratory objectives are to investigate clinical pharmacodynamics and 
pharmacogenomics of fadraciclib.  

Encouraging preliminary data from the study were presented during a poster presentation at the 34th EORTC-NCI-
AACR (ENA) Symposium on Molecular Targets and Cancer Therapeutics. At our R&D Day on October 31, 2022, a 
principal investigator from Seoul National University Hospital showed preclinical data demonstrating sensitivity to fadra 
in biliary tract and pancreatic cancer cells obtained from patient specimens. 

In the 065-101 study of oral fadraciclib, CDK2/9 inhibitor, a total of 47 patients have been dosed to date as 
monotherapy through six dose levels, of which 33 are evaluable for efficacy. Dose limiting toxicities of nausea and 
hyperglycemia were observed, which were controlled after dose interruption, with blood glucose levels returning to 
normal range after treatment.  

Dose level 5 (100mg twice daily for 5 days per week, 4 out of 4 weeks) was the maximally tolerated dose (MTD) 
per protocol for the twice daily schedule and is safe for continued development. 

Evaluation of once daily dosing at dose level 6B (150mg once daily for 7 days per week, 4 out of 4 weeks) 
continues accrual with two patients treated. 

To date, single agent activity, including complete response, partial response and stable disease, has been observed in 
certain patients with advanced endometrial, squamous non-small cell lung cancer and T-cell lymphoma. Encouraging 
signals of activity were also observed in certain patients with advanced cervical, hepatocellular, ovarian and pancreatic 
cancers. Fadraciclib tablets can be given orally with repeat dosing which has led to transient suppression of anti-
apoptosis proteins with generally good tolerability and no Grade 3 or higher hematological toxicity in the first cycle. We 
believe that fadraciclib’s inhibition of CDK2 and CDK9 may be superior to inhibiting either CDK2 or CDK9 alone.  

Advanced cancers (CYC065-01, i.v., NCT02552953) 

Fadraciclib, using i.v. administration, has been evaluated in a first-in-human, single agent, ascending dose, Phase 1 
trial to assess its safety, tolerability, pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics in patients with advanced solid tumors. In 
part 1 of the study 26 patients were treated with fadraciclib as a 4-hour infusion once every 3 weeks. Part 2 tested a more 
intensive dosing regimen with 24 patients treated with fadraciclib as a 1-hour infusion or orally on days 1, 2, 8 and 9 
every 3 weeks. One patient with MCL1 amplified endometrial cancer has experienced a confirmed partial response after 
4 cycles and remains on fadraciclib monotherapy for more than two years with 100% reduction in target tumor lesions 
and a negative PET scan. Another patient with cyclin E amplified ovarian cancer has achieved cancer shrinkage of target 
tumor lesions of 29% after 4 cycles. In part 3 of the study high bioequivalence of an oral formulation of fadraciclib was 
reported at the 32nd EORTC-NCI-AACR (ENA) Symposium in October 2020. Dose limiting toxicities were reversible 
neutropenia, thrombocytopenia, febrile neutropenia, diarrhea, hypomagnesemia, white blood cell lysis syndrome and its 
associated electrolyte abnormalities and liver enzyme elevations. 

Leukemias 

Phase 1/2 study in hematological malignancies (CYC065-102, dosed orally, NCT05168904) 

This is an open-label, multicenter, Phase 1/2 registration-directed trial using a streamlined design. Phase 1 explores 
both schedule and escalating doses of oral fadraciclib as a single-agent in a 28-day cycle with a primary objective of 
identifying MTD and/or the RP2D. Once RP2D has been established, the trial will immediately enter proof-of-concept, 
cohort stage, using a Simon 2-stage design. Oral fadraciclib, both as a single agent and in combinations, will be 
administered to patients in up to seven cohorts relevant to the drug’s mechanism of action and informed by the clinical 
activity of fadraciclib in previous studies. 14 patients have been enrolled in this study through five dose levels. The study 
is not currently recruiting. 
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Chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CYC065-02, i.v., NCT03739554) 

CLL cell survival depends on the expression of anti-apoptotic proteins, including MCL1 and BCL2. In this context, 
targeting MCL1 or BCL2 releases pro-death signals and commits CLL cells to apoptosis. In preclinical studies, rapid cell 
death was induced in CLL and multiple myeloma patient-derived cell lines after short exposure to fadraciclib, even in 
the presence of stromal cells which confer protection from standard treatments. MCL1 down-regulation was observed, 
consistent with the pro-apoptotic mechanism of fadraciclib. Fadraciclib synergizes with venetoclax in preclinical models 
at clinically achievable concentrations, supporting the clinical investigation of combination regimens of fadraciclib and 
venetoclax. 

In a Phase 1 study, i.v. fadraciclib was evaluated in combination with venetoclax in patients with relapsed or 
refractory CLL. The study design and preliminary data were presented at a poster during the 2019 Annual Meeting of the 
American Society of Hematology. Fadraciclib was administered intravenously via four-hour infusion on days 1 and 15 in 
combination with daily oral venetoclax. Initial dose escalation is 33% and upon occurrence of the first dose limiting 
toxicity, or DLT, 25%. The primary objective is determination of a recommended Phase 2 dose, or RP2D, defined as the 
highest dose level at which less than one-third of at least six patients experience DLT during the first treatment cycle. 
Treatment continued until progression of disease, unacceptable toxicity or changes in patient condition that renders 
patients ineligible for further treatment. Laboratory tests and CT scans were performed regularly to assess response 
according to standard criteria.  

Of the five R/R CLL patients enrolled in CYC065-02 all had failed ibrutinib and one had also failed CAR-T cell 
treatment. Patients remained minimal residual disease, or MRD, positive after treatment ramp with single agent 
venetoclax for up to 5 weeks. Continuing shrinkage of enlarged lymph nodes was observed by CT scan on the 
combination of venetoclax and fadraciclib dosed once every two weeks. The patient who failed CAR-T cell therapy and 
two additional patients achieved MRD negative status on the combination. 

Acute myeloid leukemia, or AML (CYC065-03, i.v., NCT04017546) 

Drug resistance in AML has been attributed among others to high levels of MCL1. AML cell lines are highly 
sensitive to fadraciclib and 5 to 8 hours of treatment is sufficient to achieve induction of cell death. Fadraciclib has 
single agent efficacy in AML xenografts and the potential to be combined with approved AML therapies. In leukemia 
cells harboring the rearranged MLL-r, fadraciclib reduced both MCL1 expression and CDK9 dependent transcription of 
MLL-regulated leukemogenic genes. 

We completed enrollment in a Phase 1 study evaluating i.v. fadraciclib in combination with venetoclax in patients 
with relapsed or refractory AML or MDS. The study design and preliminary data were presented at a poster during the 
2019 Annual Meeting of the American Society of Hematology. Fadraciclib is administered intravenously via four-hour 
infusion on days 1 and 15 in combination with daily venetoclax on days 1 to 15. Initial dose escalation is 33% and 25% 
upon occurrence of DLT. The primary objective is determination of RP2D defined as the highest dose level at which less 
than one-third of at least six patients experience a DLT during the first treatment cycle. Treatment continued until 
progression of disease, unacceptable toxicity or changes in patient condition that renders patients ineligible for further 
treatment. 

Four of twelve patients in CYC065-03 achieved decreases in leukemia blast cells in their peripheral blood as 
reported by investigators. 

Published preclinical data 

Preclinical data suggest that fadraciclib may benefit adults and children with hematological malignancies, including 
AML, acute lymphocytic leukemias, or ALL, and in particular leukemias with MLL-r, CLL, B-cell lymphomas, multiple 
myelomas, and patients with certain solid tumors, including breast and uterine cancers, and neuroblastomas. 
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• Prolonged survival and reduced tumor burden in MYCN-addicted neuroblastoma 

The MYCN oncogene is over-expressed in several types of cancer, most notably neuroblastoma, and also 
rhabdomyosarcoma, medulloblastoma, astrocytoma, Wilms’ tumor and small cell lung cancer. Amplification of 
MYCN is the most common genomic alteration in aggressive neuroblastoma and is associated with poor clinical 
outcome. Preclinical data presented at the 2016 Childhood Cancer Meeting demonstrated that fadraciclib prolonged 
survival in MYCN-addicted neuroblastoma models. Neuroblastoma cells with MYCN amplification and 
overexpression were found to be particularly sensitive. Treatment with fadraciclib was associated with inhibition of 
MYCN transcription, downregulation of MYCN protein, blocking neuroblastoma cell proliferation and induction of 
apoptosis. There are no approved drugs that directly target MYCN, prompting investigation of indirect approaches 
such as suppression of MYCN gene expression via CDK9 inhibition, or exploitation of a synthetic lethal 
relationship between MYCN amplification/overexpression and inhibition of CDK2. 

• May reverse drug resistance associated with addiction of cancer cells to cyclin E, the partner protein of CDK2 

Fadraciclib as a single agent can induce tumor growth delay in HER2-positive breast cancer cells addicted to 
cyclin E and resistant to trastuzumab, while administration of fadraciclib in combination with trastuzumab resulted 
in regression or sustained tumor growth inhibition.  

• May have activity in KRAS-mutated cancers 

Researchers led by Frank McCormick, PhD of University of California San Francisco and NCI’s Frederick 
National Lab for Cancer Research reported that overactive KRAS mutants are impeded by CDK9 inhibition (Lai 
LP, et al, SLAS Discovery 2021). These data expand on previous publications which report that dual CDK2/9 
inhibition is an optimal strategy to treat colorectal cancer (Somarelli JA, et al, Mol Cancer Ther, 2020), that KRAS 
mutant pancreatic cancer is sensitive to CDK9 inhibition (Blake DR, et al, Science Signalling, 2019), and that 
fadraciclib showed efficacy against KRAS mutant lung cancer in preclinical PDX models (Kawakami M, et al J Natl 
Cancer Inst, 2017). Collectively these publications suggest the potential for the therapeutic use of fadraciclib in 
KRAS-mutated cancers, including colorectal, lung and pancreatic. 

• Induces leukemia cell death and can combine beneficially with other anti-cancer drugs 

Fadraciclib targets key CDK9-dependent oncogenic and leukemogenic survival pathways. Data presented at the 
2018 Annual Meeting of the American Association of Cancer Research demonstrated strong synergy between, 
fadraciclib, and venetoclax in primary CLL, cells obtained from patients, including those with 17p deletions. In 
addition, the combination was active in two CLL samples which were resistant to either agent alone. 

Data presented at the 2016 Annual Meeting of the American Association of Cancer Research demonstrated that 
fadraciclib can induce cell death and combine beneficially with anti-cancer drugs from the BCL2 and BET 
(Bromodomain and Extra-Terminal domain) inhibitor classes, in in vitro models of B-cell lymphoma, including 
double-hit lymphomas. Combinations of fadraciclib with the BCL2 inhibitor venetoclax, or BET inhibitors were 
both synergistic. Short exposure to fadraciclib was sufficient to downregulate MYC and MCL1 and induce cell 
death. Fadraciclib treatment had no impact on BCL2 levels. 

In April 2022, a publication in the journal, Leukemia, from The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer 
Center reported preclinical data against chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) cell lines showing that fadraciclib, as a 
single agent and in combination with the BCL2 antagonist, venetoclax, depletes anti-apoptotic proteins and 
synergizes with venetoclax. 

These findings support the hypothesis that dual targeting of the MCL1- and BCL2-dependent mechanisms 
could induce synergistic cell death by apoptosis and highlight an opportunity to rationally disrupt the pathways 
promoting survival of leukemia cells. 
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Mitosis Regulation Program 

Polo-Like-Kinase inhibitor — Plogosertib 

In our Polo-like Kinase, or PLK, inhibitor program, we have discovered potent and selective small molecule 
inhibitors of PLK1. Polo Kinase was discovered by Professor David Glover, our former Chief Scientist. 

PLK1 is a serine/threonine kinase with a central role in cell division, or the mitotic phase of the cell cycle, and is an 
important regulator of the DNA damage checkpoint. PLK1 over-expressing tumors include colorectal, esophageal, 
gastric, leukemia, lung, lymphoma, ovarian and squamous cell cancers, as well as MYC amplified cancers including 
breast. Recent data with another PLK1 inhibitor in clinical development, suggest that PLK1 inhibition may be effective 
in KRAS-mutated metastatic colorectal cancer. 

Plogosertib is a novel, small molecule, selective, PLK1 inhibitor which has demonstrated an epigenetic mechanism, 
potent and selective target inhibition (PLK1 IC50 approximately 3 nM) and impressive efficacy in human tumor 
xenografts at non-toxic doses. Plogosertib has improved pharmaceutical properties over earlier, clinical stage, PLK 
inhibitors. Our translational biology program supports the development of plogosertib in solid tumor and hematological 
malignancy indications.  

Clinical development 

Phase 1/2 Study in advanced solid tumors and lymphomas (CYC140-101, orally dosed) 

Similar to fadraciclib, this ongoing open-label Phase 1/2 registration-directed trial uses a streamlined design and 
seeks to first determine in a dose escalation stage the RP2D for single-agent plogosertib. Once RP2D has been 
established, the trial will immediately enter into proof-of-concept, cohort stage, using a Simon 2-stage design. In this 
stage plogosertib will be administered to patients in up to seven mechanistically relevant cohorts including patients with 
bladder, breast, colorectal (including KRAS mutant), hepatocellular and biliary tract, and lung cancers (both small cell 
and non-small cell), as well as lymphomas. An additional basket cohort will enroll patients with biomarkers relevant to 
the drug’s mechanism, including MYC amplified tumors. The protocol allows for expansion of individual cohorts based 
on response which may allow acceleration of the clinical development and registration plan for plogosertib. Fifteen 
patients have been treated at the first five dose escalation levels with no dose limiting toxicities observed. A new oral 
formulation of plogosertib is under development and further patients will be recruited to this study when the new 
formulation becomes available. 

Published preclinical data 

Preclinical data presented at the 2016 28th EORTC-NCI-AACR Molecular Targets and Cancer Therapeutics 
Symposium and at the 2017 Annual Meeting of the American Association of Cancer Research demonstrated the 
therapeutic potential of plogosertib as a targeted anti-cancer agent. The data demonstrated that plogosertib is a selective 
PLK1 inhibitor which is highly active against both solid and liquid cancer models, preferentially induces growth 
inhibition and cell death in malignant versus non-malignant cells. 

Treatment of proliferating cells with plogosertib resulted in reduced phosphorylation of the PLK1 substrate 
phospho-nucleophosmin, accumulation of cells in mitosis and an increase in the proportion of mitotic cells with 
monopolar spindles, which are all features consistent with PLK1 inhibition. In a cell line panel derived from esophageal 
cancer and various non-malignant solid tissues, plogosertib was preferentially cytotoxic to malignant cells. Malignant 
cells which are sensitive to plogosertib undergo complete growth inhibition and induction of cell death in response to 
treatment. In contrast, non-malignant cells are only temporarily arrested and normal cell cycle transit is restored. 

Business Strategy 

We plan to continue to build a diversified biopharmaceutical business focused on hematology and oncology based 
on a pipeline of novel drug candidates and utilizing our area of historical expertise in cancer cell cycle and mitosis 
biological mechanisms. Our clinical development strategy is focused on two ongoing programs in transcriptional 
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regulation and epigenetics/mitosis control biology. We have retained worldwide rights to commercialize fadraciclib and 
plogosertib. 

Focus on the cell cycle and cancer  

Our core area of expertise is in cell cycle biology and our scientists include recognized leaders in this field. In 
addition, our senior management team has extensive experience in research, preclinical and clinical development and 
sales and marketing. The novel, mechanism-targeted cell cycle drugs we are developing are designed to be highly 
selective in comparison to conventional chemotherapies, potentially inducing death in cancer cells while sparing most 
normal cells which may give rise to fewer side-effects. 

Thus, we believe that we are well placed to exploit the significant opportunities that this area offers for new drug 
discovery and development. 

Develop anticancer drug candidates in all phases of the cell cycle and multiple compounds for particular cell cycle 
targets 

Targeting a broad development program focused on multiple phases of the cell cycle allows us to minimize risk 
while maximizing the potential for success, and also to develop products that are complementary to one another. 

Enter into partnering arrangements selectively, while developing our own sales and marketing capability 

We currently retain virtually all marketing rights to the compounds associated with our clinical-stage drug 
programs. To optimize our commercial return, we intend to enter into selected partnering arrangements and to retain co-
promotion rights as appropriate. Generally we plan to develop compounds through the Phase 2 proof-of-efficacy stage 
before seeking a partner. We may enter into partnering arrangements earlier than Phase 2 proof-of-concept trials where 
appropriate, or in connection with drug programs outside our core competency in oncology. 

Licenses 

Some of our programs are based on technology licensed from others. Our breach of an existing license or failure to 
obtain a license to technology required to develop, test and commercialize our products may seriously harm our 
business. In March 2023 we terminated our license agreement with Daiichi Sankyo Co., Ltd. for patents and patent 
applications covering sapacitabine for commercial reasons. 

Patents and Proprietary Technology 

Patents and Proprietary Rights 

We own 14 patents granted in the United States, 5 granted by the European Patent Office, or EPO, and 30 granted in 
other countries worldwide. In addition, we have a license to 11 patents granted in the US, by the EPO or worldwide. 

We have 3 patent applications pending in the United States, 4 before the EPO and 25 pending patent applications in 
other countries. No assurances can be given that any patents will be issued with respect to the pending applications, nor 
that the claims will provide equivalent coverage in all jurisdictions. 

Intellectual Property Strategy 

We consider intellectual property rights to be vital and use a variety of methods to secure, protect and evaluate these 
rights. These methods include ownership and enforcement of patent rights, patent applications, license agreements with 
third parties, invention assignment, confidentiality and non-compete agreements with key employees and consultants, 
material transfer agreements, and trademark protection. 

We give priority to obtaining substance of matter claims in the United States, the EPO, Japan and other important 
markets if such protection is available. We prefer composition of matter claims because they provide us with rights to 
the compounds themselves, and not merely a particular use. In addition to composition of matter claims, we seek 
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coverage for solid state forms, polymorphic and crystalline forms, medical uses, combination therapies, specific 
regimens, pharmaceutical forms of our compounds and synthetic routes where available and appropriate. Claims 
covering combination therapies, specific regimens and pharmaceutical forms can be valuable because the therapeutic 
effect of pharmaceuticals used in the anticancer field is often enhanced when individual therapeutics are used in 
particular combinations or dosed in a certain way. The availability of protection in these areas can, however, vary from 
jurisdiction to jurisdiction and combination claims are particularly difficult to obtain for many inventions. 

Since publications in scientific or patent literature often lag behind actual discoveries, we are not certain of being 
first to make the inventions covered by each of our pending patent applications or the first to file those patent 
applications. Generally, patent applications are maintained in secrecy for a period of 18 months or more, which increases 
the uncertainty we face. Moreover, the patent positions of biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies are highly 
uncertain and involve complex legal and factual questions. As a result, we cannot predict the breadth of claims allowed 
in biotechnology and pharmaceutical patents, or their enforceability. Third parties or competitors may challenge or 
circumvent our patents or patent applications, if issued. Because of the extensive time required for development, testing 
and regulatory review of a potential product, it is possible that before we commercialize any of our products, any related 
patent may expire, or remain in existence for only a short period following commercialization, thus reducing any 
advantage of the patent and the commercial opportunity of the product. 

If patents are issued to others containing valid claims that cover our compounds or their manufacture or use or 
screening assays related thereto, we may be required to obtain licenses to these patents or to develop or obtain alternative 
technology. We are aware of several published patent applications, and understand that others may exist, that could 
support claims that, if granted and held valid, would cover various aspects of our developmental programs, including in 
some cases particular uses of our drug candidates fadraciclib and plogosertib, or other therapeutic candidates, or 
substances, processes and techniques that we use in the course of our research and development and manufacturing 
operations. 

In addition, we understand that other applications and patents exist relating to potential uses of fadraciclib and 
plogosertib which are not part of our current clinical programs for those compounds. Although we intend to continue to 
monitor the pending applications, it is not possible to predict whether these claims will ultimately be allowed or if they 
were allowed what their breadth would be. In addition, we may need to commence litigation to enforce any patents 
issued to us or to determine the scope and validity of third-party proprietary rights. For example, in one case we opposed 
a European patent relating to human aurora kinase and the patent was finally revoked (no appeal was filed). Litigation 
would create substantial costs. We are aware that other patents exist that claim substances, processes, techniques and 
methods of use, which, if held valid, could potentially restrict the scope of our research, development or manufacturing 
operations. If competitors prepare and file patent applications in the United States that claim technology that we also 
claim, we may have to participate in interference proceedings in the United States Patent and Trademark Office to 
determine which invention has priority. These proceedings could result in substantial costs, even if the eventual outcome 
is favorable to us. An adverse outcome in litigation could subject us to significant liabilities to third parties and require 
us to seek licenses of the disputed rights from third parties or to cease using the technology, even a therapeutic product, 
if such licenses are unavailable or too expensive. 

Issued patents for fadraciclib cover the United States, EPO and eleven other countries. Issued patents for plogosertib 
cover the United States, EPO and six other countries. 

Manufacturing 

We have no in-house manufacturing capabilities and have no current plans to establish manufacturing facilities for 
significant clinical or commercial production. We have no direct experience in manufacturing commercial quantities of 
any of our products, and we currently lack the resources or capability to manufacture any of our products on a clinical or 
commercial scale. As a result, we are dependent on corporate partners, licensees or other third parties for the 
manufacturing of clinical (and eventually commercial) scale quantities of all of our products. We believe that this 
strategy will enable us to direct operational and financial resources to the development of our product candidates rather 
than diverting resources to establishing a manufacturing infrastructure. 
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Government Regulation 

The FDA and comparable regulatory agencies in state and local jurisdictions, as well as in foreign countries, impose 
substantial regulatory requirements upon the clinical development, manufacture, marketing and distribution of drugs. 
These agencies and other federal, state and local authorities regulate research and development activities and the testing, 
manufacture, quality control, import, export, safety, efficacy, labeling, packaging, storage, distribution, record keeping, 
approval, advertising, promotion, marketing, post-approval monitoring, and post-approval reporting of drug products, 
such as those we are developing. Along with our third-party contractors, we will be required to navigate the various 
preclinical, clinical and commercial approval requirements of the governing regulatory agencies of the countries in 
which we wish to conduct studies or seek approval or licensure of its current or future product candidates. The process of 
obtaining regulatory approvals and the subsequent compliance with appropriate federal, state, local, and foreign statutes 
and regulations require the expenditure of substantial time and financial resources.  

For example, in the United States, the FDA regulates drugs under the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act and its 
implementing regulations. The process required by the FDA before our drug candidates may be marketed in the United 
States generally involves the following: 

• completion of extensive nonclinical laboratory tests, which may include animal studies and formulation studies, 
all performed in accordance with the FDA’s good laboratory practice, or GLP, regulations; 

• submission to the FDA of an investigational new drug application, or IND, which must become effective before 
clinical trials may begin and must be updated annually or when significant changes are made; 

• approval by an IRB or ethics committee at each clinical site before the trial is initiated at such sites; 

• performance of adequate and well-controlled clinical trials in accordance with good clinical practice, or GCP, 
and other clinical-trial related regulations to establish the safety and efficacy of the drug candidate for each 
proposed indication; 

• preparation and submission of a new drug application, or NDA, to the FDA; 

• a determination by the FDA within 60 days of its receipt of an NDA to file the application for review; 

• satisfactory completion of an FDA Advisory Committee review, if applicable; 

• satisfactory completion of an FDA pre-approval inspection of the manufacturing facilities at which the product 
is produced to assess compliance with current good manufacturing practice requirements, or cGMP, 
regulations; 

• potential audit of selected clinical trial sites to assess compliance with GCP and the integrity of the clinical data 
submitted in support of the NDA; and 

• FDA review and approval of the NDA to permit commercial marketing of the drug product for particular 
approved indications for use in the United States. 

This testing and approval process requires substantial time, effort and financial resources, and we cannot be certain 
that any approvals for our drug candidates will be granted on a timely basis, if at all. 

Preclinical development 

Before testing any drug product candidate, including our product candidates, in humans, the product candidate must 
undergo rigorous preclinical testing. Preclinical and other nonclinical tests generally include laboratory evaluation of 
product chemistry, formulation and stability, as well as studies to evaluate toxicity in animals. The Consolidated 
Appropriations Act for 2023, signed into law on December 29, 2022, (P.L. 117-328) amended the FDCA and the Public 
Health Service Act to specify that nonclinical testing for drugs may, but is not required to, include in vivo animal testing. 
According to the amended language, a sponsor may fulfill nonclinical testing requirements by completing various in 
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vitro assays (e.g., cell-based assays, organ chips, or microphysiological systems), in silico studies (i.e., computer 
modeling), other human or nonhuman biology-based tests (e.g., bioprinting), or in vivo animal tests. The conduct of 
preclinical studies is subject to federal regulations and requirements, including GLP regulations for safety/toxicology 
studies. Some long-term preclinical testing, such as animal tests of reproductive adverse events and carcinogenicity, may 
continue after an IND for an investigational drug candidate is submitted to the FDA and human clinical trials have been 
initiated. 

The results of preclinical tests, together with manufacturing information and analytical data, are submitted as part of 
an IND to the FDA. An IND must become effective before human clinical trials may begin. The IND automatically 
becomes effective 30 days after receipt by the FDA, unless the FDA, within the 30-day time period, issues a notice 
expressly authorizing the proposed trial to proceed or raises concerns or questions about the adequacy or safety of the 
preclinical testing or the proposed conduct of the clinical trial, including concerns that human research subjects will be 
exposed to unreasonable health risks. If FDA raises concerns or places the trial on clinical hold, the IND sponsor and the 
FDA must resolve any outstanding concerns before the clinical trial can begin. Our submission of an IND, or those of 
our collaborators, may therefore not result in FDA authorization to commence a clinical trial. A separate submission to 
an existing IND must also be made for each successive clinical trial conducted during product development. Further, an 
independent institutional review board, or IRB, for each medical center proposing to conduct the clinical trial (or a 
central IRB) must review and approve the plan for any clinical trial before such trial commences at that site and the 
designated IRB must monitor the clinical trial until completed. The FDA or the clinical trial sponsor may suspend a 
clinical trial at any time on various grounds, including a finding that the subjects or patients are being exposed to an 
unacceptable health risk. Clinical testing also must satisfy extensive good clinical practice, or GCP, requirements, 
including those relating to informed consent. 

Clinical Trials 

For purposes of an NDA submission, clinical trials are typically conducted in the following three sequential phases, 
which may overlap: 

• Phase 1: The clinical trials are initially conducted in a limited population to test the drug candidate for safety, 
dose tolerance, absorption, metabolism, distribution and excretion in healthy humans. In the case of some 
products for severe or life-threatening diseases, such as cancer, especially when the product may be too 
inherently toxic to ethically administer to healthy volunteers, the initial human testing is often conducted in 
patients. Phase 1 clinical trials can be designed to evaluate the impact of the drug candidate in combination with 
currently approved drugs. 

• Phase 2: These clinical trials are generally conducted in a limited patient population to identify possible 
adverse effects and safety risks, to evaluate preliminary efficacy of the drug candidate for specific targeted 
indications and to determine dose tolerance and optimal dosage. Multiple Phase 2 clinical trials may be 
conducted by the sponsor to obtain information prior to beginning larger and more expensive Phase 3 clinical 
trial. 

• Phase 3: These clinical trials are commonly referred to as pivotal clinical trials. If the Phase 2 clinical trials 
demonstrate that a dose range of the drug candidate is effective and has an acceptable safety profile, Phase 3 
clinical trials are then undertaken in large patient populations to further evaluate dosage, to provide substantial 
evidence of clinical efficacy and to further test for safety in an expanded and diverse patient population at 
multiple, geographically dispersed clinical trial sites. These trials are intended to establish the overall risk-
benefit ratio of the product candidate and provide, if appropriate, an adequate basis for product labeling. 
Phase 3 trials typically include comparisons with placebo and/or other comparator treatments. The duration of 
treatment is often extended to mimic the actual use of a product during marketing. 

In some cases, the FDA may condition approval of an NDA for a drug candidate on the sponsor’s agreement to 
conduct a Phase 4, which includes additional clinical trials to further assess the drug’s safety and effectiveness after 
NDA approval. 
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In the Consolidated Appropriations Act for 2023, Congress amended the FDCA to require sponsors of a Phase 3 
clinical trial, or other “pivotal study” of a new drug to support marketing authorization, to submit a diversity action plan 
for such clinical trial. The action plan must include the sponsor’s diversity goals for enrollment, as well as a rationale for 
the goals and a description of how the sponsor will meet them. A sponsor must submit a diversity action plan to FDA by 
the time the sponsor submits the trial protocol to the agency for review. The FDA may grant a waiver for some or all of 
the requirements for a diversity action plan. It is unknown at this time how the diversity action plan may affect Phase 3 
trial planning and timing or what specific information FDA will expect in such plans, but if FDA objects to a sponsor’s 
diversity action plan and requires the sponsor to amend the plan or take other actions, it may delay trial initiation. 

Progress reports detailing the results of the clinical trials must be submitted at least annually to the FDA and more 
frequently if unexpected serious adverse events, or SAEs, occur. The FDA or the sponsor may suspend or terminate a 
clinical trial at any time on various grounds, including a finding that the research subjects or patients are being exposed 
to an unacceptable health risk. Similarly, an IRB can suspend or terminate approval of a clinical trial at its institution if 
the clinical trial is not being conducted in accordance with the clinical protocol, GCP, or other IRB requirements or if the 
drug has been associated with unexpected serious harm to patients.  

NDA Submission and Review by the FDA 

Assuming successful completion of all required testing in accordance with all applicable regulatory requirements, 
the results of product development, preclinical studies and clinical trials are submitted to the FDA as part of an NDA 
requesting approval to market the product for one or more indications. The NDA must contain proof of the product 
candidate’s safety and substantial evidence of effectiveness for its proposed indication or indications in the form of 
relevant data available from pertinent preclinical and clinical studies, including negative or ambiguous results as well as 
positive findings, together with detailed information relating to the product’s chemistry, manufacturing, controls, and 
proposed labeling, among other things. In particular, a marketing application must demonstrate that the manufacturing 
methods and quality controls used to produce the drug product are adequate to preserve the drug’s identity, strength, 
quality, and purity. Data can come from company-sponsored clinical studies intended to test the safety and effectiveness 
of a use of the product, or from a number of alternative sources, including studies initiated by investigators. FDA 
approval of an NDA must be obtained before the corresponding drug may be marketed in the United States. 

The FDA reviews all NDAs submitted to determine if they are substantially complete before it accepts them for 
filing and may request additional information rather than accepting a submission for filing. The FDA must make a 
decision on accepting an NDA for filing within 60 days of receipt and must inform the sponsor by the 74th day after the 
FDA’s receipt of the submission whether the application is sufficiently complete to permit substantive review. The FDA 
may refuse to file any submission that it deems incomplete or not properly reviewable at the time of submission and may 
request additional information. In this event, the marketing application must be resubmitted with the additional 
information requested by the agency. The resubmitted application is also subject to review before the FDA accepts it for 
filing. 

During the review process, the FDA reviews the NDA to determine, among other things, whether the product is safe 
and effective and whether the facility in which it is manufactured, processed, packed, or held meets standards designed 
to assure the product’s continued strength, quality, and purity. The FDA may refer any NDA, including applications for 
novel drug candidates which present difficult questions of safety or efficacy to an advisory committee to provide clinical 
insight on application review questions. Typically, an advisory committee is a panel of independent experts, including 
clinicians and other scientific experts that reviews, evaluates and provides a recommendation as to whether the 
application should be approved and under what conditions. The FDA is not bound by the recommendation of an advisory 
committee, but it considers such recommendations carefully when making final decisions on approval. 

Under the Pediatric Research Equity Act, or PREA, amendments to the FDCA, an NDA or supplement to an NDA 
must contain data that are adequate to assess the safety and efficacy of the product candidate for the claimed indications 
in all relevant pediatric populations and to support dosing and administration for each pediatric population for which the 
product is safe and effective. The FDA may grant deferrals for submission of pediatric data or full or partial waivers. 
The PREA requires a sponsor that is planning to submit a marketing application for a product that includes a new active 
ingredient, new indication, new dosage form, new dosing regimen or new route of administration to submit an initial 
Pediatric Study Plan, or PSP, within sixty days of an end-of-Phase 2 meeting or, if there is no such meeting, as early as 
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practicable before the initiation of the Phase 3 or Phase 2/3 clinical trial. The initial PSP must include an outline of the 
pediatric study or studies that the sponsor plans to conduct, including trial objectives and design, age groups, relevant 
endpoints and statistical approach, or a justification for not including such detailed information, and any request for a 
deferral of pediatric assessments or a full or partial waiver of the requirement to provide data from pediatric studies 
along with supporting information. The FDA and the sponsor must reach an agreement on the PSP. A sponsor can 
submit amendments to an agreed upon initial PSP at any time if changes to the pediatric plan need to be considered 
based on data collected from pre-clinical studies, early-phase clinical trials or other clinical development programs.  

If regulatory approval of a product is granted, such approval is limited to the conditions of use (e.g., patient 
population, indication) described in the application and may entail further limitations on the indicated uses for which 
such product may be marketed. For example, the FDA may approve the NDA with a Risk Evaluation and Mitigation 
Strategy, or REMS, plan to mitigate risks, which could include medication guides, physician communication plans, or 
elements to assure safe use, such as restricted distribution methods, patient registries and other risk minimization tools. 
The FDA determines the requirement for a REMS, as well as the specific REMS provisions, on a case-by-case basis. If 
the FDA concludes a REMS plan is needed, the sponsor of the NDA must submit a proposed REMS. The FDA will not 
approve an NDA without a REMS, if one is required. The FDA also may condition approval on, among other things, 
changes to proposed labeling (e.g., adding contraindications, warnings or precautions) or the development of adequate 
controls and specifications. Once approved, the FDA may withdraw the product approval if compliance with pre- and 
post-marketing regulatory standards is not maintained or if problems occur after the product reaches the marketplace. 
The FDA may require one or more Phase 4 post-market studies and surveillance to further assess and monitor the 
product’s safety and effectiveness after commercialization and may limit further marketing of the product based on the 
results of these post-marketing studies. After approval, some types of changes to the approved product, such as adding 
new indications, manufacturing changes and additional labeling claims, are subject to further testing requirements and 
FDA review and approval. In addition, new government requirements, including those resulting from new legislation, 
may be established, or the FDA’s policies may change, which could delay or prevent regulatory approval of our products 
under development. 

Fast Track, Priority Review, and Breakthrough Therapy Designations 

A sponsor may seek approval of its product candidate under programs designed to accelerate FDA’s review and 
approval of new drugs and biological products that meet certain criteria. Specifically, new drugs and biological products 
are eligible for fast track designation if they are intended to treat a serious or life-threatening condition and demonstrate 
the potential to address unmet medical needs for the condition. Fast track designation provides increased opportunities 
for sponsor interactions with the FDA during preclinical and clinical development, in addition to the potential for rolling 
review once a marketing application is filed, meaning that the FDA may consider for review sections of the NDA or 
BLA on a rolling basis before the complete application is submitted, if the sponsor provides a schedule for the 
submission of the sections of the application, the FDA agrees to accept the sections and determines that the schedule is 
acceptable, and the sponsor pays any required user fees upon submission of the first section of the application. A fast 
track designated product candidate may also qualify for accelerated approval (described below) or priority review, under 
which the FDA sets the target date for FDA action on the NDA or BLA at six months after the FDA accepts the 
application for filing. 

Priority review is granted when there is evidence that the proposed product would be a significant improvement in 
the safety or effectiveness of the treatment, diagnosis, or prevention of a serious condition. Significant improvement may 
be illustrated by evidence of increased effectiveness in the treatment of a condition, elimination or substantial reduction 
of a treatment-limiting drug reaction, documented enhancement of patient compliance that may lead to improvement in 
serious outcomes, or evidence of safety and effectiveness in a new subpopulation. If criteria are not met for priority 
review, the application is subject to the standard FDA review period of 10 months after FDA accepts the application for 
filing. 

In addition, a sponsor may seek FDA designation of its product candidate as a breakthrough therapy if the product 
candidate is intended, alone or in combination with one or more other drugs or biologics, to treat a serious or life-
threatening disease or condition and preliminary clinical evidence indicates that the therapy may demonstrate substantial 
improvement over existing therapies on one or more clinically significant endpoints, such as substantial treatment effects 
observed early in clinical development. Breakthrough therapy designation provides all the features of fast track 
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designation in addition to intensive guidance on an efficient development program beginning as early as Phase 1, and 
FDA organizational commitment to expedited development, including involvement of senior managers and experienced 
review and regulatory staff in a proactive, collaborative, cross-disciplinary review, where appropriate. A drug designated 
as breakthrough therapy is also eligible for accelerated approval if the relevant criteria are met. 

Even if a product qualifies for one or more of these programs, the FDA may later decide that the product no longer 
meets the conditions for qualification or decide that the time period for FDA review or approval will not be shortened. 
fast track, priority review and breakthrough therapy designations do not change the scientific or medical standards for 
approval or the quality of evidence necessary to support approval but may expedite the development or approval 
process.  

Accelerated Approval 

In addition, products studied for their safety and effectiveness in treating serious or life-threatening illnesses and 
that provide meaningful therapeutic benefit over existing treatments may receive accelerated approval from the FDA and 
may be approved on the basis of adequate and well-controlled clinical trials establishing that the drug product has an 
effect on a surrogate endpoint that is reasonably likely to predict clinical benefit. The FDA may also grant accelerated 
approval for such a drug or biologic when it has an effect on an intermediate clinical endpoint that can be measured 
earlier than an effect on irreversible morbidity or mortality, or IMM, and that is reasonably likely to predict an effect on 
IMM or other clinical benefit, taking into account the severity, rarity, or prevalence of the condition and the availability 
or lack of alternative treatments. As a condition of approval, the FDA may require that a sponsor of a drug or biologic 
receiving accelerated approval perform post-marketing clinical trials to verify and describe the predicted effect on IMM 
or other clinical endpoint, and the product may be subject to expedited withdrawal procedures. Drugs and biologics 
granted accelerated approval must meet the same statutory standards for safety and effectiveness as those granted 
traditional approval. 

The accelerated approval pathway is usually contingent on a sponsor’s agreement to conduct, in a diligent manner, 
additional post-approval confirmatory studies to verify and describe the product candidate’s clinical benefit. As a result, 
a product candidate approved on this basis is subject to rigorous post-marketing compliance requirements, including the 
completion of Phase 4 or post-approval clinical trials to confirm the effect on the clinical endpoint. Failure to conduct 
required post-approval studies, or to confirm the predicted clinical benefit of the product during post-marketing studies, 
would allow the FDA to withdraw approval of the product. As part of the Consolidated Appropriations Act for 2023, 
Congress provided FDA additional statutory authority to mitigate potential risks to patients from continued marketing of 
ineffective drugs or biologics previously granted accelerated approval. Under the act’s amendments to the FDCA, FDA 
may require the sponsor of a product granted accelerated approval to have a confirmatory trial underway prior to 
approval. The sponsor must also submit progress reports on a confirmatory trial every six months until the trial is 
complete, and such reports are published on FDA’s website. The amendments also give FDA the option of using 
expedited procedures to withdraw product approval if the sponsor’s confirmatory trial fails to verify the claimed clinical 
benefits of the product. 

All promotional materials for product candidates being considered and approved under the accelerated approval 
program are subject to prior review by the FDA. 

Special Protocol Assessment 

If a Phase 2 clinical trial is the subject of discussion at an end-of-Phase 2 meeting with the FDA, a sponsor may be 
able to request a Special Protocol Assessment, or SPA, the purpose of which is to reach agreement with the FDA on the 
design of the Phase 3 clinical trial protocol design and analysis that will form the primary basis of an efficacy claim. If 
such an agreement is reached, it will be documented and made part of the administrative record, and it will be binding on 
the FDA and may not be changed unless the sponsor fails to follow the agreed-upon protocol, data supporting the request 
are found to be false or incomplete, or the FDA determines that a substantial scientific issue essential to determining the 
safety or effectiveness of the drug was identified after the testing began. Even if an SPA is agreed to, approval of the 
NDA is not guaranteed because a final determination that an agreed-upon protocol satisfies a specific objective, such as 
the demonstration of efficacy, or supports an approval decision, will be based on a complete review of all the data in the 
NDA. 
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Orphan Drugs 

Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may grant orphan drug designation to a drug intended to treat a rare disease or 
condition, defined as a disease or condition with a patient population of fewer than 200,000 individuals in the United 
States, or a patient population greater than 200,000 individuals in the United States and when there is no reasonable 
expectation that the cost of developing and making available the drug in the United States will be recovered from sales 
in the United States for that drug. Orphan drug designation must be requested before submitting a marketing application. 
After the FDA grants orphan drug designation, the generic identity of the therapeutic agent and its potential orphan use 
are disclosed publicly by the FDA.  

If a drug product that has orphan drug designation subsequently receives the first FDA approval for a particular 
active ingredient for the disease for which it has such designation, the product is entitled to orphan product exclusivity, 
which means that the FDA may not approve any other applications, including a full NDA, to market the same drug for 
the same indication for seven years, except in limited circumstances, such as a showing of clinical superiority to the 
product with orphan product exclusivity or if FDA finds that the holder of the orphan product exclusivity has not shown 
that it can assure the availability of sufficient quantities of the orphan product to meet the needs of patients with the 
disease or condition for which the drug was designated. Orphan product exclusivity does not prevent the FDA from 
approving a different drug for the same disease or condition, or the same drug for a different disease or condition. 
Among the other benefits of orphan drug designation are tax credits for certain research and a waiver of the NDA 
application user fee. 

Patent term restoration 

Depending upon the timing, duration and specifics of FDA approval of the use of our product candidates, some of 
our United States patents may be eligible for limited patent term extension under the Hatch-Waxman Act. The Hatch-
Waxman Act permits a patent restoration term of up to five years as compensation for patent term lost during product 
development and the FDA regulatory review process. However, patent term restoration cannot extend the remaining 
term of a patent beyond a total of 14 years from the product candidate’s approval date. The patent term restoration period 
is generally one half of the time between the effective date of an IND and the submission date of an NDA, plus the time 
between the submission date of the NDA and the approval of that application, except that the review period is reduced 
by any time during which the applicant failed to exercise due diligence. Only one patent applicable to an approved 
product candidate is eligible for the extension and the application for extension must be made prior to expiration of the 
patent. The USPTO, in consultation with the FDA, reviews and approves the application for any patent term extension or 
restoration. In the future, we intend to apply for restorations of patent term for some of our currently owned or licensed 
patents to add patent life beyond their current expiration date, depending on the expected length of clinical trials and and 
other factors involved in the submission of the relevant NDA. 

Post-approval requirements 

Following approval of a new product, the manufacturer and the approved product are subject to pervasive and 
continuing regulation by the FDA, including, among other things, monitoring and recordkeeping activities, reporting of 
adverse experiences with the product, product sampling and distribution restrictions, complying with promotion and 
advertising requirements, which include restrictions on promoting drugs for unapproved uses or patient populations (i.e., 
“off-label use”) and limitations on industry-sponsored scientific and educational activities. The manufacturer and its 
products are also subject to similar post-approval requirements by regulatory authorities comparable to FDA in 
jurisdictions outside of the United States where the products are approved. Although physicians may prescribe legally 
available products for off-label uses, manufacturers may not market or promote such uses. 

FDA regulations require that products be manufactured in specific approved facilities and in accordance with 
cGMPs. The cGMP regulations include requirements relating to organization of personnel, buildings and facilities, 
equipment, control of components and drug product containers and closures, production and process controls, packaging 
and labeling controls, holding and distribution, laboratory controls, records and reports and returned or salvaged 
products. The manufacturing facilities for our product candidates must meet applicable cGMP requirements to the FDA's 
or comparable foreign regulatory authorities' satisfaction before any product is approved and our commercial products 
can be manufactured. We rely, and expect to continue to rely, on third parties for the production of clinical (and 
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ultimately commercial) quantities of our products in accordance with cGMP regulations. These manufacturers must 
comply with cGMP regulations that require, among other things, quality control and quality assurance, the maintenance 
of records and documentation and the obligation to investigate and correct any deviations from cGMP. Manufacturers 
and other entities involved in the manufacture and distribution of approved drugs are required to register their 
establishments with the FDA and certain state agencies and are subject to periodic prescheduled or unannounced 
inspections by the FDA and certain state agencies for compliance with cGMP and other laws. Accordingly, 
manufacturers must continue to expend time, money and effort in the area of production and quality control to maintain 
cGMP compliance. Future inspections by the FDA and other regulatory agencies may identify compliance issues at the 
facilities of our CMOs that may disrupt production or distribution or require substantial resources to correct. In addition, 
the discovery of conditions that violate these rules, including failure to conform to cGMPs, could result in enforcement 
actions, and the discovery of problems with a product after approval may result in restrictions on a product, 
manufacturer or holder of an approved NDA, including voluntary recall and regulatory sanctions as described below.  

Once an approval or clearance of a drug is granted, the FDA may withdraw the approval if compliance with 
regulatory requirements and standards is not maintained or if problems occur after the product reaches the market. Later 
discovery of previously unknown problems with a product, including adverse events of unanticipated severity or 
frequency, or with manufacturing processes, or failure to comply with regulatory requirements, may result in mandatory 
revisions to the approved labeling to add new safety information; imposition of post-market or clinical trials to assess 
new safety risks; or imposition of distribution or other restrictions under a REMS program. Other potential consequences 
include, among other things: 

• restrictions on the marketing or manufacturing of the product, complete withdrawal of the product from the 
market or product recalls; 

• fines, warning letters or other enforcement-related letters or clinical holds on post-approval clinical trials; 

• refusal of the FDA to approve pending marketing applications or supplements to approved marketing 
authorizations, or suspension or revocation of product approvals; 

• product seizure or detention, or refusal to permit the import or export of products; 

• injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties; and 

• consent decrees, corporate integrity agreements, debarment, or exclusion from federal health care programs; or 
mandated modification of promotional materials and labeling and the issuance of corrective information. 

In addition, the distribution of prescription pharmaceutical products is subject to the Prescription Drug Marketing 
Act, or PDMA, which regulates the distribution of drugs and drug samples at the federal level and sets minimum 
standards for the registration and regulation of drug distributors by the states. Both the PDMA and state laws limit the 
distribution of prescription pharmaceutical product samples and impose requirements to ensure accountability in 
distribution. Most recently, the Drug Supply Chain Security Act, or DSCSA, was enacted with the aim of building an 
electronic system to identify and trace certain prescription drugs distributed in the United States. The DSCSA mandates 
phased-in and resource-intensive obligations for pharmaceutical manufacturers, wholesale distributors, and dispensers 
over a 10-year period that is expected to culminate in November 2023. From time to time, new legislation and 
regulations may be implemented that could significantly change the statutory provisions governing the approval, 
manufacturing and marketing of products regulated by the FDA. It is impossible to predict whether further legislative or 
regulatory changes will be enacted, whether FDA regulations, guidance or interpretations will be changed or what the 
impact of such changes, if any, may be. 

Other U.S. health care laws and regulations 

The majority of states also have statutes or regulations similar to the aforementioned federal laws, some of which 
are broader in scope and apply to items and services reimbursed under Medicaid and other state programs, or, in several 
states, apply regardless of the payor. Some state laws require pharmaceutical companies to comply with the 
pharmaceutical industry’s voluntary compliance guidelines, or the relevant compliance guidance promulgated by the 
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federal government, in addition to requiring drug manufacturers to report information related to payments to physicians 
and other health care providers or marketing expenditures to the extent that those laws impose requirements that are 
more stringent than the Physician Payments Sunshine Act. State and foreign laws also govern the privacy and security of 
health information in some circumstances, many of which differ from each other in significant ways and often are not 
preempted by HIPAA, thus complicating compliance efforts.  

Because of the breadth of these laws and the narrowness of their exceptions and safe harbors, it is possible that 
business activities can be subject to challenge under one or more of such laws. The scope and enforcement of each of 
these laws is uncertain and subject to rapid change in the current environment of healthcare reform, especially in light of 
the lack of applicable precedent and regulations. Federal and state enforcement bodies have recently increased their 
scrutiny of interactions between healthcare companies and healthcare providers, which has led to a number of 
investigations, prosecutions, convictions and settlements in the healthcare industry. 

Ensuring that business arrangements with third parties comply with applicable healthcare laws and regulations is 
costly and time consuming. If business operations are found to be in violation of any of the laws described above or any 
other applicable governmental regulations a pharmaceutical manufacturer may be subject to penalties, including civil, 
criminal and administrative penalties, damages, fines, disgorgement, individual imprisonment, exclusion from 
governmental funded healthcare programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid, contractual damages, reputational harm, 
diminished profits and future earnings, additional reporting obligations and oversight if subject to a corporate integrity 
agreement or other agreement to resolve allegations of non-compliance with these laws, and curtailment or restructuring 
of operations, any of which could adversely affect a pharmaceutical manufacturer’s ability to operate its business and the 
results of its operations. 

Regulation outside of the United States 

In addition to regulations in the United States, we will be subject to a variety of foreign regulations governing 
clinical trials and commercial sales and distribution of our products outside of the United States. Whether or not we 
obtain FDA approval for a product candidate, we must obtain approval by the comparable regulatory authorities of 
foreign countries or economic areas, such as the 28-member European Union, before we may commence clinical trials or 
market products in those countries or areas. The approval process and requirements governing the conduct of clinical 
trials, product licensing, pricing and reimbursement vary greatly between countries and jurisdictions and can involve 
additional testing and additional administrative review periods. The time required to obtain approval in other countries 
and jurisdictions might differ from and be longer than that required to obtain FDA approval. Regulatory approval in one 
country or jurisdiction does not ensure regulatory approval in another, but a failure or delay in obtaining regulatory 
approval in one country or jurisdiction may negatively impact the regulatory process in others. 

European Union drug development, review and approval 

In the European Union, our product candidates also may be subject to extensive regulatory requirements. As in the 
United States, medicinal products can be marketed only if a marketing authorization from the competent regulatory 
agencies has been obtained. Similar to the United States, the various phases of pre-clinical and clinical research in the 
European Union are subject to significant regulatory controls. 

The Clinical Trials Directive 2001/20/EC, the Directive 2005/28/EC on GCP, and the related national implementing 
provisions of the individual EU Member States govern the system for the approval of clinical trials in the European 
Union. Under this system, an applicant must obtain prior approval from the competent national authority of the EU 
Member States in which the clinical trial is to be conducted. Furthermore, the applicant may only start a clinical trial at a 
specific study site after the competent ethics committee has issued a favorable opinion. The clinical trial application 
must be accompanied by, among other documents, an IMPD (the Common Technical Document) with supporting 
information prescribed by Directive 2001/20/EC, Directive 2005/28/EC, and where relevant the implementing national 
provisions of the individual EU Member States and further detailed in applicable guidance documents. All suspected 
unexpected serious adverse reactions to the investigated drug that occur during the clinical trial have to be reported to the 
competent national authority and the Ethics Committee of the Member State where they occurred.  
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Under the EU’s new Clinical Trials Regulation, which took effect in January 2022, there will be a centralized 
application procedure where one EU Member State’s competent authority takes the lead in reviewing part I of the 
application, which contains scientific and medicinal product documentation, and the other national authorities only have 
limited involvement. Part II, which contains the national and patient-level documentation, will be assessed individually 
by each EU Member State. Strict deadlines have been established for the assessment of clinical trial applications. The 
role of the relevant ethics committees in the assessment procedure will continue to be governed by the national law of 
the concerned EU Member State. Any substantial changes to the trial protocol or other information submitted with the 
CTA must be notified to or approved by the relevant competent authorities and ethics committees. Medicines used in 
clinical trials must be manufactured in accordance with good manufacturing practices. Other national and EU-wide 
regulatory requirements may also apply. Currently, the extent to which clinical trials will be governed by the Clinical 
Trials Regulation will depend on when the clinical trial is initiated or on the duration of an ongoing trial. As of 
January 2023, all new clinical trials must comply with the Clinical Trials Regulation. In addition, any clinical trial that 
was already under way as of January 1, 2023 and continues for more than three years from the day on which the Clinical 
Trials Regulation becomes applicable (i.e., January 31, 2025), the Clinical Trials Regulation will at that time begin to 
apply to the clinical trial. 

To obtain a marketing authorization of a drug in the European Union, we may submit marketing authorization 
applications, or MAA, either under the so-called centralized or national authorization procedures. 

Centralized procedure 

The centralized procedure provides for the grant of a single marketing authorization following a favorable opinion 
by the European Medicines Agency, or EMA, that is valid in all EU member states, as well as Iceland, Liechtenstein and 
Norway. The centralized procedure is compulsory for medicines produced by specified biotechnological processes, 
products designated as orphan medicinal products, advanced-therapy medicines (such as gene-therapy, somatic cell-
therapy or tissue-engineered medicines) and products with a new active substance indicated for the treatment of 
specified diseases, such as HIV/AIDS, cancer, diabetes, neurodegenerative disorders or autoimmune diseases and other 
immune dysfunctions and viral diseases. The centralized procedure is optional for products that represent a significant 
therapeutic, scientific or technical innovation, or whose authorization would be in the interest of public health. Under the 
centralized procedure the maximum timeframe for the evaluation of an MAA by the EMA is 210 days, excluding clock 
stops, when additional written or oral information is to be provided by the applicant in response to questions asked by 
the Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use, or the CHMP. Accelerated assessment might be granted by the 
CHMP in exceptional cases, when a medicinal product is expected to be of a major public health interest, particularly 
from the point of view of therapeutic innovation. The timeframe for the evaluation of an MAA under the accelerated 
assessment procedure is of 150 days, excluding stop-clocks. 

National authorization procedures 

There are also two other possible routes to authorize medicinal products in several EU countries, which are available 
for investigational medicinal products that fall outside the scope of the centralized procedure: 

• Decentralized procedure. Using the decentralized procedure, an applicant may apply for simultaneous 
authorization in more than one EU country of medicinal products that have not yet been authorized in any EU 
country and that do not fall within the mandatory scope of the centralized procedure. 

• Mutual recognition procedure. In the mutual recognition procedure, a medicine is first authorized in one EU 
Member State, in accordance with the national procedures of that country. Following this, further marketing 
authorizations can be sought from other EU countries in a procedure whereby the countries concerned agree to 
recognize the validity of the original, national marketing authorization. 

Under the above described procedures, before granting the marketing authorization, the EMA or the competent 
authorities of the Member States of the EEA make an assessment of the risk-benefit balance of the product on the basis 
of scientific criteria concerning its quality, safety and efficacy.  
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Conditional approval 

In specific circumstances, E.U. legislation (Article 14(7) Regulation (EC) No 726/2004 and Regulation (EC) No 
507/2006 on Conditional Marketing Authorizations for Medicinal Products for Human Use) enables applicants to obtain 
a conditional marketing authorization prior to obtaining the comprehensive clinical data required for an application for a 
full marketing authorization. Such conditional approvals may be granted for product candidates (including medicines 
designated as orphan medicinal products) if (1) the risk-benefit balance of the product candidate is positive, (2) it is 
likely that the applicant will be in a position to provide the required comprehensive clinical trial data, (3) the product 
fulfills unmet medical needs and (4) the benefit to public health of the immediate availability on the market of the 
medicinal product concerned outweighs the risk inherent in the fact that additional data are still required. A conditional 
marketing authorization may contain specific obligations to be fulfilled by the marketing authorization holder, including 
obligations with respect to the completion of ongoing or new studies, and with respect to the collection of 
pharmacovigilance data. Conditional marketing authorizations are valid for one year, and may be renewed annually, if 
the risk-benefit balance remains positive, and after an assessment of the need for additional or modified conditions or 
specific obligations. The timelines for the centralized procedure described above also apply with respect to the review by 
the CHMP of applications for a conditional marketing authorization. 

European Union regulatory exclusivity 

In the European Union, new products authorized for marketing (i.e., reference products) qualify for eight years of 
data exclusivity and an additional two years of market exclusivity upon marketing authorization. The data exclusivity 
period prevents generic or biosimilar applicants from relying on the pre-clinical and clinical trial data contained in the 
dossier of the reference product when applying for a generic or biosimilar marketing authorization in the European 
Union during a period of eight years from the date on which the reference product was first authorized in the European 
Union. The market exclusivity period prevents a successful generic or biosimilar applicant from commercializing its 
product in the EU until ten years have elapsed from the initial authorization of the reference product in the EU. The ten-
year market exclusivity period can be extended to a maximum of eleven years if, during the first eight years of those ten 
years, the marketing authorization holder obtains an authorization for one or more new therapeutic indications which, 
during the scientific evaluation prior to their authorization, are held to bring a significant clinical benefit in comparison 
with existing therapies. 

European Union orphan designation and exclusivity 

The criteria for designating an orphan medicinal product in the European Union, are similar in principle to those in 
the United States. Under Article 3 of Regulation (EC) 141/2000, a medicinal product may be designated as orphan if 
(1) it is intended for the diagnosis, prevention or treatment of a life-threatening or chronically debilitating condition; 
(2) either (a) such condition affects no more than five in 10,000 persons in the European Union when the application is 
made, or (b) the product, without the benefits derived from orphan status, would not generate sufficient return in the 
European Union to justify investment; and (3) there exists no satisfactory method of diagnosis, prevention or treatment 
of such condition authorized for marketing in the European Union, or if such a method exists, the product will be of 
significant benefit to those affected by the condition, as defined in Regulation (EC) 847/2000. Orphan medicinal 
products are eligible for financial incentives such as reduction of fees or fee waivers and are, upon grant of a marketing 
authorization, entitled to ten years of market exclusivity for the approved therapeutic indication. The application for 
orphan designation must be submitted before the application for marketing authorization. The applicant will receive a fee 
reduction for the marketing authorization application if the orphan designation has been granted, but not if the 
designation is still pending at the time the marketing authorization is submitted. Orphan designation does not convey any 
advantage in, or shorten the duration of, the regulatory review and approval process. 

The ten-year market exclusivity in the European Union may be reduced to six years if, at the end of the fifth year, it 
is established that the product no longer meets the criteria for orphan designation, for example, if the product is 
sufficiently profitable not to justify maintenance of market exclusivity. Additionally, marketing authorization may be 
granted to a similar product for the same indication at any time if: 

• the second applicant can establish that its product, although similar, is safer, more effective or otherwise 
clinically superior; 
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• the applicant consents to a second orphan medicinal product application; or 

• the applicant cannot supply enough orphan medicinal product. 

PRIME designation 

The EMA grants access to the Priority Medicines, or PRIME, program to investigational medicines for which it 
determines there to be preliminary data available showing the potential to address an unmet medical need and bring a 
major therapeutic advantage to patients. As part of the program, the EMA provides early and enhanced dialogue and 
support to optimize the development of eligible medicines and speed up their evaluation, aiming to bring promising 
treatments to patients sooner. 

Periods of authorization and renewals 

A marketing authorization is valid for five years in principle and the marketing authorization may be renewed after 
five years on the basis of a re-evaluation of the risk-benefit balance by the EMA or by the competent authority of the 
authorizing member state. To this end, the marketing authorization holder must provide the EMA or the competent 
authority with a consolidated version of the file in respect of quality, safety and efficacy, including all variations 
introduced since the marketing authorization was granted, at least six months before the marketing authorization ceases 
to be valid. Once renewed, the marketing authorization is valid for an unlimited period, unless the European 
Commission or the competent authority decides, on justified grounds relating to pharmacovigilance, to proceed with one 
additional five-year renewal. Any authorization which is not followed by the actual placing of the drug on the E.U. 
market (in case of centralized procedure) or on the market of the authorizing member state within three years after 
authorization ceases to be valid (the so-called sunset clause). 

Health Care Reform 
 

The FDA’s and other regulatory authorities’ policies may change, and additional government regulations may be 
enacted that could prevent, limit or delay regulatory approval of our product candidates. For example, Congress must 
reauthorize the FDA’s user fee programs every five years and often makes changes to those programs in addition to 
policy or procedural changes that may be negotiated between the FDA and industry stakeholders as part of this periodic 
reauthorization process. Congress most recently reauthorized the user fee programs in September 2022 but without any 
substantive policy changes. If we are slow or unable to adapt to changes in existing requirements or the adoption of new 
requirements or policies, or if we are not able to maintain regulatory compliance, we may lose any marketing approval 
that we otherwise may have obtained and we may not achieve or sustain profitability, which would adversely affect our 
business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations. 

As previously mentioned, the primary trend in the U.S. health care industry and elsewhere is cost containment. 
Government authorities and other third-party payors have attempted to control costs by limiting coverage and the 
amount of reimbursement for particular medical products and services, implementing reductions in Medicare and other 
health care funding and applying new payment methodologies. For example, the ACA, among other things, increased the 
minimum Medicaid rebates owed by most manufacturers under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program; extended the 
Medicaid Drug Rebate Program to utilization of prescriptions of individuals enrolled in Medicaid managed care plans; 
imposed mandatory discounts for certain Medicare Part D beneficiaries as a condition for manufacturers’ outpatient 
drugs coverage under Medicare Part D; and established a Center for Medicare Innovation at the U.S. Centers for 
Medicare and Medicaid Services, or CMS, to test innovative payment and service delivery models to lower Medicare 
and Medicaid spending. 

We expect that future changes or additions to the ACA, the Medicare and Medicaid programs and changes 
stemming from other healthcare reform measures, especially with regard to healthcare access, financing or other 
legislation in individual states, could have a material adverse effect on the health care industry in the United States.  

In addition, other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted in the United States since the ACA that affect 
health care expenditures. These changes include aggregate reductions to Medicare payments to providers of up to 2% per 
fiscal year pursuant to the Budget Control Act of 2011, which began in 2013 and was extended by the Consolidated 
Appropriations Act for 2023, and will remain in effect through 2032 unless additional Congressional action is taken. 
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Moreover, there has been heightened governmental scrutiny over the manner in which manufacturers set prices for 
their marketed products, which has resulted in several Congressional inquiries and proposed and enacted federal and 
state legislation designed to, among other things, bring more transparency to product pricing, review the relationship 
between pricing and manufacturer patient programs, and reform government program reimbursement methodologies for 
drug products. Notably, on December 20, 2019, the Further Consolidated Appropriations Act for 2020 was signed into 
law (P.L. 116-94) that includes a piece of bipartisan legislation called the Creating and Restoring Equal Access to 
Equivalent Samples Act of 2019 (the CREATES Act). The CREATES Act aims to address the concern articulated by 
both the FDA and others in the industry that some brand manufacturers have improperly restricted the distribution of 
their products, including by invoking the existence of a REMS for certain products, to deny generic and biosimilar 
product developers access to samples of brand products. Because generic and biosimilar product developers need 
samples to conduct certain comparative testing required by the FDA, some have attributed the inability to timely obtain 
samples as a cause of delay in the entry of generic and biosimilar products. To remedy this concern, the CREATES Act 
establishes a private cause of action that permits a generic or biosimilar product developer to sue the brand manufacturer 
to compel it to furnish the necessary samples on “commercially reasonable, market-based terms.” Whether and how 
generic and biosimilar product developments will use this new pathway, as well as the likely outcome of any legal 
challenges to provisions of the CREATES Act, remain highly uncertain and its potential effects on our future 
commercial products are unknown. 

In August 2022, the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022, or the IRA, was signed into law. Among other things, the IRA 
has multiple provisions that may impact the prices of drug products that are both sold into the Medicare program and 
throughout the United States. Starting in 2023, a manufacturer of a drug or biological product covered by Medicare Parts 
B or D must pay a rebate to the federal government if the drug product’s price increases faster than the rate of inflation. 
This calculation is made on a drug product by drug product basis and the amount of the rebate owed to the federal 
government is directly dependent on the volume of a drug product that is paid for by Medicare Parts B or D. 
Additionally, starting in payment year 2026, CMS will negotiate drug prices annually for a select number of single 
source Part D drugs without generic or biosimilar competition. CMS will also negotiate drug prices for a select number 
of Part B drugs starting for payment year 2028. If a drug product is selected by CMS for negotiation, it is expected that 
the revenue generated from such drug will decrease. In addition to the IRA’s drug price negotiation provisions, 
Executive Order 14087, issued in October 2022, called for the CMS innovation center to prepare and submit a report to 
the White House on potential payment and delivery modes that would complement to IRA, lower drug costs, and 
promote access to innovative drugs. As of February 3, 2023 the report had not been released but it is expected to further 
inform the current Administration’s priorities and activities in this area. 

At the state level, individual states are increasingly aggressive in passing legislation and implementing regulations 
designed to control pharmaceutical and biological product pricing, including price or patient reimbursement constraints, 
discounts, restrictions on certain product access and marketing cost disclosure and transparency measures, and, in some 
cases, designed to encourage importation from other countries and bulk purchasing. In December 2020, the U.S. 
Supreme Court held unanimously that federal law does not preempt the states’ ability to regulate pharmacy benefit 
managers (PBMs) and other members of the healthcare and pharmaceutical supply chain, an important decision that 
appears to be leading to further and more aggressive efforts by states in this area. The Federal Trade Commission in 
mid-2022 also launched sweeping investigations into the practices of the PBM industry that could lead to additional 
federal and state legislative or regulatory proposals targeting such entities’ operations, pharmacy networks, or financial 
arrangements. Significant efforts to change the PBM industry as it currently exists in the United States may affect the 
entire pharmaceutical supply chain and the business of other stakeholders, including biopharmaceutical developers like 
us. In addition, regional healthcare authorities and individual hospitals are increasingly using bidding procedures to 
determine what pharmaceutical products and which suppliers will be included in their prescription drug and other 
healthcare programs. These measures could reduce the ultimate demand for our products, once approved, or put pressure 
on our product pricing.  

We expect that these and other healthcare reform measures that may be adopted in the future, may result in more 
rigorous coverage criteria and in additional downward pressure on the price that we receive for any approved drug, 
which could have an adverse effect on customers for our product candidates. Any reduction in reimbursement from 
Medicare or other government programs may result in a similar reduction in payments from private payors. 
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There have been, and likely will continue to be, legislative and regulatory proposals at the foreign, federal and state 
levels directed at broadening the availability of healthcare and containing or lowering the cost of healthcare. The 
implementation of cost containment measures or other healthcare reforms may prevent us from being able to generate 
revenue, attain profitability, or commercialize our products. Such reforms could have an adverse effect on anticipated 
revenue from product candidates that we may successfully develop and for which we may obtain regulatory approval 
and may affect our overall financial condition and ability to develop product candidates. 

Competition 

The biotechnology and biopharmaceutical industries are rapidly changing and highly competitive. We are seeking to 
develop and market drug candidates that will compete with other products and therapies that currently exist or are being 
developed. Other companies are actively seeking to develop products that have disease targets similar to those we are 
pursuing. We face competition from many different sources, including commercial, pharmaceutical and biotechnology 
companies, academic institutions, government agencies and private and public research institutions. Many of our 
competitors have significantly greater financial, manufacturing, marketing and drug development resources than we do. 
Smaller or early-stage companies may also prove to be significant competitors, particularly through collaborative 
arrangements with large and established companies. Our commercial opportunity will be reduced or eliminated if our 
competitors develop and commercialize products that are safer, more effective, have fewer side effects or are less 
expensive than any products that we may develop. In addition, competitors compete in the areas of recruiting and 
retaining qualified scientific and management personnel, establishing clinical trial sites and patient registration for 
clinical trials, as well as in acquiring technologies and technology licenses. Some of these factors can delay completion 
of recruitment into our clinical trials. 

A large number of drug candidates are in development for the treatment of leukemia and lymphomas, MDS, 
gastrointestinal, genitourinary, gynecological and thoracic cancers and other advanced solid tumors. Several 
biopharmaceutical companies have CDK inhibitors in clinical trials including Allorion Therapeutics, Amgen, 
AstraZeneca, Blueprint, Carrick, Dainippon Sumitomo, Eli Lilly, G1 Therapeutics, Incyclix Bio, Incyte, Kronos Bio, 
MEI Pharma, Merck, Novartis, Otsuka, Pfizer, Prelude, Servier, Syros, Tiziana and Vincerx. Cardiff Oncology has a 
PLK1 inhibitor in clinical trials and we believe that Arbutus, Boehringer Ingelheim, GlaxoSmithKline, Merck, 
Onconova, and Takeda have been and may continue to be evaluating PLK inhibitors for hemato-oncology indications. 
Several companies are pursuing discovery and research activities in each of the other areas that are the subject of our 
research and drug development programs. 

Environmental Social and Government (“ESG”) Matters 

We recognize the importance of ESG matters, with a specific focus on Human Capital Management, as integral to 
creating a sustainable foundation for our long-term business strategy.  We support professional development at all levels.  
We also take reports of suspected violations of our codes of conduct and take seriously appropriate action.   

As we do not operate laboratories or manufacture products, we believe that our environmental impact is relatively 
small.  We are involved in office waste reduction practices.  Our mostly remote workforce has further reduced our 
carbon footprint.  We strive to offer excellent benefits and long-term incentives to help retain our workforce. 

Our human capital resources and objectives include identifying, recruiting, retaining and incentivizing our existing 
and additional employees.  The principal purposes of our equity incentive plans are to attract, retain and reward 
personnel through the granting of equity-based compensation awards in order to increase shareholder value and our 
success by motivating such individuals to perform to the best of their abilities to achieve our objectives. 

We recognize that our industry is specialized and dynamic and a significant aspect of our success is our continued 
ability to execute our human capital strategy of attracting, engaging, developing and retaining highly skilled talent. There 
is fierce competition both within our industry and in the geographic locations in which we have offices for highly skilled 
talent, and we offer a robust set of benefits, career-enhancing learning experiences and initiatives aligned with our 
mission, vision, and values in order to attract qualified prospective employees and to retain and motivate our employees. 
We offer competitive compensation for our employees and strongly embrace a pay for performance philosophy in setting 
and adjusting compensation.  
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Our codes of conduct clearly outline our commitment to diversity and inclusion, where all employees are welcomed 
in an environment designed to make them feel comfortable, respected, and accepted regardless of their age, race, 
national origin, gender, religion, disability or sexual orientation. We have a set of policies explicitly setting forth our 
expectations for nondiscrimination and a harassment-free work environment. We are also a proud equal opportunity 
employer and cultivate a highly collaborative and entrepreneurial culture. 

 Legal Proceedings 

From time to time, we may be involved in routine litigation incidental to the conduct of our business. As of 
December 31, 2023, we were not party to any material legal proceedings. 

Corporate information 

We were incorporated in Delaware in August 1997. Our corporate headquarters are located at 200 Connell Drive, 
Suite 1500, Berkeley Heights, New Jersey 07922, and our telephone number is 908 - 517 - 7330. Our employees are 
located in the United States and the United Kingdom.  

Available information 

We file reports, proxy statements and other information with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC. 
Copies of our reports, proxy statements and other information may be inspected and copied at the public reference 
facilities maintained by the SEC at SEC Headquarters, Public Reference Room, 100 F Street, N.E., Washington D.C. 
20549. The public may obtain information on the operation of the SEC’s Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 
1 - 800 - SEC - 0330. The SEC maintains a website that contains reports, proxy statements and other information regarding 
Cyclacel. The address of the SEC website is http://www.sec.gov. 

We will also provide copies of our current reports on Form 8 - K, annual reports on Form 10 - K, quarterly reports on 
Form 10 - Q and proxy statements, and all amendments to those reports at no charge through our website at 
www.cyclacel.com as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is electronically filed with, or furnished to, the 
SEC. We have not incorporated by reference in this Annual Report on Form 10 - K the information on, or accessible 
through, our website. Copies are also available, without charge, from Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 200 Connell Drive, 
Suite 1500, Berkeley Heights, NJ 07922. 

Item 1A.  Risk Factors 

In analyzing our company, you should carefully consider the following risk factors. Factors that could cause or 
contribute to differences in our actual results include those discussed in the following subsection, as well as those 
discussed below in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and 
elsewhere throughout this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Each of the following risk factors, either alone or taken 
together, could adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition, as well as adversely affect the 
value of an investment in our Company. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face. 
Additional risks not currently known to us or other factors not perceived by us to present significant risks to our business 
at this time also may impair our business operations. 

Risks Associated with Development and Commercialization of Our Drug Candidates 

Clinical trials are expensive, time consuming, subject to delay and may be required to continue beyond our available 
funding and we cannot be certain that we will be able to raise sufficient funds to complete the development and 
commercialize any of our product candidates currently in clinical development, should they succeed. 

Clinical trials may also have uncertain outcomes. We estimate that clinical trials of our most advanced drug 
candidates may be required to continue beyond our available funding and may take several more years to complete. The 
designs used in some of our trials have not been used widely by other pharmaceutical companies. We cannot guarantee 
that any clinical trials we undertake to conduct will be conducted as planned or completed on schedule or at all. Failure 
can occur at any stage of the testing and we may experience numerous unforeseen events during, or as a result of, the 
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clinical trial process that could delay or prevent commercialization of our current or future drug candidates, including, 
but not limited to: 

• delays in securing clinical investigators or trial sites for our clinical trials; 

• delays in obtaining institutional review board, or IRB, and regulatory approvals to commence a clinical trial; 

• failure to obtain regulatory authority permission to conduct a clinical trial, after review of an investigational 
new drug or equivalent foreign application or amendment; 

• slower than anticipated rates of subject recruitment and enrollment, or not reaching the targeted number of 
subjects because of competition for patients from other trials; 

• negative or inconclusive results from clinical trials, as demonstrated by our announcement on February 24, 
2017 that our SEAMLESS Phase 3 study failed to reach its primary endpoint; 

• inability to generate satisfactory preclinical or other nonclinical data, including, toxicology, or other in vivo or 
in vitro data or diagnostics to support the initiation or continuation of clinical trials; 

• unforeseen safety issues; 

• failure by clinical sites or contract research organizations, or CROs, or other third parties to adhere to clinical 
trial requirements, GCP, or other applicable regulatory requirements; 

• subjects discontinuing participating in our clinical trials at a greater than expected rate; 

• imposition by the FDA of a clinical hold or the requirement by other similar regulatory agencies that one or 
more clinical trials be delayed or halted; 

• uncertain dosing issues that may or may not be related to incompletely explored pharmacokinetic and 
pharmacodynamics behaviors; 

• approval and introduction of new therapies or changes in standards of practice or regulatory guidance that 
render our clinical trial endpoints or the targeting of our proposed indications less attractive; 

• inability to monitor patients adequately during or after treatment or problems with investigator or patient 
compliance with the trial protocols; 

• inability to replicate in large, controlled studies safety and efficacy data obtained from a limited number of 
patients in uncontrolled trials; 

• the ultimate affordability of the cost of clinical trials of our product candidates; 

• changes in regulatory requirements and guidance that require amending or submitting new clinical protocols or 
performing additional nonclinical studies; and 

• unavailability of clinical trial supplies. 

Any inability to successfully complete clinical development and obtain regulatory approval for our product 
candidates could result in additional costs to us or impair our ability to generate revenue. In addition, if we make 
manufacturing or formulation changes to our product candidates, we may need to conduct additional nonclinical studies 
and/or clinical trials, or the results obtained from such new formulation may not be consistent with previous results 
obtained. Clinical trial delays could also shorten any anticipated periods of patent exclusivity for our product candidates 
and may allow competitors to develop and bring products to market before we do which could impair our ability to 
successfully commercialize our product candidates and may harm our business and results of operations. 
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If we experience delays or difficulties in the enrollment of research subjects in clinical trials, those clinical trials 
could take longer than expected to complete and our receipt of necessary regulatory approvals could be delayed or 
prevented. 

We may not be able to initiate or continue clinical trials for our drug candidates if we are unable to locate and enroll 
a sufficient number of research subjects to participate in these trials. In particular, for some diseases and conditions we 
are or will be focusing on, our pool of suitable patients may be smaller and more selective and our ability to enroll a 
sufficient number of suitable patients may be limited or take longer than anticipated. In addition, some of our 
competitors have ongoing clinical trials for drug candidates that treat the same indications as our drug candidates, and 
volunteers or patients who would otherwise be eligible for our clinical trials may instead enroll in clinical trials of our 
competitors’ drug candidates. 

Patient enrollment for any of our clinical trials may also be affected by other factors, including without limitation: 

• the size and nature of the target patient population;  

• the severity of the disease under investigation; 

• the subject eligibility criteria for the clinical trial in question; 

• our ability to recruit clinical trial investigators with the appropriate competencies and experience; 

• the perceived risks and benefits of the drug candidate under study in the clinical trial; 

• the approval and availability of other therapies to treat the disease or disorder that is being investigated in the 
clinical trial; 

• the extent of the efforts to facilitate timely enrollment in clinical trials; 

• the patient referral practices of physicians; 

• the ability to monitor volunteers or subjects adequately during and after treatment;  

• the presence of other drug candidates in clinical development for the same indication or against the same target; 
and 

• the proximity and availability of clinical trial sites for prospective subjects. 

In addition, our clinical trials will compete with other clinical trials for product candidates that are in the same 
therapeutic areas as our product candidates, and this competition will reduce the number and types of patients available 
to us, because some patients who might have opted to enroll in our trials may instead opt to enroll in a trial being 
conducted by one of our competitors. Because the number of qualified clinical investigators is limited, we may conduct 
some of our clinical trials at the same clinical trial sites that some of our competitors use, which will reduce the number 
of patients who are available for our clinical trials at such clinical trial sites. Moreover, because our product candidates 
represent a departure from more commonly used methods for cancer treatment, potential patients and their doctors may 
be inclined to use conventional therapies rather than enroll patients in any future clinical trial. 

Our inability to enroll a sufficient number of subjects for our clinical trials would result in significant delays and 
could require us to abandon one or more clinical trials altogether. Enrollment delays in our clinical trials may result in 
increased development costs for our drug candidates, and we may not have or be able to obtain sufficient cash to fund 
such increased costs when needed, which could result in the further delay or termination of clinical trials. 

The outcome of preclinical testing and early clinical trials may not be predictive of the success of later clinical trials, 
and the results of our clinical trials may not satisfy the requirements of the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory 
authorities. 

We currently have no products approved for sale and we cannot guarantee that we will ever have marketable 
products. Clinical failure can occur at any stage of clinical development. Clinical trials may produce negative or 
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inconclusive results, and we or any future collaborators may decide, or regulatory authorities may require us, to conduct 
additional clinical trials or nonclinical studies. We will be required to demonstrate with substantial evidence through 
well-controlled, adequate clinical trials that our product candidates are safe and effective for use in a diverse population 
before we can seek marketing approvals for their commercial sale. Success in preclinical studies and early-stage clinical 
trials does not mean that future larger registration clinical trials will be successful. This is because product candidates in 
later-stage clinical trials may fail to demonstrate sufficient safety and efficacy to the satisfaction of the FDA and 
comparable foreign regulatory authorities despite having progressed through nonclinical studies and early-stage clinical 
trials.  

From time to time, we may publish or report interim or preliminary data from our clinical trials. Interim or 
preliminary data from clinical trials that we may conduct may not be indicative of the final results of such trials and are 
subject to the risk that one or more of the clinical outcomes may materially change as subject enrollment continues and 
more data from the trials become available. Interim or preliminary data also remain subject to audit and verification 
procedures that may result in the final data being materially different from the interim or preliminary data. As a result, 
interim or preliminary data should be viewed with caution until the final data are available. 

We are making use of biomarkers, which are not scientifically validated, and our reliance on biomarker data may 
thus cause us to direct our resources inefficiently. 

We are making use of biomarkers in an effort to facilitate our drug development and to optimize our clinical trials. 
Biomarkers are proteins or other substances whose presence in the blood can serve as an indicator of specific cell 
processes. We believe that these biological markers serve a useful purpose in helping us to evaluate whether our drug 
candidates are having their intended effects through their assumed mechanisms, and that they may thus enable us to 
identify more promising drug candidates at an early stage and to direct our resources efficiently. We also believe that 
biomarkers may eventually allow us to improve patient selection in connection with clinical trials and monitor patient 
compliance with trial protocols. 

For most purposes, however, the biomarkers we are currently evaluating have not been scientifically validated. If 
our understanding and use of biomarkers is inaccurate or flawed, or if our reliance on them is otherwise misplaced, then 
we will not only fail to realize any benefits from using biomarkers but may also be led to invest time and financial 
resources inefficiently in attempting to develop inappropriate drug candidates. For example, there is no assurance that 
exploiting CDKN2A and/or CDKN2B abnormalities with fadraciclib will result in clinical benefit for patients or lead to 
regulatory approval. 

Moreover, although the FDA has issued for comment a draft guidance document on the potential use of biomarker 
data in clinical development, such data are not currently accepted by the FDA or other regulatory agencies in the United 
States, the European Union or elsewhere in applications for regulatory approval of drug candidates, and there is no 
guarantee that such data will ever be accepted by the relevant authorities in this connection. Our biomarker data should 
not be interpreted as evidence of efficacy. 

The review processes of regulatory authorities are lengthy, time consuming, expensive and inherently unpredictable. 
If we are unable to obtain approval for our drug candidates from applicable regulatory authorities, we will not be 
able to market and sell those drug candidates in those countries or regions and our business could be substantially 
harmed. 

The research, testing, manufacturing, labeling, approval, sale, marketing and distribution of drug products are, and 
will remain, subject to extensive regulation by the FDA in the United States and by the respective regulatory authorities 
in other countries where regulations differ. We are not permitted to market our product candidates in the United States 
until we receive the respective approval of an NDA from the FDA, or in any foreign countries until we receive the 
requisite approval from the respective regulatory authorities in such countries. The time required to obtain approval, if 
any, by the FDA, EMA and comparable foreign authorities is unpredictable, but typically takes many years following the 
commencement of clinical trials, if approval is obtained at all, and depends upon numerous factors, including the 
substantial discretion of the regulatory authorities and the type, complexity and novelty of the product candidates 
involved. Regulatory authorities have substantial discretion in the approval process and may refuse to accept any 
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application or may decide that our data are insufficient for approval and require additional nonclinical studies or clinical 
trials. We have not submitted a marketing application such as an NDA to the FDA, an MAA to the EMA or any similar 
application to any other jurisdiction. We have limited experience in planning and conducting the clinical trials required 
for marketing approvals, and we have relied, and expect to continue to rely on third-party CROs to assist us in this 
process. Obtaining marketing approval requires the submission of extensive nonclinical and clinical data and supporting 
information to regulatory authorities for each therapeutic indication to establish the product candidate’s safety and 
effiveness. Securing marketing approval also requires the submission of information about the product manufacturing 
process, and in many cases the inspection of manufacturing, processing and packaging facilities by the regulatory 
authorities. Our product candidates may not be effective, may be only moderately effective or may prove to have 
undesirable or unintended side effects, toxicities or other characteristics that may preclude our obtaining marketing 
approval or prevent or limit commercial use, or there may be deficiencies in cGMP compliance by us or by our contract 
manufacturers that could result in the candidate not being approved. Moreover, we have not obtained regulatory 
approval for any drug candidate in any jurisdiction and it is possible that none of our existing drug candidates or any 
drug candidates we may seek to develop in the future will ever obtain regulatory approval. 

Our drug candidates could fail to receive, or could be delayed in receiving, regulatory approval for many reasons, 
including any one or more of the following: 

• the FDA, EMA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may disagree with the design or implementation of 
our clinical trials; 

• we may be unable to demonstrate to the satisfaction of the FDA, EMA or comparable foreign regulatory 
authorities that a drug candidate is safe and effective for its proposed indication; 

• the results of clinical trials may not meet the level of statistical significance required by the FDA, EMA or 
comparable foreign regulatory authorities for approval; 

• we may be unable to demonstrate that a drug candidate’s clinical and other benefits outweigh its safety risks; 

• the FDA, EMA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may disagree with our interpretation of data from 
preclinical studies or clinical trials; 

• the data collected from clinical trials of our drug candidates may not be sufficient to support the submission of 
an NDA or other submission or to obtain regulatory approval in the United States or elsewhere; 

• upon review of our clinical trial sites and data, the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may find 
our record keeping or the record keeping of our clinical trial sites to be inadequate; 

• the manufacturing processes or facilities of third-party manufacturers with which we contract for clinical and 
commercial supplies may fail to meet the requirements of the FDA, EMA or comparable foreign regulatory 
authorities; 

• the FDA, EMA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may fail to approve the companion diagnostics we 
contemplate developing internally or with partners; and 

• the change of the medical standard of care or the approval policies or regulations of the FDA, EMA or 
comparable foreign regulatory authorities may significantly change in a manner that renders our clinical data 
insufficient for approval. 

The time and expense of the approval process, as well as the unpredictability of future clinical trial results and other 
contributing factors, may result in our failure to obtain regulatory approval to market any of our product candidates in 
one or more jurisdictions, which would significantly harm our business, results of operations and prospects. In such case, 
we may also not have the resources to conduct new clinical trials and/or we may determine that further clinical 
development of any such drug candidate is not justified and may discontinue any such programs. 

In addition, even if we were to obtain regulatory approval in one or more jurisdictions, regulatory authorities may 
approve any of our drug candidates for fewer or more limited indications than we request, may not approve prices we 
may propose to charge for our products, may grant approval contingent on the performance of costly post-marketing 
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clinical trials (referred to as “conditional” or “accelerated” approval depending on the jurisdiction), or may approve a 
drug candidate with a label that does not include the labeling claims necessary or desirable for the successful 
commercialization of that drug candidate. Any of the foregoing circumstances could materially harm the commercial 
prospects for our drug candidates. 

Our product candidates may cause undesirable side effects that could delay or prevent their marketing approval, limit 
their commercial potential, or result in significant negative consequences following marketing approval, if marketing 
approval is obtained. 

Undesirable side effects caused by our product candidates could cause us or the FDA or other regulatory authorities 
to interrupt, delay or halt our clinical trials and could result in a more restrictive label or the delay or denial of marketing 
approval by the FDA or other regulatory authorities of our product candidates. In the event that our clinical trials 
produce undesirable side effects, our trials could be suspended or terminated and the FDA or comparable foreign 
regulatory authorities could order us to cease further development of or deny approval of our product candidates for any 
or all targeted indications. In addition to this, the product-related side effects could affect patient recruitment or the 
ability of enrolled patients to complete the trial or result in potential product liability claims. 

Clinical trials by their nature utilize a sample of the potential patient population. With a limited number of patients, 
rare and severe side effects of our product candidates may only be uncovered with a significantly larger number of 
patients exposed to the product candidate. If our product candidates receive marketing approval and we or others identify 
undesirable side effects caused by such product candidates (or any other similar products) after such approval, a number 
of potentially significant negative consequences could result, including: 

• regulatory authorities may withdraw or limit their approval of such product candidates; 

• regulatory authorities may require the addition of labeling statements, specific warnings or a contraindication; 

• we may be required to create a medication guide outlining the risks of such side effects for distribution to 
patients, or we may be required to implement a REMS to ensure that the benefits of the product outweigh the 
risks; 

• we may be required to change the way such product candidates are distributed or administered, or change the 
labeling of the product candidates; 

• we may be subject to regulatory investigations and government enforcement actions; 

• the FDA or a comparable foreign regulatory authority may require us to conduct additional clinical trials or 
costly post-marketing testing and surveillance to monitor the safety and efficacy of the product; 

• we may decide to recall such product candidates from the marketplace after they are approved; 

• we could be sued and held liable for injury caused to individuals exposed to or taking our product candidates; 
and 

• our reputation may suffer. 

Any of these events could prevent us from achieving or maintaining market acceptance of the affected product 
candidates and could substantially increase the costs of commercializing our product candidates, if approved, and 
significantly impact our ability to successfully commercialize our product candidates and generate revenues. 

As we evolve from a company primarily involved in discovery and development to one also involved in the 
commercialization of drugs and devices, we may encounter difficulties in managing our growth and expanding our 
operations successfully. 

In order to execute our business strategy, we will need to expand our development, control and regulatory 
capabilities and develop financial, manufacturing, marketing and sales capabilities or contract with third parties to 
provide these capabilities for us. If our operations expand, we expect that we will need to manage additional 
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relationships with various collaborative partners, suppliers and other third parties. Our ability to manage our operations 
and any growth will require us to make appropriate changes and upgrades, as necessary, to our operational, financial and 
management controls, reporting systems and procedures wherever we may operate. Any inability to manage growth 
could delay the execution of our business plan or disrupt our operations. 

Our applications for regulatory approval could be delayed or denied due to problems with studies conducted before 
we in-licensed the rights to some of our product candidates. 

We may now or in the future license some of the compounds and drug candidates used in our research programs 
from third parties. Our present research involving these compounds relies upon previous research conducted by third 
parties over whom we had no control and before we in-licensed the drug candidates. In order to receive regulatory 
approval of a drug candidate, we must present all relevant data and information obtained during our research and 
development, including research conducted prior to our licensure of the drug candidate. Although we are not currently 
aware of any such problems, any problems that emerge with preclinical research and testing conducted prior to our in-
licensing may affect future results or our ability to document prior research and to conduct clinical trials, which could 
delay, limit or prevent regulatory approval for our drug candidates. 

Even if we obtain regulatory approval for a product candidate, we will remain subject to ongoing regulatory 
requirements.  

If any of our product candidates are approved for marketing, we will be subject to ongoing regulatory requirements, 
including with respect to manufacturing, labeling, packaging, storage, advertising, promotion, sampling, record-keeping, 
conduct of post-marketing clinical trials, and submission of safety, efficacy and other post-approval information, 
including both federal and state requirements in the United States and requirements of comparable foreign regulatory 
authorities.  

Manufacturers and manufacturers’ facilities are required to continuously comply with FDA and comparable foreign 
regulatory authority requirements, including ensuring that quality control and manufacturing procedures conform to 
cGMP regulations and corresponding foreign regulatory manufacturing requirements. As such, we and our contract 
manufacturers will be subject to continual review and inspections to assess compliance with cGMP and adherence to 
commitments made in any marketing application. Accordingly, we and others with whom we work must continue to 
expend time, money, and effort in all areas of regulatory compliance, including manufacturing, production, and quality 
control. 

Any regulatory approvals that we receive for our product candidates may be subject to limitations on the approved 
indicated uses for which the product may be marketed or to the conditions of approval, or contain requirements for 
potentially costly post-marketing testing, including Phase 4 clinical trials, and surveillance to monitor the safety and 
efficacy of the product candidate. The FDA may also require a REMS program as a condition of approval of our product 
candidates, which could entail requirements for long-term patient follow-up, a medication guide, physician 
communication plans or additional elements to ensure safe use, such as restricted distribution methods, patient registries 
and other risk minimization tools. In addition, if the FDA or a comparable foreign regulatory authority approves our 
product candidates, we will have to comply with requirements including submissions of safety and other post-marketing 
information and reports, registration, as well as continued compliance with cGMP and GCP for any clinical trials that we 
conduct post-approval. 

The FDA strictly regulates marketing, labeling, advertising, and promotion of products that are placed on the 
market. Drugs may be promoted only for the approved indications and in accordance with the provisions of the approved 
label. The FDA and other agencies actively enforce the laws and regulations prohibiting the promotion of off-label uses, 
and a company that is found to have improperly promoted off-label uses may be subject to significant liability. 

Failure to comply with regulatory requirements, may result in revisions to the approved labeling to add new safety 
information; imposition of post-market studies or clinical studies to assess new safety risks; or imposition of distribution 
restrictions or other restrictions under a REMS program. Other potential consequences include, among other things: 
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• restrictions on the marketing or manufacturing of the product, complete withdrawal of the product from the 
market or product recalls; 

• fines, warning letters or other enforcement-related letters or clinical holds on post-approval clinical trials; 

• refusal of the FDA to approve pending NDAs or supplements to approved NDAs, or suspension or revocation 
of product approvals; 

• product seizure or detention, or refusal to permit the import or export of products; 

• injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties; and 

• consent decrees, corporate integrity agreements, debarment, or exclusion from federal health care programs; or 
mandated modification of promotional materials and labeling and the issuance of corrective information. 

The policies of the FDA and of other regulatory authorities may change and additional government regulations may 
be enacted that could prevent, limit or delay regulatory approval of our product candidates. We cannot predict the 
likelihood, nature or extent of government regulation that may arise from future legislation or administrative action, 
either in the United States or abroad. If we are slow or unable to adapt to changes in existing requirements or the 
adoption of new requirements or policies, or if we are not able to maintain regulatory compliance, we may lose any 
marketing approval that we may have obtained and we may not achieve or sustain profitability.  

Obtaining and maintaining marketing approval of our current and future product candidates in one jurisdiction does 
not mean that we will be successful in obtaining marketing approval of our current and future therapeutic product 
candidates in other jurisdictions.  

Obtaining and maintaining marketing approval of our current and future product candidates in one jurisdiction does 
not guarantee that we will be able to obtain or maintain marketing approval in any other jurisdiction, while a failure or 
delay in obtaining marketing approval in one jurisdiction may have a negative effect on the marketing approval process 
in others. For example, even if the FDA grants marketing approval of a product candidate, comparable foreign 
regulatory authorities in foreign jurisdictions must also approve the manufacturing, marketing and promotion of the 
product candidate in those countries. Approval procedures vary among jurisdictions and can involve requirements and 
administrative review periods different from, and greater than, those in the United States, including additional 
nonclinical studies or clinical trials in the event that certain nonclinical studies or clinical trials conducted in one 
jurisdiction are not accepted by regulatory authorities in other jurisdictions. In many jurisdictions outside the United 
States, a product candidate must be approved for reimbursement before it can be approved for sale in that jurisdiction. In 
some cases, the price that we intend to charge for our future products will also be subject to approval.  

We may submit marketing applications in other countries in addition to the United States. Regulatory authorities in 
jurisdictions outside of the United States have requirements for approval of product candidates with which we must 
comply prior to marketing in those jurisdictions. Obtaining foreign marketing approvals and compliance with foreign 
regulatory requirements could result in significant delays, difficulties and costs for us, and could delay or prevent the 
introduction of our products in certain countries. If we fail to comply with the regulatory requirements in international 
markets and/or receive applicable marketing approvals, our target market will be reduced and our ability to realize the 
full market potential of our product candidates will be harmed. 

Even if we successfully complete the clinical trials for one or more of our product candidates, the product candidates 
may fail for other reasons. 

Even if we successfully complete the clinical trials for one or more of our product candidates, the product 
candidates may fail for other reasons, including, without limitation, the possibilities that the product candidates will: 

• fail to receive the regulatory approvals required to market them as drugs; 

• be subject to proprietary rights held by others requiring the negotiation of a license agreement prior to 
marketing; 
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• be difficult or expensive to manufacture on a commercial scale; 

• have adverse side effects that make their use less desirable; or 

• fail to compete effectively with product candidates or other treatments commercialized by our competitors. 

If we are unable to receive the required regulatory approvals, secure our intellectual property rights, minimize the 
incidence of any adverse side effects or if we fail to compete with our competitors’ products, our business, financial 
condition, and results of operations may be materially and adversely affected. 

We face intense competition and our competitors may develop drugs that are less expensive, safer, or more effective 
than our drug candidates. 

A large number of drug candidates are in development for the treatment of leukemia, solid tumors including breast, 
endometrial/uterine and ovarian cancers and lymphomas. Several pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies have 
CDK inhibitors, PLK1 inhibitors or other products on the market or in clinical trials which may be competitive to our 
drugs in both hematological and oncology indications. Our competitors, either alone or together with collaborators, may 
have substantially greater financial resources and research and development staff. Our competitors may also have more 
experience: 

• developing drug candidates; 

• conducting preclinical and clinical trials; 

• obtaining regulatory approvals; and 

• commercializing product candidates. 

Our competitors may succeed in obtaining patent protection and regulatory approval and may market drugs before 
we do. If our competitors market drugs that are less expensive, safer, more effective or more convenient to administer 
than our potential drugs, or that reach the market sooner than our potential drugs, we may not achieve commercial 
success. Scientific, clinical or technical developments by our competitors may render our drug candidates obsolete or 
noncompetitive. We anticipate that we will face increased competition in the future as new companies enter the markets 
and as scientific developments progress. If our drug candidates obtain regulatory approvals, but do not compete 
effectively in the marketplace, our business will suffer. 

Our future product candidates for which we obtain approval may face competition sooner than anticipated. 

Even if we are successful in achieving regulatory approval to commercialize a product candidate ahead of our 
competitors, our future pharmaceutical products may face direct competition from generic and other follow-on drug 
products. Any of our product candidates that may achieve regulatory approval in the future may face competition from 
follow-on products earlier or more aggressively than anticipated, depending upon how well such approved products 
perform in the U.S. prescription drug market. Our ability to compete may also be affected in many cases by insurers or 
other third-party payors seeking to encourage the use of generic products. 

The Hatch-Waxman Amendments to the FDCA authorized the FDA to approve generic drugs that are the same as 
drugs previously approved for marketing under the NDA provisions of the statute pursuant to ANDAs and, in addition, 
created the Section 505(b)(2) NDA pathway. An ANDA relies on the preclinical and clinical testing conducted for a 
previously approved reference listed drug and must demonstrate to the FDA that the generic drug product is identical to 
the RLD with respect to the active ingredients, the route of administration, the dosage form, and the strength of the drug 
and also that it is “bioequivalent” to the reference listed drug. In contrast, Section 505(b)(2) enables the applicant to rely, 
in part, on the FDA’s prior findings of safety and efficacy data for an existing product, or published literature, in support 
of its application. Section 505(b)(2) provides an alternate path to FDA approval for new or improved formulations or 
new uses of previously approved products; for example, a follow-on applicant may be seeking approval to market a 
previously approved drug for new indications or for a new patient population that would require new clinical data to 
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demonstrate safety or effectiveness. Such products, if approved and depending upon the scope of the changes made to 
the reference drug, may also compete with any product candidates for which we receive approval. 

The FDA is prohibited by statute from approving an ANDA or 505(b)(2) NDA when certain marketing or data 
exclusivity protections apply to the reference listed drug. However, if any competitor or third party is able to 
demonstrate bioequivalence without infringing our patents, then such competitor or third party may then be able to gain 
approval of an ANDA and introduce a competing generic product onto the market. 

Furthermore, the CREATES Act established a private cause of action that permits a generic product developer to 
sue the brand manufacturer to compel it to furnish necessary samples of an RLD on “commercially reasonable, market-
based terms.” If generic developers request samples of any product candidates for which we receive marketing approval 
in order to conduct comparative testing to support one or more ANDAs for a generic version of our products, and we 
refuse any such request, we may be subject to litigation under the CREATES Act. Although lawsuits have been filed 
under the CREATES Act since its enactment, those lawsuits have settled privately; therefore, to date, no federal court 
has reviewed or opined on the statutory language and there continues to be uncertainty regarding the scope and 
application of the law. 

We cannot predict the interest of potential follow-on competitors or how quickly others may seek to come to market 
with competing products, whether approved as a direct ANDA competitor or as a Section 505(b)(2) NDA referencing 
one of our future product candidates. If the FDA approves generic versions of any of our products in the future, should 
they be approved for commercial marketing, such competitive products may be able to immediately compete with us in 
each indication for which our product has received approval, which could negatively impact our future revenue, 
profitability and cash flows and substantially limit our ability to obtain a return on our investments. 

The commercial success of our drug candidates depends upon their market acceptance among physicians, patients, 
healthcare providers and payors and the medical community. 

If our drug candidates are approved, or are approved by the FDA or EMA, together with another agent such as 
decitabine, the resulting drugs, if any, must still gain market acceptance among physicians, healthcare providers and 
payors, patients and the medical community. The degree of market acceptance of any of our approved drugs will depend 
on a variety of factors, including: 

• timing of market introduction, number and clinical profile of competitive drugs; 

• our ability to provide acceptable evidence of safety and efficacy; 

• relative convenience and ease of administration; 

• pricing and cost-effectiveness, which may be subject to regulatory control; 

• availability of coverage, reimbursement and adequate payment from health maintenance organizations and 
other third-party payors; and 

• prevalence and severity of adverse side effects; and other potential advantages over alternative treatment 
methods. 

If any product candidate that we develop does not provide a treatment regimen that is at least as beneficial as the 
current standard of care or otherwise does not provide some additional patient benefit over the current standard of care, 
that product will not achieve market acceptance and we will not generate sufficient revenues to achieve profitability. 

If our drug candidates or distribution partners’ products fail to achieve market acceptance, we may not be able to 
generate significant revenue and our business would suffer, and our business may be affected by the efforts of 
government and third-party payors to contain or reduce the cost of healthcare through various means. 

Reimbursement decisions by third-party payors may have an adverse effect on pricing and market acceptance. If 
there is not sufficient reimbursement for our products, it is less likely that they will be widely used. Market acceptance 
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and sales of our product candidates that we develop, if approved, will depend on reimbursement policies, and may be 
affected by future healthcare reform measures. Government authorities and third-party payors, such as private health 
insurers and health maintenance organizations, decide which drugs they will cover and establish payment levels. We 
cannot be certain that reimbursement will be available for our product candidates that we develop. Also, we cannot be 
certain that reimbursement policies will not reduce the demand for, or the price paid for, our products. If reimbursement 
is not available or is available on a limited basis, we may not be able to successfully commercialize any of our product 
candidates. 

Even if we succeed in bringing one or more products to the market, these products may not be considered medically 
necessary and/or cost-effective, and the amount reimbursed for any products may be insufficient to allow us to sell our 
products on a competitive basis. At this time, we are unable to determine their cost effectiveness or the likely level or 
method of reimbursement for our product candidates. Increasingly, third-party payors, such as government and private 
insurance plans, are requiring that biopharmaceutical companies provide them with predetermined discounts from list 
prices, and are seeking to reduce the prices charged or the amounts paid for biopharmaceutical products. If the price we 
are able to charge for any products we develop, or the payments provided for such products, is inadequate in light of our 
development and other costs, our return on investment could be adversely affected. 

Discussions continue at the federal level regarding policies that would require manufacturers to pay higher rebates 
in Medicare Part D, give states more flexibility on drugs that are covered under the Medicaid program, and other policy 
proposals that could impact reimbursement for our products. The efforts of governments and third-party payors to 
contain or reduce the cost of health care and legislative and regulatory proposals to broaden the availability of health 
care will continue to affect the business and financial condition of pharmaceutical and biopharmaceutical companies. A 
number of legislative and regulatory changes in the health care system in the United States and other major health care 
markets have been proposed and/or adopted in the recent past, and such efforts have expanded substantially in the past 
several years.  

Our business may be affected by the efforts of government and third-party pairs to contain or reduce the cost of 
healthcare through various means. 

The failure to attract and retain skilled personnel and key relationships could impair our drug development and 
commercialization efforts.   

We are highly dependent on our senior management and key clinical development, scientific and technical 
personnel. The loss of the services of any member of our senior management, clinical development, scientific or 
technical staff may significantly delay or prevent the achievement of drug development and other business objectives 
and could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition. We also rely on 
consultants and advisors to assist us in formulating our strategy. All of our consultants and advisors are either self-
employed or employed by other organizations, and they may have conflicts of interest or other commitments, such as 
consulting or advisory contracts with other organizations, that may affect their ability to contribute to us. We intend to 
expand and develop new drug candidates. We will need to hire additional employees in order to continue our clinical 
trials and market our drug candidates. This strategy will require us to recruit additional executive management and 
clinical development, scientific, technical and sales and marketing personnel. There is currently intense competition for 
skilled executives and employees with relevant clinical development, scientific, technical and sales and marketing 
expertise, and this competition is likely to continue. The inability to attract and retain sufficient clinical development, 
scientific, technical and managerial personnel could limit or delay our product development efforts, which would 
adversely affect the development of our drug candidates and commercialization of our potential drugs and growth of our 
business. 

We are experiencing an increasingly tight and competitive labor market and could face unforeseen challenges in the 
availability of labor, such as we have experienced since the outbreak of COVID-19. A sustained labor shortage or 
increased turnover rates within our employee base as a result of general macroeconomic factors have led and in the 
future could lead to increased costs, such as increased overtime to meet demand and increased wages to attract and retain 
employees. We have also been negatively affected and could continue to be negatively affected by labor shortages or 
constraints experienced by our partners. Failure to achieve and maintain a diverse workforce and leadership team, 
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compensate our employees competitively and fairly, maintain a safe and inclusive environment or promote the well-
being of our employees could affect our reputation and also result in lower performance and an inability to retain 
valuable employees. 

We may be exposed to product liability claims that may damage our reputation and we may not be able to obtain 
adequate insurance. 

Because we conduct clinical trials in humans, we face the risk that the use of our drug candidates will result in 
adverse effects. We believe that we have obtained reasonably adequate product liability insurance coverage for our trials. 
We cannot predict, however, the possible harm or side effects that may result from our clinical trials. Such claims may 
damage our reputation and we may not have sufficient resources to pay for any liabilities resulting from a claim 
excluded from, or beyond the limit of, our insurance coverage or if the amount of the insurance coverage is insufficient 
to meet any liabilities resulting from any claims. 

We may also be exposed to additional risks of product liability claims. These risks exist even with respect to drugs 
that are approved for commercial sale by the FDA or other regulatory authorities in the United States, the European 
Union or elsewhere and manufactured in facilities licensed and regulated by the FDA, EMA or other such regulatory 
authorities. We have secured limited product liability insurance coverage but may not be able to maintain such insurance 
on acceptable terms with adequate coverage, or at a reasonable cost. There is also a risk that third parties that we have 
agreed to indemnify could incur liability. Even if we were ultimately successful in product liability litigation, the 
litigation would consume substantial amounts of our financial and managerial resources and may exceed insurance 
coverage creating adverse publicity, all of which would impair our ability to generate sales of the litigated product as 
well as our other potential drugs. 

If a supplier upon whom we rely fails to produce on a timely basis the finished goods in the volumes that we require 
or fails to meet quality standards and maintain necessary licensure from regulatory authorities, we may be unable to 
meet demand for our products, potentially resulting in lost revenues. 

If any third-party manufacturer service providers do not meet our or our licensor’s requirements for quality, quantity 
or timeliness, or do not achieve and maintain compliance with all applicable regulations, demand for our products or our 
ability to continue supplying such products could substantially decline. As the third-party manufacturers are the sole 
supplier of the products, any delays may impact our sales. 

In all the countries where we may sell our products, governmental regulations exist to define standards for 
manufacturing, packaging, labeling and storing. All of our suppliers of raw materials and contract manufacturers must 
comply with these regulations. Failure to do so could result in supply interruptions. In the United States, the FDA 
requires that all suppliers of pharmaceutical bulk material and all manufacturers of pharmaceuticals for sale in or from 
the United States achieve and maintain compliance with the FDA’s cGMP. Similar requirements exist in the European 
Union through the EMA. Failure of our third-party manufacturers to comply with applicable regulations could result in 
sanctions being imposed on them or us, including fines, injunctions, civil penalties, disgorgement, suspension or 
withdrawal of approvals, license revocation, seizures or recalls of products, operating restrictions and criminal 
prosecutions, any of which could significantly and adversely affect supplies of our products. In addition, before any 
product batch produced by our manufacturers can be shipped, it must conform to release specifications for the content of 
the pharmaceutical product. If the operations of one or more of our manufacturers were to become unavailable for any 
reason, any required FDA or EMA review and approval of the operations of an alternative supplier could cause a delay 
in the manufacture of our products. 

The commercialization of our products will be substantially dependent on our ability to develop effective sales and 
marketing capabilities. 

One of our primary strategies for product candidates under development is to develop compounds through the Phase 
2 stage of clinical testing and market or co-promote certain of our drugs. We currently have no sales, marketing or 
distribution capabilities. We will depend primarily on strategic alliances with third parties, which have established 
distribution systems and sales forces, to commercialize our drugs. To the extent that we are unsuccessful in 
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commercializing any drugs ourselves or through a strategic alliance, product revenues may suffer, we may incur 
significant additional losses, and our share price would be negatively affected. 

We face potential product liability exposure, and if successful claims are brought against us, we may incur 
substantial liability for a product candidate and may have to limit its commercialization. 

The use of our product candidates in clinical trials and the sale of any products for which we may obtain marketing 
approval expose us to the risk of product liability claims. Product liability claims may be brought against us or our 
collaborators by participants enrolled in our clinical trials, patients, health care providers or others using, administering 
or selling our products. If we cannot successfully defend ourselves against any such claims, we would incur substantial 
liabilities. Regardless of merit or eventual outcome, product liability claims may result in: 

• withdrawal of clinical trial participants; 

• termination of clinical trial sites or entire trial programs; 

• costs of related litigation; 

• substantial monetary awards to patients or other claimants; 

• decreased demand for our product candidates and loss of revenues; 

• impairment of our business reputation; 

• diversion of management and scientific resources from our business operations; and 

• the inability to commercialize our product candidates. 

We have obtained limited product liability insurance coverage for our clinical trials in the United States and in 
selected other jurisdictions where we are conducting clinical trials. Our primary product liability insurance coverage for 
clinical trials in the United States is at least $10.0 million and outside of the United States, we have coverage for lesser 
amounts that vary by country. As such, our insurance coverage may not reimburse us or may not be sufficient to 
reimburse us for any expenses or losses we may suffer. Moreover, insurance coverage is becoming increasingly 
expensive, and, in the future, we may not be able to maintain insurance coverage at a reasonable cost or in sufficient 
amounts to protect us against losses due to product liability. We intend to expand our insurance coverage for products to 
include the sale of commercial products if we obtain marketing approval for our product candidates in development, but 
we may be unable to obtain commercially reasonable product liability insurance for any products approved for 
marketing. Large judgments have been awarded in class action lawsuits based on drugs that had unanticipated side 
effects. A successful product liability claim or series of claims brought against us, particularly if judgments exceed our 
insurance coverage, could decrease our cash resources and adversely affect our business. 

Healthcare legislative reform measures may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or 
results of operations.  

In the United States, there have been and continue to be a number of legislative initiatives to contain healthcare 
costs. For example, the ACA substantially changed the way healthcare is financed by both governmental and private 
insurers, and significantly impacted the U.S. pharmaceutical industry. The ACA, among other things, increased the 
minimum Medicaid rebates owed by manufacturers under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program and extended the rebate 
program to individuals enrolled in Medicaid managed care organizations, established annual fees and taxes on 
manufacturers of certain branded prescription drugs and biologics, and created a new Medicare Part D coverage gap 
discount program, in which manufacturers must agree to offer 70% (increased from 50% pursuant to the Bipartisan 
Budget Act of 2018, effective as of 2019) point-of-sale discounts off negotiated prices of applicable brand drugs and 
biologics to eligible beneficiaries during their coverage gap period, as a condition for the manufacturer’s outpatient 
drugs or biologics to be covered under Medicare Part D.  



40 

We expect that future changes or additions to the ACA, the Medicare and Medicaid programs and changes 
stemming from other healthcare reform measures, especially with regard to healthcare access, financing or other 
legislation in individual states, could have a material adverse effect on the health care industry in the United States.  

Over the past several years there has been heightened governmental scrutiny over the manner in which 
biopharmaceutical manufacturers set prices for their marketed products, which has resulted in several U.S. 
Congressional inquiries and proposed and enacted federal and state legislation designed to, among other things, bring 
more transparency to product pricing, review the relationship between pricing and manufacturer patient programs, and 
reform government program reimbursement methodologies for drug products. The probability of success of these newly 
announced policies, many of which have been subjected to legal challenge in the federal court system, and their potential 
impact on the U.S. prescription drug marketplace is unknown. There are likely to be continued political and legal 
challenges associated with implementing these reforms as they are currently envisioned. For example, in July 2021, 
President Biden issued a sweeping executive order on promoting competition in the American economy that included 
several mandates pertaining to the pharmaceutical and health care insurance industries and called on HHS to release a 
comprehensive plan to combat high prescription drug prices. The drug pricing plan released by HHS in September 2021 
in response to the executive order makes clear that the Biden Administration supports aggressive action to address rising 
drug prices, including allowing HHS to negotiate the cost of Medicare Part B and D drugs, but such significant changes 
will require either new legislation to be passed by Congress or time-consuming administrative actions.   

Most recently, in August 2022, President Biden signed into law the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022, or the IRA. 
Among other things, the IRA has multiple provisions that may impact the prices of drug products that are both sold into 
the Medicare program and throughout the United States. Starting in 2023, a manufacturer of a drug or biological product 
covered by Medicare Parts B or D must pay a rebate to the federal government if the product’s price increases faster than 
the rate of inflation. This calculation is made on a drug product by drug product basis and the amount of the rebate owed 
to the federal government is directly dependent on the volume of a drug product that is paid for by Medicare Parts B or 
D. Additionally, starting in payment year 2026, CMS will negotiate drug prices annually for a select number of single 
source Part D drugs without generic or biosimilar competition. CMS will also negotiate drug prices for a select number 
of Part B drugs starting for payment year 2028. If a drug product is selected by CMS for negotiation, it is expected that 
the revenue generated from such drug will decrease. Additional state and federal health care reform measures are 
expected to be adopted in the future, any of which could limit the amounts that federal and state governments will pay 
for health care products and services, which could result in reduced demand for certain biopharmaceutical products or 
additional pricing pressures. 

In addition to the IRA’s drug price negotiation provisions, President Biden’s Executive Order 14087, issued in 
October 2022, called for the CMS Innovation Center to prepare and submit a report to the White House on potential 
payment and delivery modes that would complement to IRA, lower drug costs, and promote access to innovative drugs. 
In February 2023, CMS published its report which described three potential models focusing on affordability, 
accessibility and feasibility of implementation for further testing by the CMS Innovation Center. As of February 2024, 
the CMS Innovation Center continues to test the proposed models and has started to roll out plans for access model 
testing of certain product types (e.g., cell and gene therapies) by states and manufacturers.  

At the state level, legislatures have increasingly passed legislation and implemented regulations designed to control 
pharmaceutical and biological product pricing, including price or patient reimbursement constraints, discounts, 
restrictions on certain product access and marketing cost disclosure and transparency measures, and, in some cases, 
designed to encourage importation from other countries and bulk purchasing. For example, California requires 
pharmaceutical manufacturers to notify certain purchasers, including health insurers and government health plans at least 
60 days before any scheduled increase in the wholesale acquisition cost (WAC), of their product if the increase exceeds 
16%, and further requires pharmaceutical manufacturers to explain whether a change or improvement in the product 
necessitates such an increase. Similarly, Vermont requires pharmaceutical manufacturers to disclose price information 
on certain prescription drugs, and to provide notification to the state if introducing a new drug with a WAC in excess of 
the Medicare Part D specialty drug threshold. In addition, in recent years, several states have formed prescription drug 
affordability boards (PDABs). Much like the IRA’s drug price negotiation program, these PDABs have attempted to 
implement upper payment limits (UPLs) on drugs sold in their respective states in both public and commercial health 
plans. For example, in August 2023, Colorado’s PDAB announced a list of five prescription drugs that would undergo an 
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affordability review. The effects of these efforts remain uncertain pending the outcomes of several federal lawsuits 
challenging state authority to regulate prescription drug payment limits. 

In December 2020, the U.S. Supreme Court also held unanimously that federal law does not preempt the states’ 
ability to regulate pharmaceutical benefit managers, or PBMs, and other members of the healthcare and pharmaceutical 
supply chain, an important decision that appears to be leading to further and more aggressive efforts by states in this 
area. The Federal Trade Commission in mid-2022 also launched sweeping investigations into the practices of the PBM 
industry that could lead to additional federal and state legislative or regulatory proposals targeting such entities’ 
operations, pharmacy networks, or financial arrangements. Significant efforts to change the PBM industry as it currently 
exists in the United States may affect the entire pharmaceutical supply chain and the business of other stakeholders, 
including biopharmaceutical developers like us. Legally mandated price controls on payment amounts by third-party 
payors or other restrictions could harm our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects. In addition, 
regional healthcare authorities and individual hospitals are increasingly using bidding procedures to determine what 
pharmaceutical products and which suppliers will be included in their prescription drug and other healthcare programs. 
This could reduce the ultimate demand for our product candidates, if approved, or put pressure on our product pricing, 
which could negatively affect our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects. 

In the European Union, similar political, economic and regulatory developments may affect our ability to profitably 
commercialize our products. In addition to continuing pressure on prices and cost containment measures, legislative 
developments at the European Union or EU member state level may result in significant additional requirements or 
obstacles that may increase our operating costs. 

We cannot predict the likelihood, nature or extent of government regulation that may arise from future legislation or 
administrative or executive action. We expect that additional federal and state health care reform measures will be 
adopted in the future, any of which could limit the amounts that federal and state governments will pay for health care 
products and services, which could result in limited coverage and reimbursement and reduced demand for our products, 
once approved, or additional pricing pressures. 

We may be subject, directly or indirectly, to federal and state healthcare fraud and abuse laws, false claims laws, and 
health information privacy and security laws. If we are unable to comply, or have not fully complied, with such laws, 
we could face substantial penalties.  

If we obtain FDA approval for any of our product candidates and begin commercializing those products in the 
United States, our operations may be subject to various federal and state fraud and abuse laws, including, without 
limitation, the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, the federal False Claims Act, and physician payments sunshine laws and 
regulations. These laws may impact, among other things, our proposed sales, marketing, and education programs. In 
addition, we may be subject to patient privacy regulation by both the federal government and the states in which we 
conduct our business. The laws that may affect our ability to operate include:  

• The federal Anti-Kickback Statute, which prohibits, among other things, persons from knowingly and willfully 
soliciting, receiving, offering or paying remuneration, directly or indirectly, to induce, or in return for, the 
purchase or recommendation of an item or service reimbursable under a federal healthcare program, such as the 
Medicare and Medicaid programs;  

• Federal civil and criminal false claims laws and civil monetary penalty laws, which prohibit, among other 
things, individuals or entities from knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, claims for payment from 
Medicare, Medicaid, or other government payors that are false or fraudulent or making a false statement to 
avoid, decrease or conceal an obligation to pay money to the federal government;  

• The federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA), which created new federal 
criminal statutes that prohibit executing a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program and making false 
statements relating to healthcare matters;  
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• HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology and Clinical Health Act, and its implementing 
regulations, which imposes specified requirements relating to the privacy, security, and transmission of 
individually identifiable health information;  

• The federal physician payments sunshine requirements under the ACA require manufacturers of drugs, devices, 
biologics, and medical supplies to report annually to the CMS information related to payments and other 
transfers of value to physicians, certain advanced non-physician healthcare providers, and teaching hospitals, 
and ownership and investment interests held by physicians and other healthcare providers and their immediate 
family members; and  

• State law equivalents of each of the above federal laws, such as anti-kickback and false claims laws that may 
apply to items or services reimbursed by any third-party payor, including governmental and private payors, to 
comply with the pharmaceutical industry’s voluntary compliance guidelines and the relevant compliance 
guidance promulgated by the federal government, or otherwise restrict payments that may be made to 
healthcare providers and other potential referral sources; state laws that require drug manufacturers to report 
information related to payments and other transfers of value to physicians and other healthcare providers or 
marketing expenditures, and state laws governing the privacy and security of health information in specified 
circumstances, many of which differ from each other in significant ways and may not have the same effect, thus 
complicating compliance efforts.  

Because of the breadth of these laws and the narrowness of the statutory exceptions and safe harbors available, it is 
possible that some of our business activities could be subject to challenge under one or more of such laws. In addition, 
recent health care reform legislation has strengthened these laws. For example, the ACA, among other things, amended 
the intent requirement of the federal anti-kickback and criminal healthcare fraud statutes. A person or entity no longer 
needs to have actual knowledge of this statute or specific intent to violate it. Moreover, the ACA provides that the U.S. 
government may assert that a claim including items or services resulting from a violation of the federal anti-kickback 
statute constitutes a false or fraudulent claim for purposes of the False Claims Act.  

If our operations are found to be in violation of any of the laws described above or any other governmental 
regulations that apply to us, we may be subject to penalties, including civil and criminal penalties, damages, fines, 
exclusion from participation in government health care programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid, imprisonment, and 
the curtailment or restructuring of our operations, any of which could adversely affect our ability to operate our business 
and our results of operations.  

We may be subject to, or may in the future become subject to, U.S. federal and state, and international laws and 
regulations imposing obligations on how we collect, use, disclose, store and process personal information. Our actual 
or perceived failure to comply with such obligations could result in liability or reputational harm and could harm our 
business. Ensuring compliance with such laws could also impair our efforts to maintain and expand our customer 
base, and thereby decrease our revenue. 

In many activities, including the conduct of clinical trials, we are subject to laws and regulations governing data 
privacy and the protection of health-related and other personal information. The regulatory framework for collecting, 
using, safeguarding, sharing, transfering and other processing of information worldwide is rapidly evolving and is likely 
to remain uncertain for the foreseeable future.  The withdrawal of the United Kingdom from the European Union and the 
subsequent separation of the data protection regimes of these territories means we are required to comply with separate 
data protection laws in the European Union and the United Kingdom, which may lead to additional compliance costs and 
could increase our overall risk. Similar laws and regulations govern our processing of personal data, including the 
collection, access, use, analysis, modification, storage, transfer, security breach notification, destruction and disposal of 
personal data.  For example, the collection, use, disclosure, transfer, or other processing of personal data regarding 
individuals in the European Union, including personal health data, is subject to the General Data Protection Regulation, 
or GDPR, which took effect across all Member States of the European Economic Area, or EEA, on May 25, 2018, and 
as still in effect in the United Kingdom as the UK GDPR. On June 28, 2021, the EU Commission adopted decisions on 
the UK’s adequacy under the EU GDRP, and the UK continues to operate under this adequacy decision. The GDPR 
imposed a broad data protection framework that expanded the scope of EU and UK data protection law, including to 
non-EU and non-UK entities meeting the jurisdictional requirements that process, or control the processing of, personal 
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data relating to individuals located in the EU or UK, including clinical trial data. The GDPR sets out a number of 
requirements for controllers and/or processors, as applicable, that must be complied with when handling the personal 
data of EU or UK based data subjects, including: providing expanded disclosures about how their personal data will be 
used; higher standards for organizations to demonstrate that they have obtained valid consent or have another legal basis 
in place to justify their data processing activities; the obligation to appoint data protection officers in certain 
circumstances; new rights for individuals to be “forgotten” and rights to data portability, as well as enhanced current 
rights (e.g., access requests); the principal of accountability and demonstrating compliance through policies, procedures, 
training and audit; and a new mandatory data breach regime. In particular, medical or health data, genetic data and 
biometric data are all classified as “special category” data under the GDPR and afford greater protection and require 
additional compliance obligations. Further, the UK and EU member states have a broad right to impose additional 
conditions—including restrictions—on these data categories. This is because the GDPR allows EU member states to 
derogate from the requirements of the GDPR mainly in regard to specific processing situations (including special 
category data and processing for scientific or statistical purposes). We must comply with laws and regulations associated 
with the international transfer of personal data based on the location in which the personal data originates and the 
location in which it is processed and/or controlled. Although there are legal mechanisms to facilitate the transfer of 
personal data from the UK,  EEA, and Switzerland to the United States, the decision of the Court of Justice of the EU 
(CJEU) that invalidated the safe harbor framework has increased uncertainty around compliance with EU privacy law 
requirements. As a result of the decision, it was no longer possible to rely on safe harbor certification as a legal basis for 
the transfer of personal data from the European Union to entities in the United States. However, on July 10, 2023, the 
European Commission adopted an adequacy decision for a new mechanism for transferring data from the EU to the 
United States – the EU-U.S. Data Privacy Framework, which provides EU individuals with several new rights, including 
the right to obtain access to their data, or obtain correction or deletion of incorrect or unlawfully handled data. That 
being said, we have not yet self-certified under the Data Privacy Framework. The GDPR only permits exports of 
personal data outside of the EU to “non-adequate” countries where there is a suitable data transfer mechanism in place to 
safeguard personal data (e.g., the EU Commission approved Standard Contractual Clauses or certification under the 
newly-adopted Data Privacy Framework). On July 16, 2020, the Court of Justice of the EU, or the CJEU, issued a 
landmark opinion in the case Maximilian Schrems vs. Facebook (Case C-311/18) (Schrems II). This decision calls into 
question certain data transfer mechanisms as between the EU member states and the U.S. The CJEU is the highest court 
in Europe and the Schrems II decision heightened the burden to assess U.S. national security laws on their business, and 
future actions of EU data protection authorities are difficult to predict at this time. While the newly-adopted Data 
Privacy Framework was meant to address the concerns raised by the CJEU in Schrems II, it will likely be subject to 
future legal challenges. Consequently, there is some risk of any data transfers from the EU being halted. If we have to 
rely on third parties to carry out services for us, including processing personal data on our behalf, we are required under 
GDPR to enter into contractual arrangements to flow down or help ensure that these third parties only process such data 
according to our instructions and have sufficient security measures in place. Any security breach or non-compliance with 
our contractual terms or breach of applicable law by such third parties could result in enforcement actions, litigation, 
fines and penalties or adverse publicity and could cause customers to lose trust in us, which would have an adverse 
impact on our reputation and business. Any contractual arrangements requiring the processing of personal data from the 
EU to us in the U.S. will require greater scrutiny and assessments as required under Schrems II and may have an adverse 
impact on cross-border transfers of personal data or increase costs of compliance. The GDPR provides an enforcement 
authority to impose large penalties for noncompliance, including the potential for fines of up to €20 million or 4% of the 
annual global revenues of the noncompliant company, whichever is greater. Some customers or other service providers 
may respond to these evolving laws and regulations by asking us to make certain privacy or data-related contractual 
commitments that we are unable or unwilling to make. This could lead to the loss of current or prospective customers or 
other business relationships. 

The privacy and security of personally identifiable information stored, maintained, received or transmitted, 
including electronically, is subject to significant regulation in the United States and abroad. While we strive to comply 
with all applicable privacy and security laws and regulations, legal standards for privacy continue to evolve and any 
failure or perceived failure to comply may result in proceedings or actions against us by government entities or others, or 
could cause reputational harm, which could have a material adverse effect on our business. 

Numerous foreign, federal and state laws and regulations govern collection, dissemination, use and confidentiality 
of personally identifiable health information, including state privacy and confidentiality laws (including state laws 
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requiring disclosure of breaches); federal and state consumer protection and employment laws; HIPAA; and European 
and other international data protection laws. These laws and regulations are increasing in complexity and number, may 
change frequently and sometimes conflict. 

HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act (HITECH),  
establishes a set of U.S. national privacy and security standards for the protection of individually identifiable health 
information, including protected health information, or PHI, by health plans, certain healthcare clearinghouses and 
healthcare providers that submit certain covered transactions electronically, or covered entities, and their “business 
associates,” which are persons or entities that perform certain services for, or on behalf of, a covered entity that involve 
creating, receiving, maintaining or transmitting PHI. While we are not currently a covered entity or business associate 
under HIPAA, we may receive identifiable information from these entities. Failure to receive this information properly 
could subject us to HIPAA’s criminal penalties, which may include fines up to $50,000 per violation and/or 
imprisonment. In addition, responding to government investigations regarding alleged violations of these and other laws 
and regulations, even if ultimately concluded with no findings of violations or no penalties imposed, can consume 
company resources and impact our business and, if public, harm our reputation. 

In the United States, various federal and state regulators, including governmental agencies like the Federal Trade 
Commission, have promulgated, or are considering promulgating, regulations concerning personal information and data 
securityIn addition to fines and penalties imposed upon violators, some of these state laws also afford private rights of 
action to individuals who believe their personal information has been misused. California’s patient privacy laws, for 
example, provide for penalties of up to $250,000 and permit injured parties to sue for damages. In addition, The 
California Consumer Privacy Act (“CCPA”) went into effect January 1, 2020, and is one of the most restrictive state 
privacy laws, protecting a wide variety of personal information and granting significant rights to California residents 
with respect to their personal information. Regulations under CCPA have been modified several times, and continue to 
be modified. Additionally, a new privacy law, the California Privacy Rights Act, (“CPRA”) was approved by California 
voters in the election of November 3, 2020 and went into effect in January of 2023. The CPRA modified the CCPA 
significantly, and may result in further uncertainty, additional costs and expenses stemming from efforts to comply with 
this law, and increases the potential for harm and liability for failure to comply. Among other things, the CPRA 
established a new regulatory authority, the California Privacy Protection Agency, which is enacting new regulations and 
has expanded enforcement authority. Other states have implemented similar laws protecting identifiable health and 
personal information, and most such laws differ from each other in significant ways and may not be preempted by 
HIPAA, thus complicating compliance efforts. In addition, various states, such as California, Colorado, Connecticut, 
New Jersey, Delaware, Utah, Virginia, Oregon, Indiana, Iowa, Tennessee, Montana, Florida and Texas , have 
implemented similar privacy laws and regulations. 

The interplay of federal and state laws may be subject to varying interpretations by courts and government agencies, 
creating complex compliance issues for us and our clients and potentially exposing us to additional expense, adverse 
publicity and liability. Further, as regulatory focus on privacy issues continues to increase and laws and regulations 
concerning the protection of personal information expand and become more complex, these potential risks to our 
business could intensify.  

The legislative and regulatory landscape for privacy and data security continues to evolve, and there has been an 
increasing focus on privacy and data security issues which may affect our business. Failure to comply with current and 
future laws and regulations could result in government enforcement actions (including the imposition of significant 
penalties), criminal and civil liability for us and our officers and directors, private litigation and/or adverse publicity that 
negatively affects our business. 

Defending against claims relating to improper handling, storage or disposal of hazardous chemical, radioactive or 
biological materials could be time consuming and expensive. 

Our research and development involves the controlled use of hazardous materials, including chemicals, radioactive 
and biological materials such as chemical solvents, phosphorus and bacteria. Our operations produce hazardous waste 
products. We cannot eliminate the risk of accidental contamination or discharge and any resultant injury from those 
materials. Various laws and regulations govern the use, manufacture, storage, handling and disposal of hazardous 
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materials. We may be sued for any injury or contamination that results from our use or the use by third parties of these 
materials. Compliance with environmental laws and regulations may be expensive, and current or future environmental 
regulations may impair our research, development and production efforts. 

Our business and operations would suffer in the event of system failures. 

Despite the implementation of security measures, our internal computer systems, and those of our CROs and other 
third parties on which we rely, are vulnerable to damage from computer viruses, unauthorized access, natural disasters, 
terrorism, war and telecommunication and electrical failures. If such an event were to occur and cause interruptions in 
our operations, it could result in a material disruption of our drug development programs. For example, the loss of 
clinical trial data from completed or ongoing or planned clinical trials could result in delays in our regulatory approval 
efforts and significantly increase our costs to recover or reproduce the data. To the extent that any disruption or security 
breach were to result in a loss of or damage to our data or applications, or inappropriate disclosure of confidential or 
proprietary information, we could incur liability and the further development of our product candidates could be delayed. 

Risks Related to Our Business and Financial Condition 

We have a history of operating losses and we may never become profitable. Our stock is a highly speculative 
investment. 

We have incurred operating losses in each year since beginning operations in 1996 due to costs incurred in 
connection with our research and development activities and selling, general and administrative costs associated with our 
operations, and we may never achieve profitability. As of December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2023, our accumulated 
deficit was $405.7 million and $428.3 million, respectively. Our net loss was $21.2 million and $22.5 million for the 
years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023, respectively. Our drug candidates are in the early- to mid-stages of clinical 
testing and we must conduct significant additional clinical trials before we can seek the regulatory approvals necessary 
to begin commercial sales of our drugs. We expect to incur continued losses for several years as we continue our 
research and development of our drug candidates, seek regulatory approvals and commercialize any approved drugs. If 
our drug candidates are unsuccessful in clinical trials or we are unable to obtain regulatory approvals, or if our drugs are 
unsuccessful in the market, we will not be profitable. If we fail to become and remain profitable, or if we are unable to 
fund our continuing losses, particularly in light of the current economic conditions, you could lose all or part of your 
investment. 

There is substantial doubt regarding our ability to continue as a going concern. Our ability to raise additional capital 
in the future may not be available to us on reasonable terms, if at all, when or as we require additional funding. If we 
issue additional shares of our common stock or other securities that may be convertible into, or exercisable or 
exchangeable for, our common stock, our existing stockholders would experience further dilution. If we fail to obtain 
additional funding, we may be unable to complete the development and commercialization of our lead drug 
candidates, fadraciclib and plogosertib, or continue to fund our research and development programs. 

We have funded all of our operations and capital expenditures with proceeds from the issuance of public equity 
securities, private placements of our securities, interest on investments, licensing revenue, government grants, research 
and development tax credits and product revenue. In order to conduct the lengthy and expensive research, preclinical 
testing and clinical trials necessary to complete the development and marketing of our drug candidates, we will require 
substantial additional funds. We may have insufficient public equity available for issue to raise the required additional 
substantial funds to implement our operating plan and we may not be able to obtain the appropriate stockholder 
approvals necessary to increase our available public equity for issuance within a time that we may require additional 
funding. As of December 31, 2023, our cash and cash equivalents were $3.4 million. Based on our current operating 
plan, there is substantial doubt regarding our ability to continue as a going concern for a period of one year after the date 
that our financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2023 are issued. To meet our long-term financing 
requirements, we may raise funds through public or private equity offerings, debt financings or strategic alliances. 
Raising additional funds by issuing equity or convertible debt securities may cause our stockholders to experience 
substantial dilution in their ownership interests and new investors may have rights superior to the rights of our other 
stockholders. To the extent equity valuations, including the trading price of our common stock, are depressed as a result 



46 

of economic disruptions or other uncertainties, for example due to rising inflationary pressures, ongoing military 
conflicts or other factors, the potential magnitude of this dilution will increase. Raising additional funds through debt 
financing, if available, may involve covenants that restrict our business activities and options. To the extent that we raise 
additional funds through collaborations and licensing arrangements, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our 
drug discovery and other technologies, research programs or drug candidates, or grant licenses on terms that may not be 
favorable to us. Additional funding may not be available to us on favorable terms, or at all, particularly in light of the 
current economic conditions. Changes to United Kingdom tax legislation related to research and development tax credits 
may reduce or eliminate the cash flow benefit we receive from these tax credits. If we are unable to obtain additional 
funds, we may be forced to delay or terminate our current clinical trials and the development and marketing of our drug 
candidates including fadraciclib and plogosertib.  

Unstable market and economic conditions may have serious adverse consequences on our business, financial 
condition and stock price. 

As widely reported, global credit and financial markets have experienced extreme disruptions in the past several 
years, including severely diminished liquidity and credit availability, declines in consumer confidence, declines in 
economic growth, increases in unemployment rates, and uncertainty about economic stability. There can be no assurance 
that further deterioration in credit and financial markets and confidence in economic conditions will not continue to 
occur. Our general business strategy may be adversely affected by any such economic downturn, volatile business 
environment or continued unpredictable and unstable market conditions. If the current financial markets deteriorate, or 
do not improve, it may make any necessary financing more difficult, more costly, and more dilutive. Failure to secure 
any necessary financing in a timely manner and on favorable terms could have a material adverse effect on our growth 
strategy, financial performance and stock price and could require us to delay or abandon clinical development or other 
operating or strategic plans for our business. 

Inadequate funding for the FDA, the SEC and other government agencies could hinder their ability to hire and 
retain key leadership and other personnel, prevent new products and services from being developed or 
commercialized in a timely manner or otherwise prevent those agencies from performing normal business functions 
on which the operation of our business may rely, which could negatively impact our business. 

The ability of the FDA to review and approve new products can be affected by a variety of factors, including 
government budget and funding levels, ability to hire and retain key personnel and accept the payment of user fees, and 
statutory, regulatory, and policy changes. Average review times at the agency have fluctuated in recent years as a result. 
In addition, government funding of the SEC and other government agencies on which our operations may rely, including 
those that fund research and development activities is subject to the political process, which is inherently fluid and 
unpredictable. 

Disruptions at the FDA and other agencies may also slow the time necessary for new drugs to be reviewed and/or 
approved by necessary government agencies, which would adversely affect our business. If a prolonged government 
shutdown occurs, it could significantly impact the ability of the FDA to timely review and process our regulatory 
submissions, which could have a material adverse effect on our business. Further, upon completion of this offering and 
in our operations as a public company, future government shutdowns could impact our ability to access the public 
markets and obtain necessary capital in order to properly capitalize and continue our operations. 

Our employees, independent contractors, principal investigators, contract research organizations, consultants or 
vendors may engage in misconduct or other improper activities, including noncompliance with regulatory standards 
and requirements.  

We are exposed to the risk that our employees, independent contractors, principal investigators, contract research 
organizations, consultants or vendors may engage in fraudulent or other illegal activity. Misconduct by these parties 
could include intentional, reckless and/or negligent conduct or disclosure of unauthorized activities to us that violates: 
FDA regulations, including those laws requiring the reporting of true, complete and accurate information to the FDA; 
manufacturing standards; federal and state health care fraud and abuse laws and regulations; or laws that require the true, 
complete and accurate reporting of financial information or data. In addition, sales, marketing and business arrangements 
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in the health care industry are subject to extensive laws and regulations intended to prevent fraud, kickbacks, self-dealing 
and other abusive practices. These laws and regulations may restrict or prohibit a wide range of pricing, discounting, 
marketing and promotion, sales commission, customer incentive programs and other business arrangements. Activities 
subject to these laws also involve the improper use or misrepresentation of information obtained in the course of clinical 
trials or creating fraudulent data in our nonclinical studies or clinical trials, which could result in regulatory sanctions 
and serious harm to our reputation.  

It is not always possible to identify and deter misconduct by our employees and other third parties, and the 
precautions we take to detect and prevent this activity may not be effective in controlling unknown or unmanaged risks 
or losses or in protecting us from governmental investigations or other actions or lawsuits stemming from a failure to be 
in compliance with such laws or regulations. Additionally, we are subject to the risk that a person could allege such 
fraud or other misconduct, even if none occurred. If any such actions are instituted against us, and we are not successful 
in defending ourselves or asserting our rights, those actions could have a significant impact on our business, including 
the imposition of civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages, monetary fines, possible exclusion from 
participation in Medicare, Medicaid and other federal health care programs, contractual damages, reputational harm, 
diminished potential profits and future earnings, and curtailment of our operations, any of which could adversely affect 
our business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects. 

If we are unable to compete successfully in our marketplace, it will harm our business. 

There are existing products in the marketplace that compete with our products. Companies may develop new 
products that compete with our products. Certain of these competitors and potential competitors have longer operating 
histories, substantially greater product development capabilities and financial, scientific, marketing and sales resources. 
Competitors and potential competitors may also develop products that are safer, more effective or have other potential 
advantages compared to our products. In addition, research, development and commercialization efforts by others could 
render our products obsolete or non-competitive. Certain of our competitors and potential competitors have broader 
product offerings and extensive customer bases, allowing them to adopt aggressive pricing policies that would enable 
them to gain market share. Competitive pressures could result in price reductions, reduced margins and loss of market 
share. We could encounter potential customers that, due to existing relationships with our competitors, are committed to 
products offered by those competitors. As a result, those potential customers may not consider purchasing our products. 

We are at an early stage of development as a company and we do not have, and may never have, any products that 
generate significant revenues. 

We are at an early stage of development as a company and have a limited operating history on which to evaluate 
our business and prospects. We cannot guarantee that any of our product candidates currently in development will ever 
become marketable products. We must demonstrate that our drug candidates satisfy rigorous standards of safety and 
efficacy for their intended uses before the FDA, EMA and other regulatory authorities in the United States, the European 
Union and elsewhere. Significant additional research, preclinical testing and clinical testing is required before we can 
file applications with the FDA or EMA for approval of our drug candidates. In addition, to compete effectively, our 
drugs must be easy to administer, cost-effective and economical to manufacture on a commercial scale. We may not 
achieve any of these objectives. We cannot be certain that the clinical development of our drug candidates in preclinical 
testing or clinical development will be successful, that we will receive regulatory approvals required to commercialize 
them or that any of our other research and drug discovery programs will yield a drug candidate suitable for investigation 
through clinical trials. Our commercial revenues from our product candidates currently in development, if any, will be 
derived from sales of drugs that will not become marketable for several years, if at all. 

If we fail to comply with the continued listing requirements of the Nasdaq Capital Market, our common stock may be 
delisted and the price of our common stock and our ability to access the capital markets could be negatively impacted.   

Our common stock is currently listed for trading on the Nasdaq Capital Market (“Nasdaq”). We must satisfy 
Nasdaq’s continued listing requirements, including, among other things, a minimum stockholders’ equity of $2.5 million 
and a minimum bid price for our common stock of $1.00 per share, or risk delisting, which would have a material 
adverse effect on our business. A delisting of our common stock from the Nasdaq Capital Market could materially 
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reduce the liquidity of our common stock and result in a corresponding material reduction in the price of our common 
stock. In addition, delisting could harm our ability to raise capital through alternative financing sources on terms 
acceptable to us, or at all, and may result in the potential loss of confidence by investors, suppliers, customers and 
employees and fewer business development opportunities. 

We effected a 15:1 reverse stock split of our common stock on December 18, 2023 (the “Reverse Stock Split”), 
which enabled us to regain compliance with Nasdaq’s minimum bid price requirements. Notwithstanding the Reverse 
Stock Split and our compliance with the Nasdaq Capital market requirements, we cannot be sure that our share price will 
continue to comply with the requirements for continued listing of our common stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market in 
the future, or that we will continue to comply with the other continued listing requirements. If our shares of Common 
Stock lose their status on the Nasdaq Capital Market, we believe that our shares of Common Stock would likely be 
eligible to be quoted on the inter-dealer electronic quotation and trading system operated by Pink OTC Markets Inc., 
commonly referred to as the Pink Sheets and now known as the OTCQB market. Our shares of Common Stock may also 
be quoted on the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board, an electronic quotation service maintained by the Financial Industry 
Regulatory Authority. These markets are generally not considered to be as efficient as, and not as broad as, the Nasdaq 
Capital Market. Selling our shares of Common Stock on these markets could be more difficult because smaller quantities 
of shares would likely be bought and sold, and transactions could be delayed. In addition, in the event our shares of 
Common Stock are delisted, broker-dealers have certain regulatory burdens imposed upon them, which may discourage 
broker-dealers from effecting transactions in our Common Stock, further limiting the liquidity of our Common Stock. 
These factors could result in lower prices and larger spreads in the bid and ask prices for our Common Stock. 

To the extent we elect to fund the development of a drug candidate or the commercialization of a drug at our expense, 
we will need substantial additional funding. 

We plan to market drugs on our own, with or without a partner, that can be effectively commercialized and sold in 
concentrated markets that do not require a large sales force to be competitive. To achieve this goal, we will need to 
establish our own specialized sales force, marketing organization and supporting distribution capabilities. The 
development and commercialization of our drug candidates is very expensive. To the extent we elect to fund the full 
development of a drug candidate or the commercialization of a drug at our expense, we will need to raise substantial 
additional funding to: 

• fund research and development and clinical trials connected with our research; 

• fund clinical trials and seek regulatory approvals; 

• build or access manufacturing and commercialization capabilities; 

• implement additional internal control systems and infrastructure; 

• commercialize and secure coverage, payment and reimbursement of our drug candidates, if any such candidates 
receive regulatory approval; 

• maintain, defend and expand the scope of our intellectual property; and 

• hire additional management, sales and scientific personnel. 

Our future funding requirements will depend on many factors, including: 

• the scope, rate of progress and cost of our clinical trials and other research and development activities; 

• the costs and timing of seeking and obtaining regulatory approvals; 

• the costs of filing, prosecuting, defending and enforcing any patent claims and other intellectual property rights; 

• the costs associated with establishing sales and marketing capabilities; 

• the costs of acquiring or investing in businesses, products and technologies; 

• the effect of competing technological and market developments; and 



49 

• the payment, other terms and timing of any strategic alliance, licensing or other arrangements that we may 
establish. 

If we are not able to secure additional funding when needed, especially in light of the current economic conditions 
and financial market turmoil, we may have to delay, reduce the scope of or eliminate one or more of our clinical trials or 
research and development programs or future commercialization efforts. 

Our insurance policies are expensive and only protect us from some business risks, which will leave us exposed to 
significant uninsured liabilities. 

We do not carry insurance for all categories of risk that our business may encounter. Some of the policies we 
currently maintain include property, general liability, employment benefits liability, workers’ compensation, products 
liability and clinical trials (U.S. and foreign), and directors’ and officers’, employment practices and fiduciary liability 
insurance. We do not know, however, if we will be able to maintain insurance with adequate levels of coverage. Any 
significant uninsured liability may require us to pay substantial amounts, which would adversely affect our financial 
position and results of operations. 

Funding constraints may negatively impact our research and development, forcing us to delay our efforts to develop 
certain product candidates in favor of developing others, which may prevent us from commercializing our product 
candidates as quickly as possible. 

Research and development is an expensive process. As part of our operating plan, we have decided to concentrate 
our clinical development strategy on our two ongoing, hemato-oncology clinical programs in transcriptional regulation 
and mitosis control biology, which include our areas of historical expertise in CDK and PLK inhibitors. Because we 
have to prioritize our development candidates as a result of budget constraints, we may not be able to fully realize the 
value of our product candidates in a timely manner, if at all. 

We are exposed to risks related to foreign currency exchange rates. 

Some of our costs and expenses are denominated in foreign currencies. Most of our foreign expenses are associated 
with our research and development expenditures, including the operating costs of our United Kingdom-based wholly 
owned subsidiary. When the United States dollar weakens against the British pound or the Euro, the United States dollar 
value of the foreign currency denominated expense increases, and when the United States dollar strengthens against the 
British pound or the Euro, the United States dollar value of the foreign currency denominated expense decreases. 
Consequently, changes in exchange rates, and in particular a weakening of the United States dollar, may adversely affect 
our results of operations. 

Security incidents, loss of data and other disruptions could compromise sensitive information related to our business 
or prevent us from accessing critical information and expose us to liability, which could adversely affect our business 
and our reputation. Our business and operations would suffer in the event of system failures. 

In the ordinary course of our business, we collect and store sensitive data, intellectual property and proprietary 
business information owned or controlled by ourselves or our customers. This data encompasses a wide variety of 
business-critical information including research and development information, commercial information, and business 
and financial information. We face four primary risks relative to protecting this critical information: loss of access; 
unauthorized disclosure; unauthorized modification; and inadequate monitoring of our controls over the first three risks. 

We utilize information technology, or IT, systems and networks to process, transmit and store electronic information 
in connection with our business activities. The secure processing, storage, maintenance, and transmission of this critical 
information is vital to our operations and business strategy, and we devote significant resources to protecting such 
information. As use of digital technologies has increased, cyber incidents, including deliberate attacks and attempts to 
gain unauthorized access to computer systems and networks, have increased in frequency and sophistication. These 
threats pose a risk to the security of our systems and networks and the confidentiality, availability and integrity of our 
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data. There can be no assurance that we will be successful in preventing cybersecurity incidents or successfully 
mitigating their effects. 

Despite the implementation of security measures, our internal and cloud-based computer systems and those of our 
contractors and consultants are vulnerable to damage from such cybersecurity incidents, including computer viruses, 
social engineering, unauthorized access, natural disasters, terrorism, war and telecommunication and electrical failures. 
Such an event could cause interruption of our operations. For example, the loss of data from ongoing or completed 
clinical trials for our product candidates could result in delays in our regulatory approval efforts and significantly 
increase our costs. In addition, there can be no assurance that we will promptly detect any such disruption or security 
breach, if at all. To the extent that any disruption or security breach were to result in a loss of or damage to our data, or 
inappropriate disclosure of confidential or proprietary information, we could suffer material legal claims and liability, 
damage to our reputation, suffer loss or harm to our intellectual property rights and the further research, development 
and commercial efforts of our products and product candidates could be delayed. The loss of drug development or 
clinical trial data could result in delays in our regulatory approval efforts and significantly increase our costs to recover 
or reproduce the data and could adversely impact our business and operations, and could result in financial, legal, 
operational or reputational harm to us, loss of competitive advantage or loss of consumer confidence. 

Risks Related to our Reliance on Third Parties 

We rely, and expect to continue to rely, on third parties to conduct some aspects of our product formulation, research, 
preclinical, and clinical studies, and those third parties may not perform satisfactorily, including by failing to meet 
deadlines for the completion of such formulation, research or testing. 

We have relied upon and plan to continue to rely upon third parties, including independent clinical investigators, 
contracted laboratories and third-party CROs, to conduct our preclinical studies and clinical trials, as well as certain 
product candidate discovery and development activities, in accordance with applicable regulatory requirements and to 
monitor and manage data for our ongoing preclinical and clinical programs. We rely on these parties for execution of our 
preclinical studies and clinical trials, and control only certain aspects of their activities. Nevertheless, we are responsible 
for ensuring that each of our studies and trials is conducted in accordance with the applicable protocol, legal and 
regulatory requirements and scientific standards, and our reliance on these third parties does not relieve us of our 
regulatory responsibilities. We and our third-party contractors and CROs are required to comply with GLP and GCP 
requirements, as applicable, which are regulations and guidelines enforced by the FDA, the EMA and other comparable 
foreign regulatory authorities for all of our products in clinical development. Regulatory authorities enforce these GLP 
and GCP regulations through periodic inspections of laboratories conducting GLP studies, and clinical trial sponsors, 
principal investigators, CROs, and trial sites when auditing for GCP compliance. If we, our investigators or any of our 
CROs or contracted laboratories fail to comply with applicable GLP and GCP regulations, as applicable, the data 
generated in our preclinical studies and clinical trials may be deemed unreliable and the FDA, the EMA or other 
comparable foreign regulatory authorities may require us to perform additional preclinical studies or clinical trials before 
approving our marketing applications for our therapeutic product candidates. We cannot assure you that upon inspection 
by a given regulatory authority, such regulatory authority will determine that any of our preclinical studies or clinical 
trials comply with applicable GLP or GCP regulations. In addition, our clinical trials must be conducted with product 
manufactured in compliance with applicable cGMP regulations. Our failure to comply with these regulations may 
require us to repeat preclinical studies or clinical trials, which would delay the regulatory approval process.  

Further, these laboratories, investigators and CROs are not our employees, and we will not be able to control, other 
than by contract, the amount of resources, including time, which they devote to our product candidates and clinical trials. 
If independent laboratories, investigators or CROs fail to devote sufficient resources to the development of our product 
candidates, or if their performance is substandard, it may delay or compromise the prospects for approval and 
commercialization of any product candidates that we develop. In addition, the use of third-party service providers 
requires us to disclose our proprietary information to these parties, which could increase the risk that this information 
will be misappropriated.  

There is a limited number of third-party service providers that specialize or have the expertise required to achieve 
our business objectives. If any of our relationships with these third-party laboratories, CROs or clinical investigators 
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terminate, we may not be able to enter into arrangements with alternative laboratories, CROs or investigators or to do so 
in a timely manner or on commercially reasonable terms. If laboratories, CROs or clinical investigators do not 
successfully carry out their contractual duties or obligations or meet expected deadlines, if they need to be replaced or if 
the quality or accuracy of the clinical data they obtain is compromised due to the failure to adhere to our preclinical or 
clinical protocols, regulatory requirements or for other reasons, our preclinical studies or clinical trials may be extended, 
delayed or terminated and we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval for or successfully commercialize our 
product candidates. As a result, our results of operations and the commercial prospects for our product candidates would 
be harmed, our costs could increase and our ability to generate revenues could be delayed.  

Switching or adding additional laboratories or CROs (or investigators) involves additional cost and requires 
management time and focus. In addition, there is a natural transition period when a new laboratory or CRO commences 
work. As a result, delays occur, which can materially impact our ability to meet our desired clinical development 
timelines. Though we carefully manage our relationships with our contracted laboratories and CROs, there can be no 
assurance that we will not encounter similar challenges or delays in the future or that these delays or challenges will not 
have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

In addition, clinical investigators may serve as scientific advisors or consultants to us from time to time and may 
receive cash compensation in connection with such services. If these relationships and any related compensation result in 
perceived or actual conflicts of interest, or the FDA concludes that the financial relationship may have affected the 
interpretation of the preclinical study or clinical trial, the integrity of the data generated at the applicable preclinical 
study or clinical trial site may be questioned and the utility of the preclinical study or clinical trial itself may be 
jeopardized, which could result in the delay or rejection by the FDA. Any such delay or rejection could prevent us from 
commercializing our clinical-stage product candidate or any future therapeutic product candidates it may develop. 

We rely on third-party supply and manufacturing partners for drug supplies for our late-stage clinical activities and 
may do the same for any commercial supplies of our product candidates. 

We rely on third-party contract manufacturing organizations, or CMOs, for our preclinical and future clinical trial 
product materials and commercial supplies. We do not intend to produce any meaningful quantity of our future product 
candidates for preclinical and clinical development through our internal resources, and we do not currently own 
manufacturing facilities for producing such supplies. While we intend to try to avoid sole-source arrangements with any 
of our manufacturing, supply and testing vendors, it may not always be possible to do so. We cannot assure you that our 
preclinical or future clinical development product supplies and commercial supplies will not be limited or interrupted, 
especially with respect to any sole source third-party manufacturing and supply partners or will be of satisfactory quality 
or continue to be available at acceptable prices. In particular, any replacement of our manufacturers could require 
significant effort and expertise because there may be a limited number of qualified replacements.  

In complying with the manufacturing regulations of the FDA and other comparable foreign regulatory authorities, 
we and our third-party suppliers must spend significant time, money and effort in the areas of design and development, 
testing, production, record-keeping and quality control to assure that the products meet applicable specifications and 
other regulatory requirements. Suppliers and manufacturers must meet applicable manufacturing requirements and 
undergo rigorous facility and process validation tests required by regulatory authorities in order to comply with 
regulatory standards, such as cGMP. Although our agreements with our CMOs require them to perform according to 
certain cGMP requirements such as those relating to quality control, quality assurance and qualified personnel, we 
cannot control the conduct of our CMOs to implement and maintain these standards. In the event that any of our current 
or future manufacturers fails to comply with such requirements or to perform its obligations to us in relation to quality, 
timing or otherwise, or if our supply of components or other materials becomes limited or interrupted for other reasons, 
we may be forced to manufacture the materials ourselves, for which we currently do not have the capabilities or 
resources, or enter into an agreement with another third party, which we may not be able to do on commercially 
reasonable terms, or at all. In some cases, the technical skills or technology required to manufacture our future product 
candidates may be unique or proprietary to the original manufacturer and we may have difficulty transferring such skills 
or technology to another third party and a feasible alternative may not exist. These factors would increase our reliance on 
such manufacturer or require us to obtain a license from such manufacturer in order to have another third party 
manufacture our product candidates. If we are required to change manufacturers for any reason, we will be required to 
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verify that the new manufacturer maintains facilities and procedures that comply with quality standards and with all 
applicable regulations and guidelines. The delays associated with the verification of a new manufacturer could 
negatively affect our ability to develop product candidates in a timely manner or within budget. 

In addition, our CMOs are subject to inspection and approval by regulatory authorities before we can commence the 
manufacture and sale of any of our product candidates, and thereafter are subject to ongoing inspection from time to 
time. Our CMOs may not be able to comply with applicable cGMP regulations or similar regulatory requirements 
outside of the United States. Our failure, or the failure of our third-party manufacturers, to comply with applicable 
regulations could result in regulatory actions, such as the issuance of FDA Form 483 notices of observations, warning 
letters or sanctions being imposed on us, including clinical holds, fines, injunctions, civil penalties, delays, suspension or 
withdrawal of approvals, license revocation, seizures or recalls of product candidates or drugs, operating restrictions and 
criminal prosecutions, any of which could significantly and adversely affect supplies of our products. Any such failure 
by us or any of our CMOs would significantly impact our ability to develop, obtain regulatory approval for or, if 
approved, market our product candidates. 

We may rely on third-party manufacturers if we receive regulatory approval for any product candidate. To the extent 
that we have existing, or enter into future, manufacturing arrangements with third parties, we will depend on these third 
parties to perform their obligations in a timely manner consistent with contractual and regulatory requirements, including 
those related to quality control and assurance. If we are unable to obtain or maintain third-party manufacturing for 
product candidates, or to do so on commercially reasonable terms, we may not be able to develop and commercialize our 
product candidates successfully. Our or a third-party’s failure to execute on our manufacturing requirements could 
adversely affect our business in a number of ways, including:  

• an inability to initiate or continue clinical trials of product candidates under development, which may impact 
our potential economic benefits;  

• delay in submitting regulatory applications, or receiving regulatory approvals, for product candidates;  

• loss of the cooperation of a collaborator;  

• subjecting our product candidates to additional inspections by regulatory authorities;  

• requirements to cease distribution or to recall batches of our product candidates; and  

• in the event of approval to market and commercialize a product candidate, an inability to meet commercial 
demands for our products.  

If we fail to enter into and maintain successful strategic alliances for our drug candidates, we may have to reduce or 
delay our drug candidate development or increase our expenditures. 

An important element of our strategy for developing, manufacturing and commercializing our drug candidates is 
entering into strategic alliances with pharmaceutical companies, research institutions or other industry participants to 
advance our programs and enable us to maintain our financial and operational capacity. 

We face significant competition in seeking appropriate alliances. We may not be able to negotiate alliances on 
acceptable terms, if at all. In addition, these alliances may be unsuccessful. If we fail to create and maintain suitable 
alliances, we may have to limit the size or scope of, or delay, one or more of our drug development or research 
programs. If we elect to fund drug development or research programs on our own, we will have to increase our 
expenditures and will need to obtain additional funding, which may be unavailable or available only on unfavorable 
terms. 

To the extent we are able to enter into strategic transactions, we will be exposed to risks related to those 
collaborations and alliances. 

We expect to enter into strategic transactions to complete the development and commercialization of some of our 
drug candidates, including but not limited to after the Phase 2 stage of clinical testing. These arrangements may place the 
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development of our drug candidates outside our control, may require us to relinquish important rights, or may otherwise 
be on terms unfavorable to us. 

Dependence on collaborative arrangements or strategic alliances will subject us to a number of risks, including the 
risks that: 

• we may not be able to control the amount and timing of resources that our collaborators may devote to the drug 
candidates; 

• our collaborators may experience financial difficulties; 

• we may be required to relinquish important rights such as marketing and distribution rights; 

• business combinations or significant changes in a collaborator’s business strategy may also adversely affect a 
collaborator’s willingness or ability to complete its obligations under any arrangement; 

• a collaborator could independently move forward with a competing drug candidate developed either 
independently or in collaboration with others, including our competitors; and 

• collaborative arrangements are often terminated or allowed to expire, which would delay development and may 
increase the cost of developing our drug candidates. 

Risks Related to our Intellectual Property 

If we fail to enforce adequately or defend our intellectual property rights, our business may be harmed.   

Our commercial success depends in large part on obtaining and maintaining patent and trade secret protection for 
our drug candidates, the methods used to manufacture those drug candidates and the methods for treating patients using 
those drug candidates. 

Our ability to obtain patents is uncertain because legal means afford only limited protections and may not 
adequately protect our rights or permit us to gain or keep any competitive advantage. Some legal principles remain 
unresolved and the breadth or interpretation of claims allowed in patents in the United States, the European Union or 
elsewhere can still be difficult to ascertain or predict. In addition, the specific content of patents and patent applications 
that are necessary to support and interpret patent claims is highly uncertain due to the complex nature of the relevant 
legal, scientific and factual issues. Changes in either patent laws or in interpretations of patent laws in the United States, 
the European Union or elsewhere may diminish the value of our intellectual property or narrow the scope of our patent 
protection. Our existing patents and any future patents we obtain may not be sufficiently broad to prevent others from 
practicing our technologies or from developing competing products and technologies. In addition, we generally do not 
control the patent prosecution of subject matter that we license from others and have not controlled the earlier stages of 
the patent prosecution. Accordingly, we are unable to exercise the same degree of control over this intellectual property 
as we would over our own. 

Even if patents are issued regarding our drug candidates or methods of using them, those patents can be challenged 
by our competitors who may argue such patents are invalid and/or unenforceable. Patents also will not protect our drug 
candidates if competitors devise ways of making or using these product candidates without legally infringing our patents. 
The FDA and FDA regulations and policies and equivalents in other jurisdictions provide incentives to manufacturers to 
challenge patent validity or create modified, non-infringing versions of a drug in order to facilitate the approval of 
abbreviated new drug applications for generic substitutes. These same types of incentives encourage manufacturers to 
submit NDAs that rely on literature and clinical data not prepared for or by the drug sponsor. 

Proprietary trade secrets and unpatented know-how are also very important to our business. We rely on trade secrets 
to protect our technology, especially where we do not believe that patent protection is appropriate or obtainable. 
However, trade secrets are difficult to protect. Our employees, consultants, contractors, outside scientific collaborators 
and other advisors may unintentionally or willfully disclose our confidential information to competitors, and 
confidentiality agreements may not provide an adequate remedy in the event of unauthorized disclosure of confidential 
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information. Enforcing a claim that a third-party obtained illegally and is using trade secrets is expensive and time 
consuming, and the outcome is unpredictable. Moreover, our competitors may independently develop equivalent 
knowledge, methods and know-how. Failure to obtain or maintain trade secret protection could adversely affect our 
competitive business position. 

If we do not obtain protection under the Hatch-Waxman Act and similar legislation outside of the United States by 
extending the patent terms and obtaining data exclusivity for our product candidates, our business may be materially 
harmed. 

Depending upon the timing, duration and specifics of FDA marketing approval of our product candidates, if any, 
one or more of our United States patents may be eligible for limited patent term extension under the Drug Price 
Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984, referred to as the Hatch-Waxman Act. The Hatch-Waxman Act 
permits a patent term extension of up to five years as compensation for patent term lost during product development and 
the FDA regulatory review process. However, we may not be granted an extension because, for example, of failing to 
apply within applicable deadlines, failing to apply prior to expiration of relevant patents or otherwise failing to satisfy 
applicable requirements. Moreover, the applicable time period or the scope of patent protection afforded could be less 
than we request. If we are unable to obtain patent term extension or the term of any such extension is less than what we 
request, the period during which we will have the right to exclusively market our product will be shortened and our 
competitors may obtain approval of competing products following our patent expiration, and our revenue could be 
reduced, possibly materially. 

We may be subject to damages resulting from claims that our employees or we have wrongfully used or disclosed 
alleged trade secrets of former employers. 

Many of our employees were previously employed at universities or other biotechnology or pharmaceutical 
companies, including our competitors or potential competitors. Although no claims against us are currently pending, we 
may be subject to claims that these employees or we have inadvertently or otherwise used or disclosed trade secrets or 
other proprietary information of their former employers. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims. If 
we fail in defending such claims, in addition to paying monetary damages, we may lose valuable intellectual property 
rights or personnel. A loss of key research personnel or their work product could hamper or prevent our ability to 
commercialize certain potential drugs, which could severely harm our business. Even if we are successful in defending 
against these claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and be a distraction to management. 

Confidentiality agreements with employees and others may not adequately prevent disclosure of our trade secrets and 
other proprietary information and may not adequately protect our intellectual property, which could limit our ability 
to compete. 

Because we operate in the highly technical field of drug discovery and development of small molecule drugs, we 
rely in part on trade secret protection in order to protect our proprietary technology and processes. However, trade 
secrets are difficult to protect. We enter into confidentiality and intellectual property assignment agreements with our 
corporate partners, employees, consultants, outside scientific collaborators, sponsored researchers, and other advisors. 
These agreements generally require that the other party keep confidential and not disclose to third parties all confidential 
information developed by the party or made known to the party by us during the course of the party’s relationship with 
us. These agreements also generally provide that inventions conceived by the party in the course of rendering services to 
us will be our exclusive property. However, these agreements may not be honored and may not effectively assign 
intellectual property rights to us. Enforcing a claim that a party illegally obtained and is using our trade secrets is 
difficult, expensive and time consuming, and the outcome is unpredictable. In addition, courts outside the United States 
may be less willing to protect trade secrets. The failure to obtain or maintain trade secret protection could adversely 
affect our competitive position. 
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Intellectual property rights of third parties may increase our costs or delay or prevent us from being able to 
commercialize our drug candidates. 

There is a risk that we are infringing or will infringe on the proprietary rights of third parties because patents and 
pending applications belonging to third parties exist in the United States, the European Union and elsewhere in the world 
in the areas of our research. Others might have been the first to make the inventions covered by each of our or our 
licensors’ pending patent applications and issued patents and might have been the first to file patent applications for 
these inventions. We are aware of several published patent applications, and understand that others may exist, that could 
support claims that, if granted and held valid, could cover various aspects of our developmental programs, including in 
some cases particular uses of our drug candidates fadraciclib, plogosertib, or substances, processes and techniques that 
we use in the course of our research and development and manufacturing processes. We are aware that other patents 
exist that claim substances, processes, techniques and methods of use, which, if held valid, could potentially restrict the 
scope of our research, development or manufacturing operations. In addition, we understand that other applications and 
patents exist relating to potential uses of fadraciclib and plogosertib that are not part of our current clinical programs for 
these compounds. Numerous third-party United States and foreign issued patents and pending applications exist in the 
area of kinases, including CDK and PLK for which we have research programs. For example, some pending patent 
applications contain broad claims that could represent freedom to operate limitations for some of our kinase programs 
should they be issued unchanged. Although we intend to continue to monitor these applications, we cannot predict what 
claims will ultimately be allowed and if allowed what their scope would be. In addition, because the patent application 
process can take several years to complete, there may be currently pending applications, unknown to us, which may later 
result in issued patents that cover the production, manufacture, commercialization or use of our drug candidates. If we 
wish to use the technology or compound claimed in issued and unexpired patents owned by others, we will need to 
obtain a license from the owner, enter into litigation to challenge the validity of the patents or incur the risk of litigation 
in the event that the owner asserts that we infringe its patents. In one case we have opposed a European patent relating to 
human aurora kinase and the patent was finally revoked (with no appeal filed). 

There has been substantial litigation and other proceedings regarding patent and other intellectual property rights in 
the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries. Defending against third party claims, including litigation in particular, 
would be costly and time-consuming and would divert management’s attention from our business, which could lead to 
delays in our development or commercialization efforts. If third parties are successful in their claims, we might have to 
pay substantial damages or take other actions that are adverse to our business. As a result of intellectual property 
infringement claims, or to avoid potential claims, we might: 

• be prohibited from selling or licensing any product that we may develop unless the patent holder licenses the 
patent to us, which it is not required to do; 

• be required to pay substantial royalties or grant a cross license to our patents to another patent holder; decide to 
locate some of our research, development or manufacturing operations outside of Europe or the United States; 

• be required to pay substantial damages for past infringement, which we may have to pay if a court determines 
that our product candidates or technologies infringe a competitor’s patent or other proprietary rights; or 

• be required to redesign the manufacturing process or formulation of a drug candidate so it does not infringe, 
which may not be possible or could require substantial funds and time. 

We may incur substantial costs as a result of litigation or other proceedings relating to patent and other intellectual 
property rights. 

If we choose to go to court to stop another party from using the inventions claimed in any patents we obtain, that 
individual or company has the right to ask the court to rule that such patents are invalid or should not be enforced against 
that third party. These lawsuits are expensive and would consume time and resources and divert the attention of 
managerial and scientific personnel even if we were successful in stopping the infringement of such patents. In addition, 
there is a risk that the court will decide that such patents are not valid and that we do not have the right to stop the other 
party from using the inventions. 
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There is also a risk that, even if the validity of such patents is upheld, the court will refuse to stop the other party on 
the ground that such other party’s activities do not infringe our rights to such patents. In addition, the United States 
Supreme Court has recently modified some tests used by the United States Patent and Trademark Office, or USPTO, in 
granting patents over the past 20 years, which may decrease the likelihood that we will be able to obtain patents and 
increase the likelihood of challenge of any patents we obtain or license. 

Obtaining and maintaining our patent protection depends on compliance with various procedural, document 
submission, fee payment and other requirements imposed by governmental patent agencies, and our patent protection 
could be reduced or eliminated for non-compliance with these requirements. 

Periodic maintenance fees, renewal fees, annuity fees and various other governmental fees on patents and/or 
applications will be due to be paid to the USPTO and various governmental patent agencies outside of the United States 
in several stages over the lifetime of the patents and/or applications. We have systems in place to remind us to pay these 
fees, and we employ an outside firm and rely on our outside counsel to pay these fees. The USPTO and various non-
United States governmental patent agencies require compliance with a number of procedural, documentary, fee payment 
and other similar provisions during the patent application process. We employ reputable law firms and other 
professionals to help us comply, and in many cases, an inadvertent lapse can be cured by payment of a late fee or by 
other means in accordance with the applicable rules. However, there are situations in which noncompliance can result in 
abandonment or lapse of the patent or patent application, resulting in partial or complete loss of patent rights in the 
relevant jurisdiction. In such an event, our competitors might be able to enter the market and this circumstance would 
have a material adverse effect on our business. 

The patent applications of pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies involve highly complex legal and factual 
questions, which, if determined adversely to us, could negatively impact our patent position. 

The patent positions of pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies can be highly uncertain and involve complex 
legal and factual questions. The U.S. Patent and Trademark Office’s, or USPTO’s, standards are uncertain and could 
change in the future. Consequently, the issuance and scope of patents cannot be predicted with certainty. Patents, if 
issued, may be challenged, invalidated or circumvented. 

U.S. patents and patent applications may also be subject to interference proceedings, and U.S. patents may be 
subject to Inter Partes Review (IPR), Post Grant Review (PGR) or reexamination proceedings in the USPTO (and 
foreign patents may be subject to opposition or comparable proceedings in the corresponding foreign patent office), 
which proceedings could result in either loss of the patent or denial of the patent application or loss or reduction in the 
scope of one or more of the claims of the patent or patent application. Similarly, opposition or invalidity proceedings 
could result in loss of rights or reduction in the scope of one or more claims of a patent in foreign jurisdictions. In 
addition, such interference, reexamination and opposition proceedings may be costly. Accordingly, rights under any 
issued patents may not provide us with sufficient protection against competitive products or processes. 

If we fail to obtain and maintain patent protection and trade secret protection of our product candidates, proprietary 
technologies and their uses, we could lose our competitive advantage and competition we face would increase, reducing 
our potential revenues and adversely affecting our ability to attain or maintain profitability. 

Risks Related to Securities Regulations and Investment in Our Securities 

Failure to achieve and maintain internal controls in accordance with Sections 302 and 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley 
Act of 2002 could have a material adverse effect on our business and stock price. 

Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 requires that we maintain internal control over financial reporting 
that meets applicable standards. As with many smaller companies with small staff, material weaknesses in our financial 
controls and procedures may be discovered. If we fail to maintain our internal controls or fail to implement required new 
or improved controls, as such control standards are modified, supplemented or amended from time to time, we may not 
be able to conclude on an ongoing basis that we have effective internal controls over financial reporting. Effective 
internal controls are necessary for us to produce reliable financial reports and are important in the prevention of financial 
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fraud. If we cannot produce reliable financial reports or prevent fraud, our business and operating results could be 
harmed. 

We incur increased costs and management resources as a result of being a public company, and we may fail to 
comply with public company obligations. 

As a public company, we face and will continue to face increased legal, accounting, administrative and other costs 
and expenses that we would not incur as a private company. Compliance with the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002, as well 
as other rules of the SEC, the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board and Nasdaq resulted in a significant initial 
cost to us as well as an ongoing compliance cost. As a public company, we are subject to Section 404 of the Sarbanes 
Oxley Act relating to internal control over financial reporting. We have completed a formal process to evaluate our 
internal controls for purposes of Section 404, and we concluded that as of December 31, 2023, our internal control over 
financial reporting was effective. As our business grows and changes, there can be no assurances that we can maintain 
the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting. In addition, our independent certified public 
accounting firm has not provided an opinion on the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting for the 
year ended December 31, 2023 because we are a smaller reporting company. In the event our independent auditor is 
required to provide an opinion on such controls in the future, there is a risk that the auditor would conclude that such 
controls are ineffective. 

Effective internal controls over financial reporting are necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports and, 
together with adequate disclosure controls and procedures, are designed to prevent fraud. If we cannot provide reliable 
financial reports or prevent fraud, our operating results could be harmed. We have completed a formal process to 
evaluate our internal control over financial reporting. However, guidance from regulatory authorities in the area of 
internal controls continues to evolve and substantial uncertainty exists regarding our on-going ability to comply by 
applicable deadlines. Any failure to implement required new or improved controls, or difficulties encountered in their 
implementation, could harm our operating results or cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations. Ineffective 
internal controls could also cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial information, which could have a 
negative effect on the trading price of our common stock. 

Our common stock may have a volatile public trading price. 

An active public market for our common stock has not developed. Our stock can trade in small volumes which may 
make the price of our stock highly volatile. The last reported price of our stock may not represent the price at which you 
would be able to buy or sell the stock. The market prices for securities of companies comparable to us have been highly 
volatile. Often, these stocks have experienced significant price and volume fluctuations for reasons that are both related 
and unrelated to the operating performance of the individual companies. In addition, the stock market as a whole and 
biotechnology and other life science stocks in particular have experienced significant recent volatility. Like our common 
stock, these stocks have experienced significant price and volume fluctuations for reasons unrelated to the operating 
performance of the individual companies. Factors giving rise to this volatility may include: 

• disclosure of actual or potential clinical results with respect to product candidates we are developing; 

• regulatory developments in both the United States and abroad; 

• developments concerning proprietary rights, including patents and litigation matters; 

• public concern about the safety or efficacy of our product candidates or technology, or related technology, or 
new technologies generally; 

• concern about the safety or efficacy of our product candidates or technology, or related technology, or new 
technologies generally; 

• public announcements by our competitors or others; and 

• general market conditions and comments by securities analysts and investors. 



58 

Fluctuations in our operating losses could adversely affect the price of our common stock. 

Our operating losses may fluctuate significantly on a quarterly basis. Some of the factors that may cause our 
operating losses to fluctuate on a period-to-period basis include the status of our preclinical and clinical development 
programs, level of expenses incurred in connection with our preclinical and clinical development programs, 
implementation or termination of collaboration, licensing, manufacturing or other material agreements with third parties, 
non-recurring revenue or expenses under any such agreement, and compliance with regulatory requirements. Period-to-
period comparisons of our historical and future financial results may not be meaningful, and investors should not rely on 
them as an indication of future performance. Our fluctuating losses may fail to meet the expectations of securities 
analysts or investors. Our failure to meet these expectations may cause the price of our common stock to decline. 

If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or reports about us, if they change their recommendations 
regarding our stock adversely or if our operating results do not meet their expectations, our stock price and trading 
volume could decline. 

The trading market for our common stock is influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities 
analysts publish about us. If analysts do not publish research reports or one or more of these analysts who were 
publishing research cease coverage of us or fail to regularly publish reports on us, we could lose visibility in the financial 
markets, which in turn could cause our stock price or trading volume to decline. Moreover, if one or more of the analysts 
who cover us downgrade our stock or if our operating results do not meet their expectations, our stock price could 
decline. 

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents and provisions of Delaware law may make an acquisition more 
difficult and could result in the entrenchment of management. 

We are incorporated in Delaware. Anti-takeover provisions of Delaware law and our amended and restated 
certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws may make a change in control or efforts to remove 
management more difficult. Also, under Delaware law, our Board of Directors may adopt additional anti-takeover 
measures. 

We have the authority to issue up to 5 million shares of preferred stock and to determine the terms of those shares of 
stock without any further action by our stockholders. If the Board of Directors exercises this power to issue preferred 
stock, it could be more difficult for a third party to acquire a majority of our outstanding voting stock and vote the stock 
they acquire to remove management or directors. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended 
and restated bylaws also provides staggered terms for the members of our Board of Directors. Under Section 141 of the 
Delaware General Corporation Law, our directors may be removed by stockholders only for cause and only by vote of 
the holders of a majority of voting shares then outstanding. These provisions may prevent stockholders from replacing 
the entire board in a single proxy contest, making it more difficult for a third party to acquire control of us without the 
consent of our Board of Directors. These provisions could also delay the removal of management by the Board of 
Directors with or without cause. In addition, our directors may only be removed for cause and amended and restated 
bylaws limit the ability of our stockholders to call special meetings of stockholders. 

As at December 31, 2023, we had 335,273 shares of 6% Convertible Exchangeable Preferred Stock, 119,000 shares 
of Series B Preferred Stock and 264 shares of Series A Preferred Stock issued and outstanding. 

Under Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, a corporation may not engage in a business 
combination with any holder of 15% or more of its capital stock until the holder has held the stock for three years unless, 
among other possibilities, the Board of Directors approves the transaction. Our Board of Directors could use this 
provision to prevent changes in management. The existence of the foregoing provisions could limit the price that 
investors might be willing to pay in the future for shares of our common stock. 
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Certain severance-related agreements in our executive employment agreements may make an acquisition more 
difficult and could result in the entrenchment of management. 

In March 2008 (as subsequently amended, and most recently renewed as of January 1, 2023), we entered into 
employment agreements with our President and Chief Executive Officer and our Executive Vice President, Finance, 
Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operating Officer, which contain severance arrangements in the event that such 
executive’s employment is terminated without “cause” or as a result of a “change of control” (as each such term is 
defined in each agreement). The financial obligations triggered by these provisions may prevent a business combination 
or acquisition that would be attractive to stockholders and could limit the price that investors would be willing to pay in 
the future for our stock. 

In the event of an acquisition of our common stock, we cannot assure our common stockholders that we will be able 
to negotiate terms that would provide for a price equivalent to, or more favorable than, the price at which our shares 
of common stock may be trading at such time. 

We may not effect a consolidation or merger with another entity without the vote or consent of the holders of at 
least a majority of the shares of our preferred stock (in addition to the approval of our common stockholders), unless the 
preferred stock that remains outstanding and its rights, privileges and preferences are unaffected or are converted into or 
exchanged for preferred stock of the surviving entity having rights, preferences and limitations substantially similar, but 
no less favorable, to our convertible preferred stock. 

In addition, in the event a third party seeks to acquire our company or acquire control of our company by way of a 
merger, but the terms of such offer do not provide for our preferred stock to remain outstanding or be converted into or 
exchanged for preferred stock of the surviving entity having rights, preferences and limitations substantially similar, but 
no less favorable, to our preferred stock, the terms of the Certificate of Designations of our preferred stock provide for 
an adjustment to the conversion ratio of our preferred stock such that, depending on the terms of any such transaction, 
preferred stockholders may be entitled, by their terms, to receive up to $10.00 per share in common stock, causing our 
common stockholders not to receive as favorable a price as the price at which such shares may be trading at the time of 
any such transaction. As of December 31, 2023, there were 335,273 shares of our 6% Convertible Exchangeable 
Preferred Stock issued and outstanding. If the transaction were one in which proceeds were received by us for 
distribution to stockholders, and the terms of the Certificate of Designations governing the preferred stock were strictly 
complied with, approximately $4.0 million would be paid to the preferred holders before any distribution to the common 
stockholders, although the form of transaction could affect how the holders of preferred stock are treated. In such an 
event, although such a transaction would be subject to the approval of our holders of common stock, we cannot assure 
our common stockholders that we will be able to negotiate terms that would provide for a price equivalent to, or more 
favorable than, the price at which our shares of common stock may be trading at such time. Thus, the terms of our 
preferred stock might hamper a third party’s acquisition of our company. 

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws and certain provisions of Delaware law may delay or prevent a change in 
our management and make it more difficult for a third-party to acquire us. 

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws contain provisions that could delay or prevent a 
change in our Board of Directors and management teams. Some of these provisions: 

• authorize the issuance of preferred stock that can be created and issued by the Board of Directors without prior 
stockholder approval, commonly referred to as “blank check” preferred stock, with rights senior to those of our 
common stock; 

• provide for the Board of Directors to be divided into three classes; and 

• require that stockholder actions must be effected at a duly called stockholder meeting and prohibit stockholder 
action by written consent. 

In addition, because we are incorporated in Delaware, we are governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the 
Delaware General Corporation Law, which limits the ability of large stockholders to complete a business combination 
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with, or acquisition of, us. These provisions may prevent a business combination or acquisition that would be attractive 
to stockholders and could limit the price that investors would be willing to pay in the future for our stock. 

These provisions also make it more difficult for our stockholders to replace members of our Board of Directors. 
Because our Board of Directors is responsible for appointing the members of our management team, these provisions 
could in turn affect any attempt to replace our current management team. Additionally, these provisions may prevent an 
acquisition that would be attractive to stockholders and could limit the price that investors would be willing to pay in the 
future for our common stock. 

We may have limited ability to pay cash dividends on our preferred stock, and there is no assurance that future 
quarterly dividends will be declared. 

Delaware law may limit our ability to pay cash dividends on our preferred stock. Under Delaware law, cash 
dividends on our preferred stock may only be paid from surplus or, if there is no surplus, from the corporation’s net 
profits for the current or preceding fiscal year. Delaware law defines “surplus” as the amount by which the total assets of 
a corporation, after subtracting its total liabilities, exceed the corporation’s capital, as determined by its board of 
directors. 

Since we are not profitable, our ability to pay cash dividends will require the availability of an adequate surplus. 
Even if adequate surplus is available to pay cash dividends on our preferred stock, we may not have sufficient cash to 
pay dividends on the preferred stock or we may choose not to declare the dividends. 

Our common and preferred stock may experience extreme price and volume fluctuations, which could lead to costly 
securities-related litigation, including securities class action litigation or securities-related investigations, which 
could make an investment in us less appealing. 

The market price of our common and preferred stock may fluctuate substantially due to a variety of factors, 
including: 

• announcements of technological innovations or new products or services by us or our competitors; 
announcements concerning our competitors or the biotechnology industry in general; 

• new regulatory pronouncements and changes in regulatory guidelines; 

• general and industry-specific economic conditions; 

• additions to or departures of our key personnel; 

• changes in financial estimates or recommendations by securities analysts; 

• variations in our quarterly results; and 

• announcements about our collaborators or licensors; and 

• changes in accounting principles 

The stock markets have from time-to-time experienced significant price and volume fluctuations that have affected 
the market prices for publicly traded securities. The market prices of the securities of biotechnology companies, 
particularly companies like us without product revenues and earnings, have been highly volatile and are likely to remain 
highly volatile in the future. This volatility has often been unrelated to the performance of particular companies. In the 
past, companies that experience volatility in the market price of their securities have often faced securities class action 
and derivative litigation, and as a public company, we could be subject to sanctions or investigations by Nasdaq, the 
SEC or other regulatory authorities. Moreover, market prices for stocks of biotechnology-related and technology 
companies frequently reach levels that bear no relationship to the performance of these companies. These market prices 
generally are not sustainable and are highly volatile. 
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Whether or not meritorious, litigation brought against us could result in substantial costs, divert our management’s 
attention and resources and harm our financial condition and results of operations. 

The future sale of our common and convertible preferred stock and future issuances of our common stock upon 
conversion of our preferred stock could negatively affect our stock price and cause dilution to existing holders of our 
common stock. 

If our common or preferred stockholders sell substantial amounts of our stock in the public market, or the market 
perceives that such sales may occur, the market price of our common and preferred stock could fall. If additional holders 
of convertible preferred stock elect to convert their shares to shares of common stock at renegotiated prices, such 
conversion as well as the sale of substantial amounts of our common stock, could cause dilution to existing holders of 
our common stock, thereby also negatively affecting the price of our common stock. For example, in 2013, we issued an 
aggregate of 9,358 shares of our common stock in exchange for an aggregate of 877,869 shares of our preferred stock in 
arms-length negotiations between us and the other parties who had approached us to propose the exchanges. 

If we exchange the convertible preferred stock for debentures, the exchange will be taxable, but we will not provide 
any cash to pay any tax liability that any convertible preferred stockholder may incur. 

An exchange of convertible preferred stock for debentures, as well as any dividend make-whole or interest make-
whole payments paid in our common stock, will be taxable events for United States federal income tax purposes, which 
may result in tax liability for the holder of convertible preferred stock without any corresponding receipt of cash by the 
holder. In addition, the debentures may be treated as having original issue discount, a portion of which would generally 
be required to be included in the holder’s gross income even though the cash to which such income is attributable would 
not be received until maturity or redemption of the debenture. We will not distribute any cash to the holders of the 
securities to pay these potential tax liabilities. 

If we automatically convert the convertible preferred stock, there is a substantial risk of fluctuation in the price of our 
common stock from the date we elect to automatically convert to the conversion date. 

We may automatically convert the convertible preferred stock into common stock if the closing price of our 
common stock exceeds $888,300 per share. There is a risk of fluctuation in the price of our common stock between the 
time when we may first elect to automatically convert the preferred and the automatic conversion date. 

We do not intend to pay cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future. 

We do not anticipate paying cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future. Any payment of cash 
dividends will depend on our financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements, the outcome of the review 
of our strategic alternatives and other factors and will be at the discretion of our Board of Directors. Accordingly, 
investors will have to rely on capital appreciation, if any, to earn a return on their investment in our common stock. 
Furthermore, we may in the future become subject to contractual restrictions on, or prohibitions against, the payment of 
dividends. 

The number of shares of common stock which are registered, including the shares to be issued upon exercise of our 
outstanding warrants, is significant in relation to our currently outstanding common stock and could cause 
downward pressure on the market price for our common stock. 

The number of shares of common stock registered for resale, including those shares which are to be issued upon 
exercise of our outstanding warrants, is significant in relation to the number of shares of common stock currently 
outstanding. If the security holder determines to sell a substantial number of shares into the market at any given time, 
there may not be sufficient demand in the market to purchase the shares without a decline in the market price for our 
common stock. Moreover, continuous sales into the market of a number of shares in excess of the typical trading volume 
for our common stock, or even the availability of such a large number of shares, could depress the trading market for our 
common stock over an extended period of time. 
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If persons engage in short sales of our common stock, including sales of shares to be issued upon exercise of our 
outstanding warrants, the price of our common stock may decline. 

Selling short is a technique used by a stockholder to take advantage of an anticipated decline in the price of a 
security. In addition, holders of options and warrants will sometimes sell short knowing they can, in effect, cover 
through the exercise of an option or warrant, thus locking in a profit. A significant number of short sales or a large 
volume of other sales within a relatively short period of time can create downward pressure on the market price of a 
security. Further sales of common stock issued upon exercise of our outstanding warrants could cause even greater 
declines in the price of our common stock due to the number of additional shares available in the market upon such 
exercise, which could encourage short sales that could further undermine the value of our common stock. You could, 
therefore, experience a decline in the value of your investment as a result of short sales of our common stock. 

We are exposed to risks related to the marketable securities we may purchase. 

We may invest cash not required to meet short-term obligations in short term marketable securities. We may 
purchase securities in United States government, government-sponsored agencies and highly rated corporate and asset-
backed securities subject to an approved investment policy. Historically, investment in these securities has been highly 
liquid and has experienced only very limited defaults. However, recent volatility in the financial markets has created 
additional uncertainty regarding the liquidity and safety of these investments. Although we believe our marketable 
securities investments are safe and highly liquid, we cannot guarantee that our investment portfolio will not be 
negatively impacted by recent or future market volatility or credit restrictions. 

Claims for indemnification by our directors and officers may reduce our available funds to satisfy successful 
stockholder claims against us and may reduce the amount of money available to us. 

As permitted by Section 102(b)(7) of the Delaware General Corporation Law, our restated certificate of 
incorporation limits the liability of our directors to the fullest extent permitted by law. In addition, as permitted by 
Section 145 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, our restated certificate of incorporation and restated bylaws 
provide that we shall indemnify, to the fullest extent authorized by the Delaware General Corporation Law, each person 
who is involved in any litigation or other proceeding because such person is or was a director or officer of our company 
or is or was serving as an officer or director of another entity at our request, against all expense, loss or liability 
reasonably incurred or suffered in connection therewith. Our restated certificate of incorporation provides that the right 
to indemnification includes the right to be paid expenses incurred in defending any proceeding in advance of its final 
disposition, provided, however, that such advance payment will only be made upon delivery to us of an undertaking, by 
or on behalf of the director or officer, to repay all amounts so advanced if it is ultimately determined that such director is 
not entitled to indemnification. 

If we do not pay a proper claim for indemnification in full within 60 days after we receive a written claim for such 
indemnification, except in the case of a claim for an advancement of expenses, in which case such period is 20 days, our 
restated certificate of incorporation and our restated bylaws authorize the claimant to bring an action against us and 
prescribe what constitutes a defense to such action. 

Section 145 of the Delaware General Corporation Law permits a corporation to indemnify any director or officer of 
the corporation against expenses (including attorney’s fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually 
and reasonably incurred in connection with any action, suit or proceeding brought by reason of the fact that such person 
is or was a director or officer of the corporation, if such person acted in good faith and in a manner that he reasonably 
believed to be in, or not opposed to, the best interests of the corporation, and, with respect to any criminal action or 
proceeding, if he or she had no reason to believe his or her conduct was unlawful. In a derivative action, (i.e., one 
brought by or on behalf of the corporation), indemnification may be provided only for expenses actually and reasonably 
incurred by any director or officer in connection with the defense or settlement of such an action or suit if such person 
acted in good faith and in a manner that he or she reasonably believed to be in, or not opposed to, the best interests of the 
corporation, except that no indemnification shall be provided if such person shall have been adjudged to be liable to the 
corporation, unless and only to the extent that the court in which the action or suit was brought shall determine that the 
defendant is fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnity for such expenses despite such adjudication of liability. 
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The rights conferred in the restated certificate of incorporation and the restated bylaws are not exclusive, and we are 
authorized to enter into indemnification agreements with our directors, officers, employees and agents and to obtain 
insurance to indemnify such persons. We have entered into indemnification agreements with each of our officers and 
directors. 

The above limitations on liability and our indemnification obligations limit the personal liability of our directors and 
officers for monetary damages for breach of their fiduciary duty as directors by shifting the burden of such losses and 
expenses to us. Although we obtained coverage under our directors’ and officers’ liability insurance, certain liabilities or 
expenses covered by our indemnification obligations may not be covered by such insurance or the coverage limitation 
amounts may be exceeded. As a result, we may need to use a significant amount of our funds to satisfy our 
indemnification obligations, which could severely harm our business and financial condition and limit the funds 
available to stockholders who may choose to bring a claim against our company. 

Risks Relating to Restatement of our Consolidated Financial Statements 

We have had to restate our previously issued consolidated financial statements and, as part of that process, have 
identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022. If we are 
unable to develop and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting, we may not be able to accurately 
report our financial results in a timely manner, which may adversely affect investor confidence in us and may 
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, 
such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements will 
not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Effective internal control over financial reporting is necessary for us to 
provide reliable financial reporting and prevent fraud. We continue to evaluate steps to remediate the material weakness. 
These remediation measures may be time consuming and costly, and there is no assurance that these initiatives will 
ultimately have the intended effects. Any failure to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting could 
adversely impact our ability to report our financial position and results from operations on a timely and accurate basis. If 
our financial statements are not accurate, investors may not have a complete understanding of our operations. Likewise, 
if our financial statements are not filed on a timely basis, we could be subject to sanctions or investigations by the stock 
exchange on which our common stock is listed, the SEC or other regulatory authorities. In either case, there could be an 
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Ineffective internal control over financial 
reporting could also cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial information, which could have a 
negative effect on the trading price of our stock. 

We can provide no assurance that the measures we are taking and plan to take in the future will remediate the 
material weakness identified or that any additional material weaknesses or restatements of financial results will not arise 
in the future due to a failure to implement and maintain adequate internal control over financial reporting or 
circumvention of these controls. In addition, even if we are successful in strengthening our controls and procedures, in 
the future those controls and procedures may not be adequate to prevent or identify irregularities or errors or to facilitate 
the fair presentation of our consolidated financial statements. 

We may face litigation and other risks as a result of the restatement of our previously issued consolidated financial 
statements contained in Amendment No. 1 to the Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 and 
material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting. 

As part of the restatement of our previously issued consolidated financial statements contained in Amendment No. 1 
to the Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022, we identified a material weakness in our internal control 
over financial reporting. As a result of such material weakness, the restatement and other matters raised or that may in 
the future be raised by the SEC, we face potential for litigation or other disputes which may include, among others, 
claims invoking the federal and state securities laws, contractual claims or other claims arising from the restatement and 
the material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting and the preparation of our financial statements. As 
of the date of this report, we have no knowledge of any such litigation or dispute. However, we can provide no assurance 
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that such litigation or dispute will not arise in the future. Any such litigation or dispute, whether successful or not, could 
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments 

None. 

Item 1C. Cybersecurity 

We recognize the critical importance of maintaining the trust and confidence of business partners, employees and 
patients, toward our business and are committed to protecting the confidentiality, integrity and availability of our 
business operations and systems. Our board of directors is actively involved in oversight of our risk management 
activities, and cybersecurity represents an important element of our overall approach to risk management. Our 
cybersecurity policies, standards, processes and practices are based on recognized frameworks established by the UK 
governments’ National Cyber Security Centre and other applicable industry standards. In general, we seek to address 
cybersecurity risks through a comprehensive, cross-functional approach that is focused on preserving the confidentiality, 
security and availability of the information that we collect and store by identifying, preventing and mitigating 
cybersecurity threats and effectively responding to cybersecurity incidents when they occur. 

Cybersecurity Risk Management and Strategy; Effect of Risk 

We face risks related to cybersecurity such as unauthorized access, cybersecurity attacks and other security 
incidents, including as perpetrated by hackers and unintentional damage or disruption to hardware and software systems, 
loss of data, and misappropriation of confidential information. To identify and assess material risks from cybersecurity 
threats, we maintain a comprehensive cybersecurity program to ensure our systems are effective and prepared for 
information security risks, including regular oversight of our programs for security monitoring for internal and external 
threats to ensure the confidentiality and integrity of our information assets. We consider risks from cybersecurity threats 
alongside other company risks as part of our overall risk assessment process. We employ a range of tools and services, 
including regular network and endpoint monitoring, audits, vulnerability assessments, and penetration testing to inform 
our risk identification and assessment. As discussed in more detail under “Cybersecurity Governance” below, our audit 
committee provides oversight of our cybersecurity risk management and strategy processes, which are led by our Chief 
Financial Officer. 

We also identify our cybersecurity threat risks by comparing our processes to standards set by the UK governments’ 
National Cyber Security Centre. To provide for the availability of critical data and systems, maintain regulatory 
compliance, manage our material risks from cybersecurity threats, and protect against and respond to cybersecurity 
incidents, we undertake the following activities: 

• monitor emerging data protection laws and implement changes to our processes that are designed to comply 
with such laws; 

• through our policies, practices and contracts (as applicable), require employees, as well as third parties that 
provide services on our behalf, to treat confidential information and data with care; 

• employ technical safeguards that are designed to protect our information systems from cybersecurity threats, 
including firewalls, intrusion prevention and detection systems, anti-malware functionality and access controls, 
which are evaluated and improved through vulnerability assessments and cybersecurity threat intelligence; 

• provide regular training for our employees regarding cybersecurity threats as a means to equip them with 
effective tools to address cybersecurity threats, and to communicate our evolving information security policies, 
standards, processes and practices; 

• leverage the National Cyber Security Centre incident handling framework to help us identify, protect, detect, 
respond and recover when there is an actual or potential cybersecurity incident; and 
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• carry information security risk insurance that provides protection against the potential losses arising from a 
cybersecurity incident. 

Our response to an incident involves the coordination of activities to detect, respond to and recover from 
cybersecurity incidents, which include processes to triage, assess severity for, escalate, contain, investigate and 
remediate the incident, as well as to comply with potentially applicable legal obligations and mitigate damage to our 
business and reputation. 

As part of the above processes, we regularly engage with consultants, auditors and other third parties, including 
having a third-party independent qualified and accredited advisor review our cybersecurity program to help identify 
areas for continued focus, improvement and compliance. 

Our processes also address cybersecurity threat risks associated with our use of third-party service providers, 
including our suppliers and manufacturers or who have access to patient and employee data or our systems. In addition, 
cybersecurity considerations affect the selection and oversight of our third-party service providers. We perform diligence 
on third parties that have access to our systems, data or facilities that house such systems or data, and continually 
monitor cybersecurity threat risks identified through such diligence. Additionally, we would require those third parties, 
although there are currently none, that could introduce significant cybersecurity risk to us to agree by contract to manage 
their cybersecurity risks in specified ways, and to agree to be subject to cybersecurity audits, which we conduct as 
appropriate. 

We describe whether and how risks from identified cybersecurity threats, including as a result of any previous 
cybersecurity incidents, have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect us, including our business 
strategy, results of operations, or financial condition, under the risk factor heading “Security incidents, loss of data and 
other disruptions could compromise sensitive information related to our business or prevent us from accessing critical 
information and expose us to liability” which disclosures are incorporated by reference herein. 

We have not experienced any material cybersecurity incidents and the expenses we have incurred from 
cybersecurity incidents were immaterial.  

Cybersecurity Governance; Management 

Cybersecurity is an important part of our risk management processes and an area of focus for our board of directors 
and management. The audit committee of our board of directors is responsible for the oversight of risks from 
cybersecurity threats.  

At least annually, our audit committee receives an update from management of our cybersecurity threat risk 
management and strategy processes. In such sessions, our audit committee generally receives materials that include a 
cybersecurity dashboard and other materials discussing current and emerging material cybersecurity threat risks, and 
describing our ability to mitigate those risks, as well as recent developments, evolving standards, technological 
developments and information security considerations arising with respect to our peers and third parties. Our audit 
committee also receive prompt and timely information regarding any cybersecurity incident that meets establishing 
reporting thresholds, as well as ongoing updates regarding any such incident until it has been addressed. To date, we 
have not experience any cyber security incident. 

Members of our audit committee are also encouraged to regularly engage in conversations with management on 
cybersecurity-related news events and discuss any updates to our cybersecurity risk management and strategy programs. 
Material cybersecurity threat risks are also considered during separate board meeting discussions of important matters 
like enterprise risk management, operational budgeting, business continuity planning, mergers and acquisitions, brand 
management, and other relevant matters. 

Our cybersecurity risk management and strategy processes, which are discussed in greater detail above, are led by 
our Chief Financial Officer. Our Chief Financial Officer has been responsible for our IT functions for 20 years, and has 
managed the IT function of companies generally for the last 35 years. Our IT manager has managed our IT functions for 
over 20 years.  The management team members are informed about and monitor the prevention, mitigation, detection, 
and remediation of cybersecurity incidents through their management of, and participation in, the cybersecurity risk 
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management and strategy processes described above, including the operation of our incident response plan. As discussed 
above, the management team members report to the audit committee of our board of directors about cybersecurity threat 
risks, among other cybersecurity related matters, periodically. 

Item 2.   Properties 

We lease our corporate headquarters in Berkeley Heights, New Jersey. We believe that our existing facilities are 
adequate to accommodate our business needs. 

Item 3.   Legal Proceedings 

From time to time, we may be involved in routine litigation incidental to the conduct of our business. As of 
December 31, 2023, we were not a party to any material legal proceedings. 

Item 4.   Mine Safety Disclosures 

Not applicable. 

PART II 

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity 
Securities 

Market Information 

Our common stock is traded on The Nasdaq Capital Market, or Nasdaq, under the symbol “CYCC”. Our preferred 
stock currently trades on Nasdaq under the symbol “CYCCP”. 

Holders of Common Stock 

We effected a 15:1 reverse stock split of the our common stock on December 18, 2023 (the “Reverse Stock Split”). 
All share and per share information has been retroactively adjusted to give effect to the Reverse Stock Split for all 
periods presented, unless otherwise indicated. 

On March 15, 2024, we had approximately 11 registered holders of record of our 1,318,257 shares of common stock 
outstanding. On March 15, 2024, the closing sale price of our common stock as reported by Nasdaq was $2.43 per share. 

Dividends 

We have never declared nor paid any cash dividends on our common stock and do not currently anticipate declaring 
or paying any cash dividends on our outstanding shares of common stock in the foreseeable future. We are, however, 
required to make or accrue quarterly dividend payments on our Preferred Stock. Except for dividends that may be paid 
on the Preferred Stock, we currently intend to retain all of our future earnings, if any, to finance operations. Any future 
determination relating to our dividend policy will be made at the discretion of our Board of Directors and will depend on 
a number of factors, including future earnings, capital requirements, financial conditions, future prospects, contractual 
restrictions and other factors that our Board of Directors may deem relevant. 

Unregistered Sales of Securities 

None.  

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities 

None. 

Item 6. [Reserved] 
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations  

Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements 

This report contains certain statements that may be deemed ‘forward-looking statements’ within the meaning of 
United States securities laws. All statements, other than statements of historical fact, that address activities, events or 
developments that we intend, expect, project, believe or anticipate will or may occur in the future are forward-looking 
statements. Such statements are based upon certain assumptions and assessments made by our management in light of 
their experience and their perception of historical trends, current conditions, expected future developments and other 
factors they believe to be appropriate. Certain factors that could cause results to differ materially from those projected 
or implied in the forward-looking statements are set forth in this Annual Report on Form 10 - K for the year ended 
December 31, 2023 under the caption “Item 1A — Risk factors”. 

We encourage you to read those descriptions carefully. We caution you not to place undue reliance on the forward-
looking statements contained in this report. These statements, like all statements in this report, speak only as of the date 
of this report (unless an earlier date is indicated) and we undertake no obligation to update or revise the statements 
except as required by law. Such forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and actual results 
will likely differ, perhaps materially, from those suggested by such forward-looking statements. 

We effected a 15:1 reverse stock split of our common stock on December 18, 2023 (the “Reverse Stock Split”). All 
share and per share information has been retroactively adjusted to give effect to the Reverse Stock Split for all periods 
presented, unless otherwise indicated. 

Overview 

We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company developing innovative cancer medicines based on cell cycle, 
transcriptional regulation, epigenetics and mitosis control biology. We reported revenue of $0.4 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2023 and no revenues for the year ended December 31, 2022. We do not expect to report revenue 
for the foreseeable future. 

During 2023, our primary focus has been on our transcriptional regulation program, which is evaluating fadraciclib, 
a CDK2/9 inhibitor, in solid tumors and hematological malignancies. The epigenetic/anti-mitotic program is evaluating 
plogosertib, a PLK1 inhibitor, in advanced cancers.  

We currently retain all marketing rights worldwide to the compounds associated with our drug programs. 

Revenue 

We have not generated any revenues from product sales to date. Our product candidates will require significant 
additional research and development efforts, including extensive preclinical and clinical testing.  All product candidates 
that we advance to clinical testing will require regulatory approval prior to commercial use and will require significant 
costs for commercialization. We have recognized revenue of $0.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 related 
to the recovery of clinical manufacturing costs associated with an investigator sponsored study managed by Cedars Sinai 
Medical Center. We did not have any revenue for the year ended December 31, 2022 and do not expect to report revenue 
for the foreseeable future. 

Funding Requirements and Going Concern 

As of December 31, 2023, we had cash and cash equivalents of $3.4 million We have incurred losses since our 
inception and as of December 31, 2023, we had an accumulated deficit of $428.3 million.We expect to continue to incur 
substantial operating losses in the future.  

We do not currently have sufficient funds to complete development and commercialization of any of our drug 
candidates. Current business and capital market risks could have a detrimental effect on the availability of sources of 
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funding and our ability to access them in the future, which may delay or impede our progress of advancing our drugs 
currently in the clinical pipeline to approval by the FDA or EMA for commercialization. Additionally, we plan to 
continue to evaluate in-licensing and acquisition opportunities to gain access to new drugs or drug targets that would fit 
with our strategy. Any such transaction would likely increase our funding needs in the future. 

Our future funding requirements will depend on many factors, including but not limited to: 

• the rate of progress and cost of our clinical trials, preclinical studies and other discovery and research and 
development activities; 

• the costs associated with establishing manufacturing and commercialization capabilities; 

• the costs of acquiring or investing in businesses, product candidates and technologies; 

• the costs of filing, prosecuting, defending and enforcing any patent claims and other intellectual property rights; 

• the costs and timing of seeking and obtaining  FDA and EMA approvals; 

• the effect of competing technological and market developments; and 

• the economic and other terms and timing of any collaboration, licensing or other arrangements into which we 
may enter. 

Until we can generate a sufficient amount of product revenue to finance our cash requirements, which we may never 
do, we expect to finance future cash needs primarily through public or private equity offerings, debt financings or 
strategic collaborations. Although we are not reliant on institutional credit finance and therefore not subject to debt 
covenant compliance requirements or potential withdrawal of credit by banks, we are reliant on the availability of funds 
and activity in equity markets. We do not know whether additional funding will be available on acceptable terms, or at 
all. If we are not able to secure additional funding when needed, we may have to delay, reduce the scope of or eliminate 
one or more of our clinical trials or research and development programs or make changes to our operating plan. In 
addition, we may have to partner one or more of our product candidate programs at an earlier stage of development, 
which would lower the economic value of those programs to us. 

Since our inception, we have relied primarily on the proceeds from sales of common and preferred equity securities 
to finance our operations and internal growth. Additional funding has come through research and development tax 
credits, government grants, the sale of product rights, interest on investments, licensing revenue, royalty income, and a 
limited amount of product revenue from operations discontinued in September 2012.  

As discussed in Note 1 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements accompanying this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K, under ASC Topic 205-40, Presentation of Financial Statements - Going Concern, management is required 
at each reporting period to evaluate whether there are conditions and events, considered in the aggregate, that raise 
substantial doubt about an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the financial 
statements are issued. This evaluation initially does not take into consideration the potential mitigating effect of 
management’s plans that have not been fully implemented as of the date the financial statements are issued. 

Based on our current operating plan, we anticipate that our cash and cash equivalents of $3.4 million as of 
December 31, 2023 will allow us to meet our liquidity requirements into April of 2024. As of March 21, 2024 our cash 
balance on hand was approximately $3.4 million. We continue to work to raise additional capital however as of the date 
of the Consolidated Financial Statements accompanying this Annual Report on Form 10-K, there is no guarantee that we 
will be able to raise additional funds to extend operations past April 2024. Our history of losses, our negative cash flows 
from operations, our liquidity resources currently on hand, and our dependence on the ability to obtain additional 
financing to fund our operations after the current resources are exhausted, about which there can be no certainty, have 
resulted in our assessment that there is substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern for a period of 
at least twelve months from the issuance date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. While we have plans in place to 
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mitigate this risk, which primarily consist of raising additional capital through a combination of public or private equity 
or debt financings or by entering into partnership agreements for further development of our drug candidates, there is no 
guarantee that we will be successful in these mitigation efforts. 

Agreements to Sell Securities 

On December 21, 2023, we entered into a securities purchase agreement (the “Securities Purchase Agreement”) 
with certain institutional investors (the “Purchasers”). Pursuant to the Securities Purchase Agreement, we agreed to sell 
in a registered direct offering (“Registered Direct Offering”) 168,500 shares (“Shares”) of our common stock, $0.001 par 
value per share ( “Common Stock”), and pre-funded warrants (“Pre-Funded Warrants”) to purchase up to 219,700 shares 
of Common Stock. The Pre-Funded Warrants have an exercise price of $0.001 per share and are immediately exercisable 
and can be exercised at any time after their original issuance until such Pre-Funded Warrants are exercised in full. Each 
Share was sold at a price of $3.315 and each Pre-Funded Warrant was sold at a price of $3.314 (equal to the purchase 
price per Share minus the exercise price of the Pre-Funded Warrant). 

Pursuant to the Securities Purchase Agreement, in a concurrent private placement (together with the Registered 
Direct Offering, the “Offerings”), we also agreed to issue to the Purchasers unregistered warrants (“Common Warrants”) 
to purchase up to 388,200 shares of Common Stock. Each Common Warrant has an exercise price of $3.19 per share, is 
exercisable immediately following their original issuance and will expire seven years from the original issuance date. 
The closing of the offering occurred on December 26, 2023, and the net proceeds to us were approximately $1.0 million, 
after deducting placement agent fees and other offering expenses payable by us. Ladenburg Thalmann & Co. Inc. (the 
“Placement Agent”) acted as the exclusive placement agent for the Offerings, pursuant to a placement agency agreement 
dated December 21, 2023, by and between us and the Placement Agent. 

On December 21, 2023, in a separate concurrent insider private placement (the “Insider Private Placement”), we 
also entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement with certain of our executive officers (the “Insider Securities Purchase 
Agreement”) pursuant to which we agreed to sell in a private placement (i) 6,070 shares of Common Stock and warrants 
to purchase 6,070 shares of Common Stock on the same terms as the Common Warrants issued to the Purchasers in the 
Offerings to Spiro Rombotis, our Chief Executive Officer, and (ii) 1,886 shares of Common Stock and warrants to 
purchase 1,886 shares of Common Stock on the same terms as the Common Warrants issued to the Purchasers in the 
Offerings to Paul McBarron, our Executive Vice President-Finance, Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operating 
Officer. Each such share of Common Stock and accompanying warrant was sold at a purchase price of $3.315, which 
was the same purchase price for the Shares sold in the Registered Direct Offering. 

On August 12, 2021, we entered into a Controlled Equity Offering Sales Agreement (the “Sales Agreement”) with 
Cantor Fitzgerald & Co. ("Cantor"), pursuant to which we could issue and sell, from time to time, shares of our common 
stock having an aggregate offering price of up to $50.0 million through Cantor as the sales agent. Cantor could sell our 
common stock by any method permitted by law deemed to be an “at the market offering” as defined in Rule 415(a)(4) of 
the Securities Act. 

On August 12, 2022, we became aware that the shelf registration statement on Form S-3 (file number 333-231923) 
(the “Registration Statement”) associated with this Sales Agreement had expired on June 21, 2022. Prior to becoming 
aware of the expiration, but following the expiration, we sold an aggregate of 132,473 shares of our common stock at 
market prices for aggregate proceeds of approximately $2,721,187. The sale of these shares were subject to potential 
rescission rights by certain stockholders. As a result of these rescission rights, we classified 207,807 shares (including 
75,333 previously issued and outstanding shares sold for which the Company did not receive proceeds and which were 
reclassified to temporary equity as of September 30, 2022), with an aggregate redemption value of $4,494,496 of our 
common stock as stock outside stockholders equity. We also restated our loss per share as a result of $135,000 of 
associated fees not initially accounted for as accretion to the maximum redemption amount of the shares subject to 
potential rescission. During the third quarter of 2023, upon expiration of the rescission rights and with no claims or 
demands to exercise such rights, we reclassified all 207,807 shares back to permanent equity. In all periods presented, 
the shares subject to the rescission rights were treated as issued and outstanding for purposes of earnings per share and 
general financial reporting. 
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On August 15, 2022, due to expiry of the Registration Statement, the Sales Agreement was mutually terminated. A 
total of 218,738 shares, for gross proceeds of approximately $7.6 million, had been sold pursuant to the Sales 
Agreement, including 168,576 shares during the year ended December 31, 2022 for gross proceeds of approximately 
$3.4 million. 

Dividend on Preferred Stock 

On January 12, 2024, the Board of Directors declared a quarterly cash dividend in the amount of $0.15 per share on 
our 6% Convertible Exchangeable Preferred Stock. The cash dividend of approximately $50,000 was paid on 
February 1, 2024 to the holders of record of the 6% Convertible Exchangeable Preferred Stock as of the close of 
business on January 22, 2024. 

Results of Operations 

Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 

Results of Continuing Operations 

Revenues 

The following table summarizes the revenues for years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands 
except percentages): 

 
    

 Year ended December 31,   Difference 
    2023     2022      $     % 
Clinical trial supply 420  —     420 100
Total Revenue $ 420 $  —  $  420 100
 

We recognize recognized $420,000 of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2023. This revenue relates to 
recovery of clinical manufacturing costs associated with an investigator sponsored study managed by Cedars-Sinai 
Medical Center. There were no revenues recognized for the comparative periods in 2022. 

We do not expect to report revenue for the foreseeable future.  

Research and development 

We expense all research and development costs as they are incurred. Research and development expenses primarily 
include: 

• Clinical trial and regulatory-related costs; 

• Payroll and personnel-related expenses, including consultants and contract research organizations; 

• Preclinical studies and materials; 

• Technology license costs; 

• Stock-based compensation; and 

• Rent and facility expenses for our office. 
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The following table provides information with respect to our research and development expenditures for the years 
ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands except percentages): 
 
    

 Year Ended  
 December 31,   Difference 
 2023      2022      $     % 
Transcriptional Regulation (fadraciclib) $ 13,358 $  14,043  $  (685) (5)
Epigenetic/anti-mitotic (plogosertib) 4,987  5,546    (559) (10)
Other research and development expenses 810  685   125 18
Total research and development expenses $ 19,155 $  20,274  $  (1,119) (6)
 

Research and development expenses represented 74% and 73% of our operating expenses for the years ended 
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 

Research and development expenses decreased by $1.1 million from $20.3 million for the year ended December 31, 
2022 to $19.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. Expenditure for the transcriptional regulation program 
decreased by $0.7 million for the year ending December 31, 2023 relative to the respective comparative period. This 
decrease was primarily due to a decrease in clinical trial costs of $2.2 million associated with the temporary halt in the 
Phase 1/2 study in hematological malignancies and the completion of a bioequivalence study during the prior year, offset 
by an increase in manufacturing and other non-clinical expenditure of $1.6 million. Research and development expenses 
relating to plogosertib decreased by $0.6 million for the year ending December 31, 2023 relative to the respective 
comparative period. This decrease was primarily due to a decrease in clinical trial costs of $0.2 million associated with 
the progression of clinical trials for the evaluation of plogosertib in Phase 1/2 studies, and a decrease in manufacturing 
and other non-clinical expenditure of $0.4 million. 

The future 

We anticipate that overall research and development expenses for the year ended December 31, 2024 will decrease 
compared to the year ended December 31, 2023 as we focus on our Phase 1/2 programs in advanced solid tumors and 
lymphomas. 

General and administrative 

General and administrative expenses include costs for administrative personnel, legal and other professional 
expenses and general corporate expenses. The following table summarizes the total general and administrative expenses 
for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands except percentages): 

 
    

 Year Ended  
 December 31,   Difference 
      2023     2022      $    % 
Total general and administrative expenses $ 6,718 $ 7,382  $  (664) (9)

 
Total general and administrative expenses represented 26% and 27% of our operating expenses for the years ended 

December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 

Our general and administrative expenditures decreased by $0.7 million from $7.4 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2022 to $6.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. This decrease was primarily due to a non-
recurring $0.4 million cost associated with the Controlled Equity Offering Sales Agreement with Cantor Fitzgerald & 
Co. (the “Sales Agreement”) in the comparative prior period.  

The future 

We expect general and administrative expenditures for the year ended December 31, 2024 to remain relatively flat 
compared to the year ended December 31, 2023. 
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Other income (expense), net 

The following table summarizes the other income (expense) for years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in 
thousands except percentages): 

 
   

 Year Ended  
 December 31,   Difference 
 2023    2022     $    % 
Foreign exchange gains (losses) $ (414) $ 233 $  (647) (278)
Interest income 266 210    56 27
Other income (expense), net 50 1,298    (1,248) (96)
Total other income (expense), net $ (98) 1,741 $  (1,839) (106)
 

Total other income, net, decreased by approximately $1.8 million from an income of approximately $1.7 million for 
the year ended December 31, 2022 to an expense of approximately $0.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. 
The decrease in other income primarily relates to royalties receivable under a December 2005 Asset Purchase 
Agreement, or APA, whereby Xcyte Therapies, Inc., or Xcyte (a business acquired by us in March 2006) sold through 
the APA and other related agreements certain assets and intellectual property which are not related to our product 
development plans to ThermoFisher Scientific Company, or TSC. Accordingly, we presented $50,000 and $1.3 million 
as other income received from TSC during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 respectively. We have no 
knowledge of TSC’s activities and cannot predict when we may receive income under the APA, if any.  

Foreign exchange gains (losses) 

Foreign exchange gains decreased by $0.6 million to a loss of $0.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 
compared to a gain of approximately $0.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2022.  

We have intercompany loans in place between our parent company based in New Jersey and our subsidiary based in 
Scotland. The intercompany loans outstanding are not expected to be repaid in the foreseeable future and the nature of 
the funding advanced is of a long-term investment nature. Therefore, all unrealized foreign exchange gains or losses 
arising on the intercompany loans are recognized in other comprehensive income until repayment of the intercompany 
loan becomes foreseeable. Favorable unrealized foreign exchange movements related to intercompany loans resulted in a 
gain of $12.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to a loss of $21.2 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2022. 

The future 

Other income (expense), net will continue to be impacted by changes in foreign exchange rates and the receipt of 
income under the APA. As we are not in control of sales made by TSC, we are unable to estimate the level and timing of 
income under the APA, if any. 

As the funding advanced through intercompany loans is that of a long-term investment in nature, unrealized foreign 
exchange gains and losses on such funding will be recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) until repayment of 
the intercompany loan becomes foreseeable. 

Income tax benefit 

We record research and development tax credits within income taxes. Credit is taken for research and development 
tax credits, which are claimed from the United Kingdom’s taxation and customs authority (HMRC), in respect of 
qualifying research and development costs incurred.  
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The following table summarizes total income tax benefit from such credits for the years ended December 31, 2023 
and 2022 (in thousands except percentages): 

 
    

  Year Ended  
  December 31,   Difference 
  2023      2022      $     % 
Total income tax benefit $ 2,996 $ 4,717  $  (1,721) (36)
 

The income tax benefit decreased significantly by approximately $1.7 million, from $4.7 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2022 to $3.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, due to legislative changes that took effect in 
April 2023. The level of tax credits recoverable is linked directly to qualifying research and development expenditure 
incurred in any one year and the availability of trading losses.  

The future 

We expect to continue to be eligible to receive United Kingdom research and development tax credits for the year 
ending December 31, 2024 and will continue to elect to receive payment of the tax credit. The legislative changes which 
took effect in April 2023 have been partially reversed in early 2024 resulting in additional income tax benefit of $0.8 
million in relation to expenditure incurred during the year ended December 31, 2023 and receivable during the second 
quarter of 2024. Beyond 2024, there is no guarantee that we will be eligible to receive this tax credit or if eligible, any 
amount that may be receivable due to proposed changes by HMRC to the eligibility criteria would be correctly 
estimated. We expect research and development tax credits for the year ending December 31, 2024 to be lower 
compared to the year ended December 31, 2023.  

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

The following is a summary of our key liquidity measures as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands): 
    

  
 December 31,  
      2023     2022 
Cash and cash equivalents $  3,378  $ 18,345
Working capital:    
Current assets $  7,444  $ 24,411
Current liabilities    (8,161) (7,511)
Total working capital $  (717) $ 16,900
 

Cash Flows 

Cash provided by (used in) operating, investing and financing activities for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 
2022 is summarized as follows (in thousands): 

 
    

 Year Ended December 31,  
      2023     2022 
Net cash used in operating activities $  (16,112) $ (20,827)
Net cash used in investing activities    (6) (7)
Net cash provided by financing activities    848  2,998
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Operating activities 

Net cash used in operating activities decreased by $4.7 million, from $20.8 million for the year ended December 31, 
2022 to $16.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. The decrease in cash used by operating activities was 
primarily the result of a change in working capital of $6.3 million, offset by an increase in net loss of $1.3 million. The 
$6.3 million change in working capital was primarily due to decreased balances in clinical trial deposits and receivables 
for research and development tax credits. A cash receipt of approximately $4.8 million in research and development tax 
credit was received during the year ended December 31, 2023. 

Investing activities 

Net cash used in investing activities decreased by $1,000 for the year ended December 31, 2023 due to a slight 
decrease in capital expenditures on information technology (“IT”) during the respective comparative period. 

Financing activities 

Net cash provided by financing activities was $0.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 as a direct result 
of receiving approximately: 

- $1.0 million in net proceeds from the issuance of common stock and pre-funded warrants pursuant to the Registered 
Direct Offering, 

- offset by dividend payments of approximately $0.2 million to the holders of our 6% Convertible Exchangeable 
Preferred Stock.Net cash provided by financing activities was $3.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 

as a direct result of receiving approximately: 

- $3.2 million in net proceeds from the issuance of common stock under a Controlled Equity Offering Sales 
Agreement with Cantor Fitzgerald & Co., 

- offset by dividend payments of approximately $0.2 million to the holders of our 6% Convertible Exchangeable 
Preferred Stock.Contractual Obligations 

The following table summarizes our long-term contractual obligations as of December 31, 2023 (in thousands): 
 

     

 Payments Due by Period 
       Less than               More than
  Total  1 year  1 – 3 years 3 – 5 years 5 years 
Operating Lease Obligations (1) $ 105 $ 67 $  38  $  — $ —

 
(1) Operating lease obligations relate primarily to leasing office space at our Berkeley Heights, New Jersey location. 

The lease for our Berkeley Heights location, which was entered into in April 2022, expires in July 2025. The table 
does not include any amouns relating to a short term lease for offices in Dundee, Scotland. 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

Since our inception, we have not had any off-balance sheet arrangements or relationships with unconsolidated 
entities or financial partnerships, such as entities often referred to as structured finance or variable interest entities, which 
are typically established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other contractually narrow or 
limited purposes. 

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements 

Please see Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements for a discussion of the potential effects that recently 
issued, but not yet effective, accounting standards will have on our financial statements when adopted in a future period. 
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates 

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based on our financial statements, 
which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. The 
preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts  
of assets, liabilities and expenses and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. We review our estimates on 
an ongoing basis. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other factors that we believe to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates. We believe the judgments and 
estimates required by the following accounting policies to be critical in the preparation of our consolidated financial 
statements. 

Our significant accounting policies are more fully described in Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements  
included elsewhere in this report. We believe the following critical accounting policies reflect our more significant 
estimates and assumptions used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements. 

Accrued Research and Development Costs 

Accrued research and development costs comprise our best estimates related to the cost of clinical trials, laboratory, 
and manufacturing activities that were incurred, but not paid or invoiced, as of the end of a reporting period. 

Data management and monitoring of our clinical trials are performed with the assistance of contract research 
organizations, or CROs, or clinical research associates, or CRAs, in accordance with our standard operating procedures. 
Typically, CROs and CRAs bill monthly for services performed, or based upon milestones achieved. We accrue unbilled 
clinical trial expenses based on estimates of the level of services performed each period. Moreover, clinical trial costs 
related to patient enrollment are accrued as patients are entered into and progress through the trial.  

We also perform outsourced laboratory and manufacturing activities. We accrue for unbilled laboratory and 
manufacturing activities performed by third parties based on estimates of their progress towards completing the 
requested tasks. 

As of December 31, 2023, we accrued $3.7 million research and development costs, that we have estimated to have 
been incurred as of year-end but had not been invoiced.  This represents approximately 19% of our total research and 
development expense for the year ended December 31, 2023.  As of December 31, 2022, we accrued $3.6 million 
research and development costs, that we have estimated to have been incurred as of year-end but had not been invoiced.  
This represents approximately 18% of our total research and development expense for the year ended December 31, 
2022.   

When recording these accruals, we must make judgments about the progress of our various clinical activities.  We 
(as well as our CROs and CRAs) are reliant on information being provided timely and accurately by the multitude of 
clinics and hospitals where the studies are being conducted, some of which are located internationally. We must also 
make estimates about the progress our third-party vendors are making towards completing laboratory and manufacturing 
activities.   

Stock-based Compensation 

We grant stock options, restricted stock units and restricted stock to officers, employees, directors and consultants 
under our 2018 Equity Incentive Plan (the 2018 Plan) and the 2020 Inducement Equity Incentive Plan. We measure 
compensation cost for all stock-based awards at fair value on date of grant and recognize compensation over the 
requisite service period. The fair value of restricted stock and restricted stock units is determined based on the number of 
shares granted and the quoted price of our common stock on the date of grant. The determination of grant-date fair value 
for stock option awards is estimated using an option-pricing model, which includes variables such as the expected 
volatility of our share price, the anticipated exercise behavior of our employees, interest rates, and dividend yields. These 
variables are projected based on our historical data, experience, and other factors. Changes in any of these variables 
could result in significant adjustments to the costs recognized for share-based payments. 
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 

As a smaller reporting company, we are not required to provide information response to this item. 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 
 
Opinion on the Financial Statements 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and its subsidiaries 
(the Company) as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the related consolidated statements of operations (loss), other 
comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the 
consolidated financial statements (collectively, the financial statements). In our opinion, the financial statements present 
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the results 
of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States of America. 
 
Substantial Doubt About the Company’s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a 
going concern. As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, the Company does not currently have sufficient funds 
to complete development and commercialization and has a limited cash balance as of December 31, 2023. This raises 
substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Management’s plans in regard to these 
matters are also described in Note 1. The financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the 
outcome of this uncertainty. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the 
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect 
to the Company in accordance with U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities 
and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. 
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an 
audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of 
internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. 
 
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also 
included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 
the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

 
Critical Audit Matters 
The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the financial statements 
that were communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or 
disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective or 
complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial 
statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate 
opinions on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate. 
 
Clinical Trial Accrual and Expenses  
As discussed in Notes 2 and 9 of the consolidated financial statements, the Company’s total accrued expenses for 
research and development were $3.7 million at December 31, 2023, which included the estimated obligation for pre-
clinical and clinical trial expenses incurred as of December 31, 2023, but not paid as of that date. The Company’s 
clinical trial expenses are based on the Company’s estimates of the level of services performed each period pursuant 
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agreements with third parties that conduct research and development on the Company’s behalf, which results in an 
accrual or prepaid at period end. 
 
We identified the Company’s accrued clinical trial expenses as a critical audit matter because auditing the application of 
significant management judgment over the estimate of services provided but not yet invoiced required significant audit 
effort and a high degree of auditor judgment and subjectivity to evaluate the audit evidence obtained. Specifically, the 
amount of accrued clinical trial expenses recognized is dependent on the availability of information to make the 
estimate, including information from multiple sources, the level of effort expended as of the balance sheet date and the 
associated cost of such services. Additionally, due to the timing of invoicing received from third parties, the actual 
amounts incurred are not typically known on the date the Company issues its financial statements. 
 
Our audit procedures to evaluate the Company’s estimate of services incurred as of period end pursuant to its clinical 
trials included, among others: 
 
• We tested the accuracy and completeness of the underlying data used in the estimates and evaluated the significant 

assumptions stated above that are used by management to estimate the recorded amounts.  
 

• To assess the reasonableness of the significant assumptions, we obtained information regarding the nature and 
extent of progress of clinical trials from the Company’s research and development personnel that oversee the 
clinical trials and obtained information directly from third parties which indicated the third parties’ estimate of costs 
incurred to date.  

 
• To evaluate the completeness and valuation of the accrual clinical trial expenses, we compared invoices received by 

the Company subsequent to December 31, 2023, to the amounts recognized by the Company as of that date.  
 
• We inspected the Company’s contracts with third parties and any pending change orders to assess the impact to the 

amounts recorded.  
 

 
 

/s/ RSM US LLP 

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2013. 
 

New York, New York 
March 21, 2024 
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CYCLACEL PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts) 
 
    

 December 31,   December 31,  
    2023      2022 

ASSETS  
Current assets:       

Cash and cash equivalents $  3,378  $ 18,345
Prepaid expenses and other current assets  4,066    6,066

Total current assets  7,444    24,411
Property and equipment, net  9    32
Right-of-use lease asset  93   142
Non-current deposits  1,259   3,465

Total assets $  8,805  $ 28,050
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY       
Current liabilities:       

Accounts payable $  3,543  $ 2,561
Accrued and other current liabilities  4,618    4,950

Total current liabilities  8,161    7,511
Lease liability  37   106

Total liabilities  8,198    7,617
Redeemable common stock, $0.001 par value;   

0 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2023 and 207,807 shares issued 
and outstanding at December 31, 2022 (Note 11)  —    4,494
   

Stockholders’ equity:   
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized at 
December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022;  —    —
6% Convertible Exchangeable preferred stock; 335,273 shares issued and 
outstanding at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022. Aggregate preference 
in liquidation of  $4,006,512 as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022  —    —
Series A convertible preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 264 shares issued and 
outstanding at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022  —    —
Series B convertible preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 119,000 shares issued and 
outstanding at December 31, 2023 and 237,745 shares issued and outstanding at 
December 31, 2022  —    —
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized at 
December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022; 1,058,892 shares issued and 
outstanding at December 31, 2023 and 628,139 shares issued and outstanding at 
December 31, 2022  1    1

Additional paid-in capital  429,796    422,981
Accumulated other comprehensive loss  (908)   (1,316)
Accumulated deficit  (428,282)   (405,727)

Total stockholders’ equity  607    15,939
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $  8,805  $ 28,050

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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CYCLACEL PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (LOSS) 

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts) 
 
    

 Year Ended  
 December 31,  

    2023      2022 
Revenues:   

Clinical trial supply $  420  $ —
Revenues  420   —

   
Operating expenses:      

Research and development  19,155   20,274
General and administrative  6,718   7,382

Total operating expenses  25,873   27,656
Operating loss  (25,453)  (27,656)
Other income (expense):      

Foreign exchange gains (losses)  (414)  233
Interest income  266   210
Other income (expense), net  50   1,298

Total other income (expense), net  (98)  1,741
Loss before taxes  (25,551)  (25,915)
Income tax benefit  2,996   4,717
Net loss  (22,555)  (21,198)
Dividend on convertible exchangeable preferred shares  (201)  (201)
Net loss applicable to common shareholders $  (22,756) $ (21,399)
Basic and diluted earnings per common share:      
Net loss per share – basic and diluted (common shareholders) $  (26.75) $ (28.70)
Net loss per share – basic and diluted (redeemable common shareholders) $  —  $ (27.24)
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

  



82 

CYCLACEL PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 

(In thousands) 
 
    

 Year Ended  
 December 31,  

     2023     2022 
Net loss $  (22,555) $ (21,198)
Translation adjustment    (12,142) 20,598
Unrealized foreign exchange gain (loss) on intercompany loans    12,550  (21,166)
Comprehensive loss $  (22,147) $ (21,766)
 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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CYCLACEL PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

(In thousands, except share amounts) 
 

        

      Accumulated    
      Additional Other    Total 
   Preferred Stock Common Stock Paid-in Comprehensive   Accumulated Stockholders’
     Shares      Amount    Shares    Amount    Capital    Loss     Deficit    Equity 

Balances at December 31, 2021   573,282  $  —    666,209  $  1  $  422,969  $  (748) $  (384,529) $  37,693
      

Issue of common stock in At 
Market Issuance sales 
agreement, net of expenses   —     — 36,103 — 478 —     — 478
Reclassification of redeemable 
common stock    —     — (75,333) — (1,636) —     — (1,636)
Accretion on redeemable 
common stock    —     — — — (135) —     — (135)
Stock-based compensation     —     — 1,161 — 1,506 —     — 1,506
Preferred stock dividends    —     — (201) —     — (201)
Unrealized foreign exchange on 
intercompany loans   —     — — — — (21,166)    — (21,166)
Translation adjustment   —     — — — — 20,598     — 20,598
Loss for the period   —     — — — — —     (21,198) (21,198)

Balances at December 31, 2022    573,282  $  —    628,139  $  1  $  422,981  $  (1,316) $  (405,727) $  15,939
Issue of common stock and pre-
funded warrants in Securities 
Purchase Agreement In 
Registered Direct Offering, net 
of expenses   —    — 176,456 — 1,049 —    — 1,049
Conversion of series B Preferred 
stock  (118,745)   — 39,582 — — —    — —
Reclassification of redeemable 
common stock    —    — 207,806 — 4,494 —    — 4,494
Stock-based compensation    —    — 6,909 — 1,473 —    — 1,473
Preferred stock dividends    —    — — — (201) —    — (201)
Unrealized foreign exchange on 
intercompany loans    —    — — — — 12,550    — 12,550
Translation adjustment   —    — — — — (12,142)   — (12,142)
Loss for the period    —    — — — — —    (22,555) (22,555)

Balances at December 31, 2023    454,537  $  —    1,058,892  $  1  $  429,796  $  (908) $  (428,282) $  607
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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CYCLACEL PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

(In thousands) 
 
    

 Year Ended  
 December 31,  
     2023     2022 
Operating activities:       
Net loss $  (22,555) $ (21,198)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:      
Depreciation   31  32
Stock-based compensation   1,473  1,506
Changes in lease liability   (69) 40
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:   
Prepaid expenses and other assets   4,712  (3,784)
Accounts payable, accrued and other current liabilities   296  2,577
Net cash used in operating activities   (16,112) (20,827)
Investing activities:      
Purchase of property, plant and equipment   (6) (7)
Net cash used in investing activities   (6) (7)
Financing activities:      
Proceeds, net of issuance costs, from issuing common stock and pre-funded warrants   1,049  3,199
Payment of preferred stock dividend   (201) (201)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities   848  2,998
   
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents   303  (378)
Net (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   (14,967) (18,214)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period   18,345  36,559
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $  3,378  $ 18,345
Supplemental cash flow information:      
Cash received during the period for:      

Interest $  266  $ 211
Research & Development Tax Credits $  4,846  $ 3,312
   

Cash paid during the period for:   
Taxes $  2  $ 2
   

Non cash financing activities:      
Accrual of preferred stock dividends $  50  $ 50
Accretion on redeemable common stock $  —  $ 135

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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CYCLACEL PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

1.    Organization of the Company and Basis of Presentation 

Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Cyclacel” or “the Company”) is a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company 
developing innovative cancer medicines based on cell cycle, transcriptional regulation and mitosis control biology. 
Cyclacel is a pioneer company in the field of cancer cell cycle biology with a vision to improve patient healthcare by 
translating insights in cancer biology into medicines that can overcome resistance and ultimately increase a patient’s 
overall survival. 

As of December 31, 2023, substantially all efforts of the Company to date have been devoted to performing research 
and development, conducting clinical trials, developing and acquiring intellectual property, raising capital and recruiting 
and training personnel. 

The Company is subject to risks and uncertainties common to early-stage companies in the biopharmaceutical 
industry, including, but not limited to, the fact that drug candidates developed by the Company typically will require 
approvals or clearances from the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, the European Medicines Agency or other similar 
regulatory agencies in other countries prior to commercial sales. There can be no assurance that the Company’s drug 
candidates will receive any of the required approvals or clearances. If any of the Company’s drug candidates are denied 
approval or clearance or such approval is delayed, or if the Company is unable to obtain the necessary financing to 
complete development and approval, there will be a material adverse impact on the Company’s financial condition and 
results of operations. 

Through December 31, 2023, the Company has funded all of its operations and capital expenditures with proceeds 
from the issuance of public equity securities, private placements of securities, government grants, research and 
development tax credits, interest on investments, royalty income, product revenue and licensing revenue. The Company 
has incurred recurring losses since its inception, including net losses of $22.5 million and $21.2 million for the years 
ended December 31, 2023 and 2022,  respectively. As of December 31, 2023, the Company had an accumulated deficit 
of $428.3 million. The Company expects to continue to generate operating losses for the foreseeable future due to, 
among other things, costs related to the clinical development of its drug candidates, its preclinical programs and its 
administrative organization. 

Going Concern 

Pursuant to the requirements of Accounting Standard Codification (ASC) 205-40, Presentation of Financial 
Statements-Going Concern, management is required at each reporting period to evaluate whether there are conditions or 
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern 
within one year after the date that the financial statements are issued. This evaluation initially does not take into 
consideration the potential mitigating effect of management’s plans that have not been fully implemented as of the date 
the financial statements are issued. When substantial doubt exists under this methodology, management evaluates 
whether the mitigating effects of its plans sufficiently alleviate the substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. The mitigating effect of management’s plans, however, is only considered if both (1) it is 
probable that the plans will be effectively implemented within one year after the date that the financial statements are 
issued, and (2) it is probable that the plans, when implemented, will mitigate the relevant conditions or events that raise 
substantial doubt about the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern for one year after the date that these financial 
statements are issued. In performing its analysis, management excluded certain elements of its operating plan that cannot 
be considered probable. Under ASC 205-40, the future receipts of potential funding from future equity or debt issuances 
or by entering into partnership agreements cannot be considered probable at this time because these plans are not entirely 
within the Company’s control nor have they been approved by the Board of Directors as of the date of these consolidated 
financial statements.  
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Based on the Company’s current operating plan, it is anticipated that cash and cash equivalents of $3.4 million as of 
December 31, 2023 will allow it to meet liquidity requirements into April 2024. As of March 21, 2024 the Company’s 
cash balance on hand is approximately $3.4 million. The Company continues to work to raise additional capital however 
as of the date of these financial statements there is no guarantee that the Company will be able to raise additional funds 
to extend operations past April 2024. The Company’s history of losses, negative cash flows from operations, liquid 
resources currently on hand, and dependence on the ability to obtain additional financing to fund its operations, about 
which there can be no certainty, have resulted in the assessment that there is substantial doubt about the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from the issuance date of these financial 
statements. While the Company has plans in place to mitigate this risk, which primarily consist of raising additional 
capital through a combination of public or private equity or debt financings or by entering into partnership agreements 
for further development of our drug candidates, there is no guarantee that it will be successful in these mitigation 
efforts.The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which 
contemplates realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business.  

Basis of Presentation 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America, or GAAP and include the financial statements of Cyclacel 
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and all of the Company’s wholly owned subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts and transactions 
have been eliminated. 

 
Reverse Stock Split 

The Company effected a 15:1 reverse stock split of the Company’s common stock on December 18, 2023 (the 
“Reverse Stock Split”). All share and per share information has been retroactively adjusted to give effect to the Reverse 
Stock Split for all periods presented, unless otherwise indicated. 

 
2.    Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities and related disclosures of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of expenses during the reporting period. 
Critical estimates include inputs used to determine clinical trial accruals and stock-based compensation expense. 
Cyclacel reviews its estimates on an ongoing basis. The estimates are based on historical experience and on various other 
assumptions that the Company believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these 
estimates. Cyclacel believes the judgments and estimates required by the following accounting policies to be significant 
in the preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements. 

Foreign Currency and Currency Translation 

Transactions that are denominated in a foreign currency are remeasured into the functional currency at the current 
exchange rate on the date of the transaction. Any foreign currency-denominated monetary assets and liabilities are 
subsequently remeasured at current exchange rates, with gains or losses recognized as foreign exchange (losses) gains in 
the statement of operations. 

The assets and liabilities of the Company’s international subsidiary are translated from its functional currency into 
United States dollars at exchange rates prevailing at the balance sheet date. Average rates of exchange during the period 
are used to translate the statement of operations, while historical rates of exchange are used to translate any equity 
transactions. Translation adjustments arising on consolidation due to differences between average rates and balance sheet 
rates, as well as unrealized foreign exchange gains or losses arising from translation of intercompany loans for which 
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settlement is not not planned or anticipated in the foreseeable future and that are of a long-term-investment nature, are 
recorded in other comprehensive loss. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Financial instruments that potentially expose the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash 
and cash equivalents. The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or 
less at the time of initial purchase to be cash equivalents. The objectives of the Company’s cash management policy are 
to safeguard and preserve funds, to maintain liquidity sufficient to meet Cyclacel’s cash flow requirements and to attain 
a market rate of return. The Company deposits its cash in financial institutions that it believes have high credit quality 
and has not experienced any losses on such accounts and does not believe it is exposed to any significant credit risk on 
cash and cash equivalents. 

The Company’s cash and cash equivalents balance at December 31, 2023 was $3.4 million and it maintains its cash 
accounts in several entities both within the United States and the United Kingdom. The cash balances for amounts held 
in the United States are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, or FDIC up to $250,000 per account. The 
Company has cash balances exceeding the balance insured by the FDIC that totaled approximately $2.4 million at 
December 31, 2023. The cash balances for amounts held in the United Kingdom are insured by the UK Government 
Financial Services Compensation Scheme, or FSCS up to £85,000 per account. The Company has cash balances 
exceeding the balance insured by the FSCS that totaled approximately $0.6 million at December 31, 2023. 

Property and Equipment 

The components of property and equipment are stated at cost and depreciated on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful lives of the related assets, which are generally three to five years. Amortization of leasehold 
improvements is performed using the straight-line method over the shorter of the remaining lease term or the estimated 
useful life of the related assets. Upon sale or retirement of assets, the costs and related accumulated depreciation and 
amortization are removed from the balance sheet and the resulting gain or loss on sale is reflected as a component of 
operating income or loss. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to operating expenses as incurred. 

Impairment of Long-lived Assets 

The Company reviews property and equipment for impairment whenever events or changes in business 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be fully recoverable. The Company assesses the 
recoverability of the potentially affected long-lived assets by determining whether the carrying value of such assets can 
be recovered through undiscounted future operating cash flows. 

Impairment, if any, is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of a long-lived asset or asset group 
exceeds its fair value. 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit 
price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants on the measurement date. Valuation techniques used to measure fair value must maximize the use of 
observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. Assets and liabilities measured at fair value are 
classified and disclosed in one of the following three levels of the fair value hierarchy, of which the first two are 
considered observable and the last is considered unobservable: 

• Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

• Level 2 — Observable inputs (other than Level 1 quoted prices), such as quoted prices in active markets for 
similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices in markets that are not active for identical or similar assets or 
liabilities, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data. 
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• Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity that are significant to 
determining the fair value of the assets or liabilities, including pricing models, discounted cash flow 
methodologies and similar techniques. 

The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, other receivables, accounts payable and accrued expenses 
approximate their fair values due to the short-term nature of these assets and liabilities. 

Segments 

The Company is managed and operated as one business which is focused on using cell cycle, transcriptional 
regulation and mitosis control biology to develop innovative, targeted medicines for cancer and other proliferative 
diseases. The entire business is managed by a single management team that reports to the Chief Executive Officer. The 
Company does not operate separate lines of business with respect to any of its products or product candidates and the 
Company does not prepare discrete financial information with respect to separate products or product candidates or by 
location. Accordingly, the Company views its business as one reportable operating segment with development 
operations in two geographic areas, namely the United States and the United Kingdom. 

Revenue Recognition 

The Company recognizes revenue in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 606, Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers. The Company recognized $420,000 of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2023. This 
revenue relates to recovery of clinical manufacturing costs associated with an investigator sponsored study managed by 
Cedars-Sinai Medical Center. There were no revenues recognized for the comparative period in 2022. Royalty income, if 
any, is recognized when the licensee sells the underlying product to which the royalty relates. 

Other Income 

Other income is primarily related to royalty income received under a historical Asset Purchase Agreement for 
activities which are not part of the Company’s ongoing operations and activities. 

Research and Development Costs 

Research and development expenses consist primarily of costs associated with the development of the Company’s 
product candidates, including upfront fees, milestones, compensation and other expenses for research and development 
personnel, supplies and development materials, costs for consultants and related contract research, facility costs and 
depreciation. Expenditures relating to research and development are expensed as incurred. 

Clinical Trial Accounting 

Data management and monitoring of the Company’s clinical trials are performed with the assistance of contract 
research organizations, or CROs or clinical research associates, or CRAs in accordance with the Company’s standard 
operating procedures. Typically, CROs and CRAs bill monthly for services performed, and others bill based upon 
milestones achieved. The Company accrues unbilled clinical trial expenses based on estimates of the level of services 
performed each period. Clinical trial costs related to patient enrollment are accrued as patients are entered into and 
progress through the trial. 

Patent Costs 

Patent prosecution costs are charged to general and administrative expenses as incurred as recoverability of such 
expenditure is uncertain. 
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Leases 

The Company accounts for lease contracts in accordance with ASC 842. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, all of 
the Company’s leases are classified as operating leases. 

The Company recognizes an asset for the right to use an underlying leased asset for the lease term and records lease 
liabilities based on the present value of the Company’s obligation to make lease payments under the lease. As the 
Company’s leases do not indicate an implicit rate, the Company uses a best estimate of its incremental borrowing rate to 
discount the future lease payments. The Company estimates its incremental borrowing rate based on observable 
information about risk-free interest rates that are the same tenure as the lease term, adjusted for various factors, including 
the effects of assumed collateral, the nature of how a loan would be repaid (e.g., amortizing versus bullet), and the 
Company’s credit risk. 

The Company evaluates options included in its lease agreements to extend or terminate the lease. The Company will 
reflect the effects of exercising those options in the lease term when it is reasonably certain that the Company will 
exercise that option. In assessing whether it is reasonably certain that the Company will exercise an option, the Company 
considers factors such as: 

• The lease payments due in any optional period; 
• Penalties for failure to exercise (or not exercise) the option; 
• Market factors, such as the availability of similar assets and current rental rates for such assets; 
• The nature of the underlying leased asset and its importance to the Company’s operations; and 
• The remaining useful lives of any related leasehold improvements. 

Lease expense for the Company’s operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term and is 
reported as a component of general and administrative expense. Variable lease payments, if any, are recognized in the 
period when the obligation to make those payments is incurred. Lease incentives received prior to lease commencement 
are recorded as a reduction in the right-of-use asset. Fixed lease incentives received after lease commencement reduce 
both the lease liability and the right-of-use asset. 

The Company has elected an accounting policy to account for the lease and non-lease components as a single lease 
component. 

Stock-based Compensation 

The Company measures all stock options and other stock-based awards granted to employees and directors based on 
the fair value on the date of the grant and recognizes compensation expense of those awards over the requisite service 
period, which for the Company is the period between the grant date and the date the award vests or becomes exercisable. 
Many awards granted by the Company vest ratably over three or four years. However, certain awards granted to 
members of the Company’s Board of Directors vest in their entirety on the one-year anniversary following the date of 
grant. Generally, the Company issues stock options and restricted stock awards to employees with only service-based 
vesting conditions and records the expense for these awards using the straight-line method. However, in certain years, 
the Company will grant share-based payment awards to employees that are dependent upon the fulfillment of certain 
clinical and financial conditions. In such instances where the performance condition must be met for the award to vest, 
the company only recognizes compensation expense when the award is probable of vesting (See Note 12 — Stock-Based 
Compensation). 

The Company classifies stock-based compensation expenses in its statement of operations in the same manner in 
which the award recipient’s payroll costs are classified. The Company accounts for forfeitures as they occur. 
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The fair value of restricted stock and restricted stock units is determined based on the number of shares granted and 
the quoted price of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant. The determination of grant-date fair value for 
stock option awards is estimated using the Black-Scholes model, which includes variables such as the expected volatility 
of the Company’s share price, expected term of the award, interest rates, and dividend yields. 

The Company relies on its historical volatility as an input to the option pricing model as management believes that 
this rate will be representative of future volatility over the expected term of the options. 

The expected term assumption is estimated using past history of early exercise behavior and expectations about 
future behaviors. 

The weighted average risk-free interest rate represents the interest rate for treasury constant maturities published by 
the Federal Reserve Board. If the term of available treasury constant maturity instruments is not equal to the expected 
term of an employee option, Cyclacel interpolates a discount rate based on the two Federal Reserve securities closest to 
the expected term of the employee option. 

The expected dividend yield is zero, as the Company has never paid cash dividends on common stock and does not 
expect to pay any cash dividends on common stock in the foreseeable future. 

Income Taxes 

The Company accounts for income taxes using the liability method. Under this method, deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are determined based on the difference between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities 
using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to affect taxable income. Valuation 
allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amounts expected to be realized. 

The Company accounts for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in the financial statements by applying a two-
step process to determine the amount of tax benefit to be recognized. First, the tax position must be evaluated to 
determine the likelihood that it will be sustained upon external examination by the taxing authorities. If the tax position 
is deemed more-likely-than-not-to be sustained, the tax position is then assessed to determine the amount of benefit to 
recognize in the financial statements. The amount of the benefit that may be recognized is the largest amount that has a 
greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement. The provision for income taxes includes the 
effects of any resulting tax reserves for unrecognized tax benefits that are considered appropriate as well as the related 
net interest and penalties. 

The Company records research and development tax credits within income taxes. Credit is taken in the accounting 
period for research and development tax credits, which will be claimed from H.M. Revenue & Customs, or HMRC, the 
United Kingdom’s taxation and customs authority, in respect of qualifying research and development costs incurred in 
the same accounting period. 

Net Loss Per Common Share 

The Company calculates net loss per common share in accordance with ASC 260 “Earnings Per Share”. Basic and 
diluted net loss per common share was determined by dividing the net loss applicable to common stockholders by the 
weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. 

In periods in which the Company reports a net loss attributable to common stockholders, diluted net loss per share 
attributable to common stockholders is the same as basic net loss per share attributable to common stockholders since 
potentially dilutive common shares are not assumed to have been issued if their effect is anti-dilutive. The Company 
reported a net loss attributable to common stockholders for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022. 

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company calculated loss per share using the two-class method. The 
two-class method is an allocation formula that determines loss per share for each share of common stock and redeemable 
common stock (see Note 11), according to dividends declared and participation rights in undistributed earnings. The 
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reconciliation showing the loss per share attributable to common and redeemable common stockholders is presented in 
Note 15. 

Comprehensive Income (Loss) 

All components of comprehensive income (loss), including net income (loss), are reported in the financial 
statements in the period in which they are recognized. Comprehensive income (loss) is defined as the change in equity 
during a period from transactions and other events and circumstances from non-owner sources. Net income (loss) and 
other comprehensive income (loss), including foreign currency translation adjustments, are reported to arrive at 
comprehensive income (loss). There were no reclassifications out of other comprehensive income (loss) during the years 
ended December 31, 2023 and 2022. 

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements 

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) has issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2020-04, 
“Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848)”. This standard provides optional expedients and exceptions for applying GAAP to 
contracts, hedging relationships, and other transactions affected by reference rate reform initiatives that would replace 
interbank offered rates, including the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR). For example, modifications of lease 
contracts within the scope of ASC 842 solely for changes in reference rates would be accounted for as a continuation of 
the existing contracts with no reassessments of the lease classification and the discount rate. Following the issuance of 
ASU 2022-06, “Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Deferral of the Sunset Date of Topic 848”, the relief remains 
effective for all entities as of March 12, 2020 through December 31, 2024. The Company does not currently have any 
contracts affected by this guidance. 

The FASB has issued ASU 2023-07, “Segment Reporting (Topic 280)”. This standard will require all public 
entities – even those like the Company that have a single reportable segment – to disclose additional information about 
the title and position of the Chief Operaing Decision Maker (“CODM”), the measure or measures of segment profit and 
loss used by the CODM in assessing segment performance and deciding how to allocate resources, an explanation of 
how the CODM uses the reported measure(s) in assessing segment performance, significant segment expenses that are 
regularly provided to the CODM, and a reconciliation of segment profit and loss to the closest consolidated totals 
prepared under United States GAAP. The amendments in ASU 2023-07 are effective for fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. ASU 2023-07 will not 
change the way in which reportable segments are determined.  However, the Company is currently evaluating the effects 
of ASU 2023-07 on its financial statement presentation and disclosures. 

The FASB has issued ASU 2023-09, “Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures”. This 
standard will require all entities shall disclose the amount of income taxes paid (net of refunds received) disaggregated 
by federal (national), state, and foreign for each annual reporting period.  The guidance in ASU 2023-09 becomes 
effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024.  The Company already discloses the amount of cash 
taxes received and does not anticipate that ASU 2023-09 will require significant adjustments to the presentation of that 
information. 

 
3.    Significant Contracts 

 
Distribution, Licensing and Research Agreements 

The Company has entered into licensing and similar agreements with academic and research organizations. Under 
the terms of these agreements, the Company has received licenses to technology and patent applications. The Company 
may be required to pay royalties on future sales of products employing the technology or falling under claims of patent 
applications. 
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Under a 2003 license agreement, the Company licensed certain patent rights for sapacitabine. The Company will not 
be pursuing further development of sapacitabine and the license agreement was terminated effective as of March 23, 
2023 for commercial reasons.  

The three-year term of the Clinical Collaboration Agreement, or CCA with The University of Texas MD Anderson 
Cancer Center, or MD Anderson ended in September 2021, in accordance with its terms. The main objective of the CCA 
was to clinically evaluate the safety and efficacy of three Cyclacel medicines in patients with hematological 
malignancies, including chronic lymphocytic leukemias, acute myeloid leukemias, myelodysplastic syndromes and other 
advanced leukemias. Under the terms of the CCA, MD Anderson conducted four clinical studies and under the risk-
sharing agreement MD Anderson assumed the patient costs for all studies and Cyclacel, who is the sponsor, provided 
investigational drugs and other limited support. The agreement provided that the Company would make certain 
payments to MD Anderson upon first commercial sale in specific indications studied in the alliance. There were no such 
payments earned in 2023 or 2022. 

4.    Cash and Cash Equivalents 

The following is a summary of cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands): 
 
    

 December 31,  
     2023     2022 

Cash $  3,303  $ 13,798
Cash equivalents    75  4,547

Total cash and cash equivalents $  3,378  $ 18,345
 
Cash equivalents are made up entirely of money market funds. 

5.    Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities 

The following tables present information about the Company’s financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value 
on a recurring basis and indicate the level of the fair value hierarchy utilized to determine such fair values (in 
thousands): 

 
    

 Fair Value Measurements 
 as of December 31, 2023 Using: 
    Level 1    Level 2      Level 3    Total 

Assets:         
Cash equivalents $ 75 $  —  $  — $ 75

Total Assets $ 75 $  —  $  — $ 75
 
    

 Fair Value Measurements 
 as of December 31, 2022 Using: 
    Level 1    Level 2      Level 3    Total 

Assets:         
Cash equivalents $ 4,547 $  —  $  — $ 4,547

Total Assets $ 4,547 $  —  $  — $ 4,547
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6.    Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets 

The following is a summary of prepaid expenses and other current assets at December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in 
thousands): 
 
    

 December 31,   December 31, 
     2023     2022 

Research and development tax credit receivable $  2,933  $ 4,664
Prepayments and VAT receivable   792  976
Other current assets    341  426
 $  4,066  $ 6,066
 

 
7.            Non-Current Assets 
 

As at December 31, 2023, the Company had non-current assets of $1.3 million, which comprised clinical trial 
deposits held by a contract research organization in relation to the Company’s Phase 1/2 clinical trials. 
 
8.    Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment consisted of the following at December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands): 
 
    

   December 31,  
    Lives in years      2023    2022 
Leasehold improvements 2 to 5  $  6 $ 6
Office equipment and furniture 3 to 5     423 409
     429 415
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization       (420) (383)
  $  9 $ 32
 

 
9.    Accrued and Other Current Liabilities 

Accrued and other current liabilities consisted of the following at December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands): 
 

    

 December 31,   December 31, 
     2023     2022 
Accrued research and development $  3,668  $ 3,611
Accrued legal and professional fees    570  333
Other current liabilities    380  1,006
 $  4,618  $ 4,950
 

 
Other current liabilities include accrued payroll costs of approximately $0 and $680,000 for the years ended 

December 31, 2023 and 2022 respectively. 
 
10.    Commitments and Contingencies 

General 

Please refer to Note 3 — Significant Contracts for further discussion of certain of the Company’s commitments and 
contingencies. 
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Leases 

In April 2022, the Company extended the lease for its corporate headquarters facility in Berkeley Heights, New 
Jersey for a further three years, expiring in July 2025. 

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the Company recognized operating lease expenses 
of $74,218 and $62,528 respectively, including $10,851 in 2023 relating to a short term lease for offices in Dundee, 
Scotland. The remaining lease term as of December 31, 2023 is approximately 1.6 years for the Berkeley Heights 
facility. The discount rate used by the Company in determining the lease liability was 12%. 

The following is a summary of the Company’s future contractual obligations and commitments relating to its 
facilities lease as at December 31, 2023 (in thousands): 
   

      Operating Lease
   Obligation 
2024  $ 66
2025    38
Thereafter    —
Total future minimum lease obligation  $ 104
Less imputed interest   (11)
Total  $ 93

 

 
11.   Stockholders’ Equity 

The Company has completed the following equity issuances during the periods presented in the consolidated 
financial statements. 

December 2023 Registered Direct Offering Securities Purchase Agreement 

On December 21, 2023, the Company entered into a securities purchase agreement (the “Securities Purchase 
Agreement”) with certain institutional investors (“Purchasers”). Pursuant to the Securities Purchase Agreement, the 
Company agreed to sell in a registered direct offering (“Registered Direct Offering”) 168,500 shares (“Shares”) of the 
Company’s common stock, $0.001 par value per share (“Common Stock”), and pre-funded warrants (“Pre-Funded 
Warrants”) to purchase up to 219,700 shares of Common Stock. The Pre-Funded Warrants have an exercise price of 
$0.001 per share and are immediately exercisable and can be exercised at any time after their original issuance until such 
Pre-Funded Warrants are exercised in full. Each Share is being sold at an offering price of $3.315 and each Pre-Funded 
Warrant is being sold at an offering price of $3.314 (equal to the purchase price per Share minus the exercise price of the 
Pre-Funded Warrant). 

Pursuant to the Securities Purchase Agreement, in a concurrent private placement (together with the Registered 
Direct Offering, the “Offerings”), the Company also agreed to issue to the Purchasers unregistered warrants (“Common 
Warrants”) to purchase up to 388,200 shares of Common Stock. Each Common Warrant has an exercise price of 
$3.19 per share, is exercisable immediately following their original issuance and will expire seven years from the 
original issuance date. The closing of the offering occurred on December 26, 2023, and the net proceeds to the Company 
were approximately $1.0 million, after deducting placement agent fees and other offering expenses payable by the 
Company. 

On December 21, 2023, in a separate concurrent insider private placement (the “Insider Private Placement”), the 
Company also entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement with certain of its executive officers (the “Insider Securities 
Purchase Agreement”) pursuant to which the Company agreed to sell in a private placement (i) 6,070 shares of Common 
Stock and warrants to purchase 6,070 shares of Common Stock on the same terms as the Common Warrants issued to the 
Purchasers in the Offerings to Spiro Rombotis, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, and (ii) 1,886 shares of 
Common Stock and warrants to purchase 1,886 shares of Common Stock on the same terms as the Common Warrants 
issued to the Purchasers in the Offerings to Paul McBarron, the Company’s Executive Vice President-Finance, Chief 
Financial Officer and Chief Operating Officer. Each such share of Common Stock and accompanying warrant was sold 
at a purchase price of $3.315, which was the same purchase price for the Shares sold in the Registered Direct Offering. 
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Ladenburg Thalmann & Co. Inc. (the “Placement Agent”) acted as the exclusive placement agent for the Offerings, 
pursuant to a placement agency agreement (the “Placement Agency Agreement”), dated December 21, 2023, by and 
between the Company and the Placement Agent. 

Pursuant to the Placement Agency Agreement, the Company paid the Placement Agent a cash placement fee equal 
to 8.0% of the aggregate gross proceeds raised in the Offerings from sales arranged for by the Placement Agent. Subject 
to certain conditions, the Company also agreed to reimburse all reasonable travel and other out-of-pocket expenses of the 
Placement Agent in connection with the Offerings, including but not limited to legal fees, up to a maximum of $85,000. 
In addition, the Placement Agent also received warrants that have substantially the same terms as the Warrants issued in 
the concurrent private placement to the Purchasers in the Offerings to purchase that number of shares of Common Stock 
equal to 6.0% of the aggregate number of shares of Common Stock and Prefunded Warrants sold in the Offerings, or an 
aggregate of 23,769 shares of Common Stock, at an exercise price of $4.14375 per share (the “Placement Agent 
Warrants”). The Placement Agent Warrants will be exercisable immediately following the date of issuance and will 
expire five years from issuance. The Placement Agency Agreement contains customary representations, warranties and 
agreements by the Company and customary conditions to closing. The Company has agreed to indemnify the Placement 
Agent against certain liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act, and liabilities arising from breaches of 
representations and warranties contained in the Placement Agency Agreement, or to contribute to payments that the 
Placement Agent may be required to make in respect of those liabilities. 

Each of the instruments issued in the Offerings and the Insider Private Placement have been classified and recorded 
as part of shareholders’ equity.  The amounts allocated to each issued security were based on their relative fair values, 
resulting in initial carrying values of the respective instruments as follows: 

 
 

The aggregate fair value of the Placement Agent Warrants was $47,000. These have been accounted for as a direct 
cost of the Offerings and Inside Private Placement, resulting in no net effect to overall shareholders’ equity. 

In determining the fair values of the Pre-Funded Warrants, Regular Warrants, and Placement Agent Warrants, the 
Company used a Black-Scholes Option Pricing model with the following assumptions:  
 

 
 

The fair value of the common shares was determined using the closing price of the Company’s common stock as of 
December 26, 2023, which is the date that the Offerings and the Insider Private Placement closed. 

August 2021 Controlled Equity Offering Sales Agreement 

On August 12, 2021, the Company entered into a Controlled Equity Offering Sales Agreement (the “Sales 
Agreement”) with Cantor Fitzgerald & Co. ("Cantor"), pursuant to which the Company could issue and sell, from time to 
time, shares of its common stock having an aggregate offering price of up to $50.0 million through Cantor as the sales 
agent. Cantor could sell the Company’s common stock by any method permitted by law deemed to be an “at the market 
offering” as defined in Rule 415(a)(4) of the Securities Act. 

On August 12, 2022, the Company became aware that the shelf registration statement on Form S-3 (file number 
333-231923) (the “Registration Statement”) associated with this Sales Agreement had expired on June 21, 2022. Prior to 

Allocated Amount
Common Shares $258,000
Pre-Funded Warrants $321,000
Regular Warrants $470,000
Net Proceeds $1,049,000

Pre-Funded Warrants Regular Warrants Placement Agent Warrants

Expected volatility 134% 96% 99%
Contractual/expected term 1 month 7 years 5 years
Risk-free interest rate 5.53% 3.91% 3.89%
Expected dividend yield 0% 0% 0%
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becoming aware of the expiration, the Company sold an aggregate of 132,473 shares of its common stock at the market 
price, following the expiration of the Registration Statement and through August 12, 2022, for aggregate proceeds of 
approximately $2,721,187. There was no sale of shares post August 12, 2022. The sale of these shares were subject to 
potential rescission rights by certain shareholders. As a result of these potential rescission rights, the Company 
reclassified 207,807 shares (including 75,333 shares sold for which the Company did not receive any proceeds), with an 
aggregate purchase price of $4,494,496 of its common as stock outside stockholders’ equity as of December 31, 2022. 
These shares have been treated as issued and outstanding for financial reporting purposes. The rescission rights for these 
shares has now lapsed and the shares were reclassified back to permanent equity. As of December 31, 2023, there have 
been no claims or demands to exercise such rights. 

On August 15, 2022, due to expiry of the Registration Statement, the Sales Agreement was mutually terminated. A 
total of 218,738 shares, for gross proceeds of approximately $7.6 million, had been sold pursuant to the Sales 
Agreement. 

Warrants 

December 2020 Warrants 

As of December 31, 2023, warrants to purchase 44,657 shares of common stock issued pursuant to a securities 
purchase agreement in a December 2020 financing transaction remained outstanding. Each warrant shall be exercisable 
beginning on the 12-month anniversary of the date of issuance for a period of five years after the date of issuance, at an 
exercise price of $61.95 per warrant share. The exercise price of the warrants will be subject to adjustment in the event 
of any stock dividends and splits, reverse stock split, recapitalization, reorganization or similar transaction, as described 
in the warrants. The warrants may be exercised on a “cashless” basis. 

During the year ended December 31, 2023, 15,833 warrants lapsed upon conversion of the associated Series B 
Preferred Stock. There were no exercises of these warrants during the year ended December 31, 2022. 

April 2020 Warrants 

As of December 31, 2023, 146,000 warrants issued in connection with an April 2020 equity financing remained 
outstanding, each with an exercise price of $75.00. The common warrants are immediately exercisable and will 
expire on the fifth anniversary of the original issuance date. The exercise price and number of shares of common 
stock issuable upon exercise is subject to appropriate adjustment in the event of stock dividends, stock splits, 
reorganizations or similar events affecting the Company’s common stock. The common warrants were issued 
separately from the common stock and were eligible for transfer immediately after issuance. A common warrant to 
purchase one share of common stock was issued for every share of common stock purchased in this offering. 

The common warrants are exercisable, at the option of each holder, in whole or in part, by delivering to the 
Company a duly executed exercise notice accompanied by payment in full for the number of shares of the 
Company’s common stock purchased upon such exercise (except in the case of a cashless exercise). A holder 
(together with its affiliates) may not exercise any portion of the common warrant to the extent that the holder 
would own more than 4.99% of the outstanding common stock immediately after exercise, except that upon at least 
61 days prior notice from the holder to the Company, the holder may increase the amount of ownership of 
outstanding stock after exercising the holder’s common warrants up to 9.99% of the number of shares of the 
Company’s common stock outstanding immediately after giving effect to the exercise, as such percentage 
ownership is determined in accordance with the terms of the common warrants. No fractional shares of common 
stock will be issued in connection with the exercise of a common warrant. In lieu of fractional shares, the 
Company will round down to the next whole share. 

There were no warrants exercised during the years ended December 31, 2023 or December 31, 2022. 

July 2017 Warrants 

As of December 31, 2023, 24,968 warrants issued in connection with a July 2017 underwritten public offering 
remained outstanding, each with an exercise price of $600. All such warrants were issued in connection with the 
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July 2017 underwritten public offering and are immediately exercisable. The warrants expire in 2024. Subject to limited 
exceptions, a holder of warrants will not have the right to exercise any portion of its warrants if the holder (together with 
such holder’s affiliates, and any persons acting as a group together with such holder or any of such holder’s affiliates) 
would beneficially own a number of shares of common stock in excess of 4.99% (or, at the election of the purchaser, 
9.99%) of the shares of our Common Stock then outstanding after giving effect to such exercise. 

The exercise price and the number of shares issuable upon exercise of the warrants is subject to appropriate 
adjustment in the event of recapitalization events, stock dividends, stock splits, stock combinations, reclassifications, 
reorganizations or similar events affecting the Company’s common stock. The warrant holders must pay the exercise 
price in cash upon exercise of the warrants unless such warrant holders are utilizing the cashless exercise provision of 
the warrants. On the expiration date, unexercised warrants will automatically be exercised via the “cashless” exercise 
provision. 

Prior to the exercise of any warrants to purchase common stock, holders of the warrants will not have any of the 
rights of holders of the common stock purchasable upon exercise, including the right to vote, except as set forth therein. 

There were no portion of these warrants exercised during each of the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022. 

Series B Preferred Stock 

237,745 shares of the Company’s Series B Preferred Stock were issued in a December 2020 Securities Purchase 
Agreement. Each share of Series B Preferred Stock shall initially be convertible into one third (1/3) share of Common 
Stock (the “Conversion Shares”), subject to adjustment in accordance with the Certificate of Designation. 

Holders of Series B Preferred Stock are entitled to receive dividends on shares of Series B Preferred Stock equal, on 
an as-if-converted-to-Common-Stock basis, and in the same form as dividends actually paid on shares of the Common 
Stock. Except as otherwise required by law, the Series B Preferred Stock does not have voting rights. However, as long 
as any shares of Series B Preferred Stock are outstanding, the Company will not, without the affirmative vote of the 
holders of a majority of the then outstanding shares of the Series B Preferred Stock, (a) alter or change adversely the 
powers, preferences or rights given to the Series B Preferred Stock, (b) alter or amend the Certificate of Designation, 
(c) amend its certificate of incorporation or other charter documents in any manner that adversely affects any rights of 
the holders of Series B Preferred Stock, (d) increase the number of authorized shares of Series B Preferred Stock, (e) pay 
certain dividends or (f) enter into any agreement with respect to any of the foregoing. The Series B Preferred Stock does 
not have a preference upon any liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Company. The Purchaser may convert 
shares of Series B Preferred Stock through a conversion into shares of Common Stock if and solely to the extent that 
such conversion would not result in the Purchaser beneficially owning in excess of 9.99% of then-outstanding Common 
Stock or aggregate voting power of the Company (such limitation, the “Ownership Limitation”) and any portion in 
excess of such limitation will remain outstanding as Series B Preferred Stock. 

During the year ended December 31, 2023, 118,745 shares of Series B Preferred Stock was converted, at the option 
of the holder, into 39,582 shares of Common Stock. As of December 31, 2023, 119,000 shares of the Series B Preferred 
Stock remained issued and outstanding and are convertible into 39,667 shares of common stock. 

Series A Preferred Stock 

8,872 shares of the Company’s Series A Preferred Stock were issued in a July 2017 Underwritten Public Offering. 
Each share of Series A Preferred Stock is convertible at any time at the option of the holder thereof, into a number of 
shares of common stock determined by dividing $1,000 by the initial conversion price of $600.00 per share, subject to a 
4.99% blocker provision, or, upon election by a holder prior to the issuance of shares of Series A Preferred Stock, 
9.99%, and is subject to adjustment for stock splits, stock dividends, distributions, subdivisions and combinations. 

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, 264 shares of the Series A Preferred Stock remain issued and outstanding. The 
264 shares of Series A Preferred Stock issued and outstanding at December 31, 2023, are convertible into 440 shares of 
common stock. 
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In the event of a liquidation, the holders of shares of the Series A Preferred Stock may participate on an as-
converted-to-common-stock basis in any distribution of assets of the Company. The Company shall not pay any 
dividends on shares of common stock (other than dividends in the form of common stock) unless and until such time as 
dividends on each share of Series A Preferred Stock are paid on an as-converted basis. There is no restriction on the 
Company’s ability to repurchase shares of Series A Preferred Stock while there is any arrearage in the payment of 
dividends on such shares, and there are no sinking fund provisions applicable to Series A Preferred Stock. 

Subject to certain conditions, at any time following the issuance of the Series A Preferred Stock, the Company has 
the right to cause each holder of the Series A Preferred Stock to convert all or part of such holder’s Series A Preferred 
Stock in the event that (i) the volume weighted average price of our common stock for 30 consecutive trading days, or 
Measurement Period exceeds 300% of the initial conversion price of the Series A Preferred Stock (subject to adjustment 
for forward and reverse stock splits, recapitalizations, stock dividends and similar transactions), (ii) the daily trading 
volume on each Trading Day during such Measurement Period exceeds $500,000 per trading day and (iii) the holder is 
not in possession of any information that constitutes or might constitute, material non-public information which was 
provided by the Company. The right to cause each holder of Series A Preferred Stock to convert all or part of such 
holder’s Series A Preferred Stock shall be exercised ratably among the holders of the then outstanding preferred stock. 

The Series A Preferred Stock has no maturity date, will carry the same dividend rights as the common stock, and 
with certain exceptions contains no voting rights. In the event of any liquidation or dissolution of the Company, the 
Series A Preferred Stock ranks senior to the common stock in the distribution of assets, to the extent legally available for 
distribution. 

6% Convertible Exchangeable Preferred Stock 

As of December 31, 2023, there were 335,273 shares of the Company’s 6% Convertible Exchangeable, or Preferred 
Stock issued and outstanding at an issue price of $10.00 per share. Dividends on the Preferred Stock are cumulative from 
the date of original issuance at the annual rate of 6% of the liquidation preference of the Preferred Stock, and if declared, 
payable quarterly on the first day of February, May, August and November, commencing February 1, 2005. Any 
dividends must be declared by the Company’s Board of Directors and must come from funds that are legally available 
for dividend payments. The Preferred Stock has a liquidation preference of $10.00 per share, plus accrued and unpaid 
dividends. 

The Company’s Board of Directors considers numerous factors in determining whether to declare the quarterly 
dividend pursuant to the Certificate of Designations governing the terms of the Company’s Preferred Stock, including 
the requisite financial analysis and determination of a surplus. Accumulated but unpaid dividends in arrears on preferred 
stock were $0.7 million, or $1.95 per share, of preferred stock, as of December 31, 2023. 

The Preferred Stock is convertible at the option of the holder at any time into the Company’s shares of common 
stock at a conversion rate of approximately 0.0000167 shares of common stock for each share of Preferred Stock based 
on a price of $592,200. The Company has reserved 6 shares of common stock for issuance upon conversion of the 
remaining shares of Preferred Stock outstanding at December 31, 2023. The shares of previously converted Preferred 
Stock have been retired, cancelled and restored to the status of authorized but unissued shares of preferred stock, subject 
to reissuance by the Board of Directors as shares of Preferred Stock of one or more series. 

The Company may automatically convert the Preferred Stock into common stock if the closing price of the 
Company’s common stock has exceeded $888,300, which is 150% of the conversion price of the Preferred Stock, for at 
least 20 trading days during any 30-day trading period, ending within five trading days prior to notice of automatic 
conversion. 

The Certificate of Designations governing the Preferred Stock provides that if the Company fails to pay dividends 
on its Preferred Stock for six quarterly periods, holders of Preferred Stock are entitled to nominate and elect two 
directors to the Company’s Board of Directors. This right accrued to the holders of Preferred Stock as of August 2, 2010 
and two directors were nominated and elected at the annual meeting held on May 24, 2011. 
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The Preferred Stock has no maturity date and no voting rights prior to conversion into common stock, except under 
limited circumstances. 

The Company may, at its option, redeem the Preferred Stock in whole or in part, out of funds legally available at the 
redemption price of $10.00 per share. 

The Preferred Stock is exchangeable, in whole but not in part, at the option of the Company on any dividend 
payment date beginning on November 1, 2005, or Exchange Date for the Company’s 6% Convertible Subordinated 
Debentures, or Debentures at the rate of $10.00 principal amount of Debentures for each share of Preferred Stock. The 
Debentures, if issued, will mature 25 years after the Exchange Date and have terms substantially similar to those of the 
Preferred Stock. No such exchanges have taken place as of December 31, 2023. 

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the company declared dividends of $0.15 per share quarterly on its 6% 
Convertible Exchangeable Preferred Stock. These dividends were paid on May 1, August 1 and November 1, 2023, and 
February 1, 2024, respectively. 

 
12.  Stock-Based Compensation 

Stock based compensation has been reported within expense line items on the consolidated statement of operations 
for the years ended 2023 and 2022 as shown in the following table (in thousands): 

 
    

     Year Ended  
   December 31,  
  2023   2022 
General and administrative $  1,039  $ 1,051
Research and development  434   455
Stock-based compensation costs before income taxes $  1,473  $ 1,506

 
2018 Plan 
 
In May 2018, the Company’s stockholders approved the 2018 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2018 Plan”), under which 

Cyclacel may make equity incentive grants to its officers, employees, directors and consultants. The 2018 Plan replaced 
the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2015 Plan”). 

The 2018 Plan allows for various types of award grants, including stock options and restricted stock units.  

On June 13, 2023, the Company’s stockholders approved an additional 60,000 shares of common stock that may be 
issued under the 2018 Plan. On June 14, 2022, the Company’s stockholders approved an additional 33,333 shares of 
common stock that may be issued under the 2018 Plan. As of December 31, 2023, the Company has reserved 25,415 
shares of the Company’s common stock under the 2018 Plan for future issuances. Stock option awards granted under the 
Company’s equity incentive plans have a maximum life of 10 years and generally vest over a one to four-year period 
from the date of grant. 

2020 Inducement Equity Incentive Plan  
 
In October 2020, the Inducement Equity Incentive Plan (the “Inducement Plan”), became effective. Under the 

Inducement Plan, Cyclacel may make equity incentive grants to new senior level Employees (persons to whom the 
Company may issue securities without stockholder approval). The Inducement Plan allows for the issuance of up to 
13,333 shares of the Company’s common stock (or the equivalent of such number). As of December 31, 2023, 8,000 
shares under the Inducement Plan have been issued, leaving a remaining reserve of 5,333 shares. 
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Option Grants and Exercises 
 
There were 43,342 options granted during the year ended December 31, 2023, all issued under the 2018 Plan. These 

options had a grant date fair value ranging between $6.32-$10.98 per option. There were 34,822 options granted during 
the year ended December 31, 2022. These options had a grant date fair value ranging between $12.45-$43.50 per option.   

Of the options granted during the year ended December 31, 2023, 25,633 shall vest on the third anniversary of their 
date of grant, or earlier if either of the certain performance conditions are met relating to enrollment goals for various 
clinical studies. The Company has assumed that these awards will vest after three years as satisfaction of the 
performance conditions is not probable at this time. 

As of December 31, 2023, the total remaining unrecognized compensation cost related to the non-vested stock 
options with service conditions amounted to approximately $1.0 million, which will be amortized over the weighted-
average remaining requisite service period of 1.53 years. 

Outstanding Options 

A summary of the share option activity and related information is as follows: 
 

   

              Weighted      
     Weighted   Average    
   Number of   Average   Remaining   Aggregate 
  Options   Exercise   Contractual  Intrinsic 
  Outstanding Price Per Share  Term (Years) Value ($000)
Options outstanding at December 31, 2021 73,291 $ 112.90    8.99 $ 189
Granted  34,822 $ 36.16    — $ —
Cancelled/forfeited  (740) $ 157.33    — $ —
Options outstanding at December 31, 2022 107,373 $ 87.70    8.34 $ —
  
Granted 43,342 $ 8.82    — —
Cancelled/forfeited (7,919) $ 332.24    — —
Options outstanding at December 31, 2023 142,796 $ 50.20    7.96 $ —
Unvested at December 31, 2023 59,126 $ 19.81    9.10 $ —
Vested and exercisable at December 31, 2023 83,670 $ 71.68    7.16 $ —

 
The fair value of the stock options granted is calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model as prescribed 

by ASC 718 using the following assumptions: 
 

   

     
  Year ended   Year ended  
     December 31, 2023     December 31, 2022
Expected term (years) 5-6   5-6
Risk free interest rate 3.660%  – 4.160% 1.370% – 3.605%
Volatility 89% – 92%  86% – 93%
Expected dividend yield over expected term 0.00%  0.00%
Resulting weighted average grant date fair value $6.63  $26.44

 
There were no stock options exercised during each of the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023, respectively. 

The Company does not expect to be able to benefit from the deduction for stock option exercises that may occur because 
the company has tax loss carryforwards from prior periods that would be expected to offset any potential taxable income. 

Restricted Stock Units 

The Company issued 25,621 restricted stock units during the year ended December 31, 2023.  

8,488 restricted stock units issued in June 2023 vest on the first anniversary of the date of grant. Each of these 
restricted stock units were valued at $8.84 at the date of grant, which was equivalent to the market price of a share of the 
Company’s common stock on that date. 



101 

17,133 restricted stock units issued in January 2023 vest on the third anniversary of their date of grant, or earlier if 
certain defined clinical trial related performance targets are met. A three-year vesting assumption was applied to these 
restricted stock units as satisfaction of the performance conditions is not probable at this time. Each restricted stock unit 
was valued at $13.50 at the date of grant, which was equivalent to the market price of a share of the Company’s common 
stock on that date. As of December 31, 2023, 300 of these restricted stock units have been forfeited as the recipient’s 
employment was voluntarily terminated by the Company. 

The Company issued 7,911 restricted stock units during the year ended December 31, 2022. These restricted stock 
units vest over a period of one year for awards granted to directors and three years for grants to employees. Each 
restricted stock unit was valued at $16.65 based on their fair value at the date of grant, which is equivalent to the market 
price of a share of the Company’s common stock.  

Summarized information for restricted stock units as of December 31, 2023 is as follows: 

   

     Weighted  Weighted 
      Average  Average 
  Restricted   Grant Date  Remaining
  Stock Units Value Per Share  Term 
Restricted Stock Units outstanding at December 31, 2021 1,266 $  100.35
Granted 7,911   16.65
Restricted Stock Units outstanding at December 31, 2022 9,177 $  28.20
  
Granted 25,621   11.96
Cancelled/forfeited (300)   13.50
  
Restricted Stock Units outstanding at December 31, 2023 34,498 $  16.26 8.96 years
Unvested at December 31, 2023 26,428 $  12.30 9.20 years
Vested and exercisable at December 31, 2023 8,070 $  29.24 8.17 years
 
13.  Employee Benefit Plans 

Pension Plan 

The Company operates a defined contribution group personal pension plan for all of its UK based employees. 
Company contributions to the plan totaled approximately $52,000 and $44,000 for the years ended December 31, 2023 
and 2022, respectively. 

401(k) Plan 

The 401(k) Plan provides for matching contributions by the Company in an amount equal to the lesser of 100% of 
the employee’s deferral or 6% of the U.S. employee’s qualifying compensation. The 401(k) Plan is intended to qualify 
under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code, so that contributions to the 401(k) Plan by employees or by the 
Company, and the investment earnings thereon, are not taxable to the employees until withdrawn. Company matching 
contributions are tax deductible by the Company when made. In 2023, Company employees could elect to reduce their 
current compensation by up to the statutorily prescribed annual limit of $22,500 if under 50 years old and $30,000 if 
over 50 years old and to have those funds contributed to the 401(k) Plan. The Company made contributions of 
approximately $103,000 and $95,000 to the 401(k) Plan for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 
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14.  Taxes 

(Loss) income from continuing operations before taxes is comprised of the following components for the years 
ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands): 
    

 Year Ended December 31,  
     2023     2022 
Domestic $  (806) $ (1,981)
Foreign    (24,745) (23,934)
Loss from continuing operations before taxes $  (25,551) $ (25,915)

 
The benefit (provision) for income taxes from continuing operations consists of the following (in thousands): 

    

 Year Ended December 31,  
     2023     2022 
Current  –  domestic $  (2) $ (2)
Current  –  foreign    2,998  4,719
Current  –  total    2,996  4,717
Deferred  –  domestic    —  —
Income tax benefit $  2,996  $ 4,717
 

The Company has incurred a taxable loss in each of the operating periods since incorporation. The income tax 
credits of $3.0 million and $4.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, represent UK 
research and development (“R&D”) tax credits for expenditures in the United Kingdom that are refundable. 

A reconciliation of the (benefit) provision for income taxes from continuing operations with the amount computed 
by applying the statutory federal tax rate to loss from continuing operations before income taxes is as follows (in 
thousands): 
    

 Year Ended December 31,  
     2023     2022 
Loss from continuing operations before taxes $  (25,551) $ (25,915)
Income tax expense computed at statutory federal tax rate    (5,366) (5,442)
Additional research and development tax relief    (5,409) (4,719)
Loss surrendered to generate R&D credit    4,865  6,169
Change in valuation allowance    1,261  2,310
Other foreign items    809  (3,487)
Disallowed expenses and non-taxable income    782  369
Stock Compensation   62  105
Foreign items, including change in tax rates, and other    —  (20)
Change in UK Tax Rate    —  (2)
 $  (2,996) $ (4,717)
 

Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets are shown below (in thousands): 
    

 Year Ended December 31,  
     2023     2022 
Net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards $  57,074  $ 53,092
Depreciation, amortization and impairment of property and equipment    39  61
Stock options    210  153
Right of use asset   (26) (40)
Lease liability   26  40
Total deferred tax assets    57,323  53,306
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets    (57,323) (53,306)
Net deferred tax assets $  —  $ —
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A valuation allowance has been established, as realization of such assets is uncertain. The Company’s management 
evaluated the positive and negative evidence bearing upon the realizability of its deferred assets, and has determined 
that, at present, the Company may not be able to recognize the benefits of the deferred tax assets under the more likely 
than not criteria. Accordingly, a valuation allowance of approximately $57.3 million has been established at 
December 31, 2023. The valuation allowance has increased by approximately $4.0 million in 2023. 

As specified in the Tax Reform Act of 1986, due to ownership changes, the Company’s ability to utilize its net 
operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards may be limited. Utilization of the NOLs may be subject to a substantial annual 
limitation under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 due to ownership change limitations that have 
occurred previously or that could occur in the future. These ownership changes may limit the amount of NOL and R&D 
credit carryforwards that can be utilized annually to offset future taxable income and tax, respectively. The Company 
completed a Section 382 study and has concluded that an ownership change occurred on March 4, 2015 and July 21, 
2017. As a result of the ownership changes, the NOLs are limited.  

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company has federal NOLs of $3.9 million and $3.6 million, respectively. 
The federal NOLs have an indefinite life. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company has state NOLs 
of $17.3 million and $22.1 million, respectively, which will begin to expire in 2028. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, 
the Company had foreign NOLs of $220.1 million and $203.0 million, respectively. The Company’s foreign NOL’s do 
not expire under UK tax law however the use of these NOLs is restricted to an annual £5.0 million allowance in each 
standalone company or group and above this allowance, there will be a 50% restriction in the profits that can be covered 
by losses brought forward. 

Management has evaluated all significant tax positions at December 31, 2023 and 2022 and concluded that there are 
no material uncertain tax positions. The Company would recognize both interest and penalties related to unrecognized 
benefits in income tax expense. The Company has not recorded any interest and penalties on any unrecognized tax 
benefits since its inception. 

Tax years 2020 - 2022 remain open to examination by major taxing jurisdictions to which the Company is subject, 
which are primarily in the United Kingdom and the United States, as carryforward attributes generated in years past may 
still be adjusted upon examination by the United Kingdom’s H.M. Revenue & Customs, the Internal Revenue Service 
(“IRS”) or state tax authorities. The Company is currently not under examination by the IRS or any other jurisdictions 
for any tax years. 

We have not provided a deferred tax liability on the cumulative amount of unremitted foreign earnings of 
international subsidiaries because it is our intent to permanently reinvest such earnings outside of the United States. 

The Company has an aggregate deficit in foreign earnings and therefore has not provided any deferred tax liability 
on its outside book-tax basis difference in its foreign subsidiaries and because it is also our intent to permanently reinvest 
any earnings outside of the United States. We would recognize this deferred tax liability if we were to experience a 
change in circumstances producing a change in that intention. As a result of the repeal of Section 902 foreign tax credit 
under the Tax Act, future distributions would not be offset by a foreign tax credit. 

Effective for tax years beginning after December 31, 2021, taxpayers are required to capitalize any expenses 
incurred that are considered incidental to research and experimentation (R&E) activities under IRC Section 174. While 
taxpayers historically had the option of deducting these expenses under IRC Section 174, the December 2017 Tax Cuts 
and Jobs Act mandates capitalization and amortization of R&E expenses for tax years tax years beginning after 
December 31, 2021. Expenses incurred in connection with R&E activities in the US must be amortized over a 5-year 
period if incurred, and R&E expenses incurred outside the US must be amortized over a 15-year period. R&E activities 
are broader in scope than qualified research activities that are considered under IRC Section 41 (relating to the research 
tax credit). For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company performed an analysis based on available guidance and 
determined that the company does not have any R&E expenses in the US. The company will continue to monitor this 
issue for future developments, but it does not expect R&E capitalization and amortization to require it to pay cash taxes 
now or in the near future. 
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15.   Net Loss Per Share 

Basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders was calculated as follows: 
 
   

 Years ended December 31,        
 2023 2022            
Numerator:   
Net loss $ (22,555) $ (21,198)   
Dividend on convertible exchangeable preferred shares (201) (201)   
Net loss attributable to common shareholders $ (22,756) $ (21,399)   
Deemed dividend on accretion of redeemable common 
stock (135)   
Remaining undistributed loss (22,756) (21,534)   
   
 Years ended December 31, 2023  Years ended December 31, 2022 

 
Common 

Shareholders

Redeemable 
Common 

Shareholders
Common 

Shareholders      

Redeemable 
Common 

Shareholders
Allocation of undistributed loss $ (22,756) $ — $  (18,872) $ (2,662)
Deemed dividend on accretion of redeemable common 
stock — —  135
Net loss attributable to common shareholders (22,756) —  (18,872) (2,527)
  
Denominator:  
Weighted-average number of common shares used in 
loss per share – basic and diluted 850,815 —  657,620  92,759
Loss per share - basic and diluted $ (26.75) $ — $  (28.70) $ (27.24)
Distributed earnings — —  —  1.46
Undistributed loss (26.75) —  (28.70) (28.70)
Net loss per share $ (26.75) $ — $  (28.70) $ (27.24)
 

Potential dilutive securities have been excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share as the effect 
would be to reduce the net loss per share. Therefore, the weighted average number of common shares outstanding used 
to calculate both basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders is the same. The Company 
excluded the following potential common shares, presented based on amounts outstanding at each period end, from the 
computation of diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders for the periods indicated because 
including them would have had an anti-dilutive effect: 

 
   

 December 31,   December 31, 
     2023     2022 
Stock options   142,796   107,373
Restricted Stock Units   34,498   9,177
6% convertible exchangeable preferred stock   6   6
Series A preferred stock   440   440
Series B preferred stock   39,667   79,248
Common stock warrants   635,550   215,625
Total shares excluded from calculation   852,957   411,869
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16.  Geographic Information 

Geographic information for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 is as follows (in thousands): 
 

    

 Year Ended December 31,  
     2023     2022 
Revenue       
United Kingdom $  420  $ —
Total Revenue $  420  $ —
Net loss       
United States $  (808) $ (1,983)
United Kingdom    (21,747) (19,215)
Total Net Loss $  (22,555) $ (21,198)
 
    

 December 31,  
     2023     2022 
Total Assets       
United States $  2,938  $ 18,220
United Kingdom    5,867  9,830
Total Assets $  8,805  $ 28,050
Long Lived Assets, net       
United States $  —  $ —
United Kingdom    9  32
Total Long Lived Assets, net $  9  $ 32
 

 
17.  Subsequent Events 

On January 12, 2024, the Board of Directors declared a quarterly cash dividend in the amount of $0.15 per share on 
the Company’s Preferred Stock. The cash dividend was paid on February 1, 2024 to the holders of record of the 
Preferred Stock as of the close of business on January 22, 2024. 
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Item 9.   Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 

None. 

Item 9A.  Controls and Procedures 

(a) Disclosure Controls: 

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed 
in our Exchange Act reports is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the 
Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to 
our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow for timely 
decisions regarding required disclosure. An evaluation was performed under the supervision and with the participation of 
the Company’s management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, on the effectiveness of 
the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2023. 

Pursuant to this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of 
December 31, 2023, the end of the period covered by this report, our disclosure controls and procedures were not 
effective at the reasonable assurance level due to the material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting. 

(b) Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting: 

Internal control over financial reporting refers to the process designed by, or under the supervision of, our Chief 
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, and effected by our Board of Directors, management and other personnel, 
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements 
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and includes those policies and 
procedures that: 

(1) Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 
dispositions of the assets of the Company; 

(2) Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial 
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of 
the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the 
Company; and 

(3) Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or 
disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

Internal control over financial reporting cannot provide absolute assurance of achieving financial reporting 
objectives because of its inherent limitations. Internal control over financial reporting is a process that involves human 
diligence and compliance and is subject to lapses in judgment and breakdowns resulting from human failures. Internal 
control over financial reporting also can be circumvented by collusion or improper override. Because of such limitations, 
there is a risk that material misstatements may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis by internal control over 
financial reporting. However, these inherent limitations are known features of the financial reporting process, and it is 
possible to design into the process safeguards to reduce, though not eliminate, this risk. 
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Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, 
as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a - 15(f) and 15d - 15(f). Under the supervision and with the participation 
of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of 
the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control  — 
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in 
2013. 

Management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023. 
Management’s assessment included an evaluation of the design of our internal control over financial reporting and 
testing of the operational effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. Subsequent to that evaluation, 
management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, concluded that the 
material weaknesses described below existed as of December 31, 2023. As a result, our management has concluded that 
we did not maintain effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023 based on the criteria set 
forth in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO.  

Material Weakness in Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
 

A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, 
such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of a company’s annual and interim financial 
statements will not be detected or prevented on a timely basis. Management has identified material weaknesses in our 
internal control over financial reporting associated with the design of our controls over the accounting treatment of 
contractually required deposits and the accounting treatment for complex non-routine equity transactions. Specifically, 
we did not effectively design controls to properly account for contractually required deposits and complex non-routine 
equity transactions.  

Remediation Plan 

Our remediation process is ongoing and is focused on designing and implementing additional monitoring controls to 
ensure all complex non routine transactions are identified and properly accounted for in a timely manner. This 
remediation process cannot be considered complete at this time. There can be no assurance that we will be successful in 
remediating the material weaknesses. We plan to continue to assess internal controls and procedures and intend to take 
further action as necessary or appropriate to address any other matters as they are identified. Notwithstanding the 
identified material weaknesses, we have concluded that the consolidated financial statements in this Annual Report on 
Form 10 K present fairly, in all material respects, our financial position, results of operations and cash flows as of the 
dates, and for the periods, presented, in conformity with GAAP.  

This annual report does not include an attestation report of our registered independent public accounting firm 
regarding internal control over financial reporting. Management’s report was not subject to attestation by our registered 
public accounting firm pursuant to rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission that permit us to provide only 
management’s report in this annual report. 

(c) Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

There have not been any changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a - 15(f)) 
during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023 that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially 
affect, our internal control over financial reporting.  
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Item 9B.   Other information 

Amendment to Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation for Reverse Stock Split 

At the Special Meeting of Stockholders (the “Special Meeting”) of the Company held on December 8, 2023, the 
Company’s stockholders approved a proposal authorizing an amendment (the “Certificate of Amendment”) to the 
Company’s Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, to effect a one-time reverse stock split of 
the Company’s outstanding shares of common stock at a ratio of not less than 1-for-3 and not greater than 1-for-15. 

On December 15, 2023, the Company filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware the Certificate of 
Amendment (and also a Certificate of Correction to Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate 
of Incorporation) to effect a one-time reverse stock split of the Company’s common stock, at a ratio of 1-for-15 (the 
“Reverse Stock Split”). The Reverse Stock Split was effective at 5:00 p.m. Eastern Time, after the close of trading on 
The Nasdaq Capital Market, on December 15, 2023 (the “Effective Time”). At the Effective Time, every 15 shares of the 
Company’s issued and outstanding common stock were automatically converted into one share of common stock, 
without any change in the par value per share. In addition, proportionate adjustments were made to the per share exercise 
price and the number of shares issuable upon the exercise of all outstanding stock options, warrants and other convertible 
securities, and to the number of shares issued and issuable under the Company’s stock incentive plans.  

Rule 10b5-1 Trading Arrangements 

During the three months ended December 31, 2023, no director or officer of the Company adopted, modified or 
terminated a “Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement” or “non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement,” as each term is defined in 
Item 408(a) of Regulation S-K. 

Item 9C.   Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections 

Not applicable. 

 
PART III 

Item 10.   Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance  

The information required by item 10 is incorporated herein by reference from our Proxy Statement, which will be 
filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of our 2023 fiscal year pursuant to Regulation 14A for our 2024 Annual 
Meeting of Stockholders.  

Item 11.   Executive Compensation  

The information required by item 11 is incorporated herein by reference from our Proxy Statement, which will be 
filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of our 2023 fiscal year pursuant to Regulation 14A for our 2024 Annual 
Meeting of Stockholders.  

Item 12.   Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters  

The information required by item 12 is incorporated herein by reference from our Proxy Statement, which will be 
filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of our 2023 fiscal year pursuant to Regulation 14A for our 2024 Annual 
Meeting of Stockholders.  

Item 13.   Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence  

The information required by item 13 is incorporated herein by reference from our Proxy Statement, which will be 
filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of our 2023 fiscal year pursuant to Regulation 14A for our 2024 Annual 
Meeting of Stockholders.  



109 

Item 14.   Principal Accountant Fees and Services  

The information required by item 14 is incorporated herein by reference from our Proxy Statement, which will be 
filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of our 2023 fiscal year pursuant to Regulation 14A for our 2024 Annual 
Meeting of Stockholders. 

PART IV 

Item 15.   Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules 

(a) Documents filed as part of this report are as follows: 

(1) See “Index to Consolidated Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedules” at Item 8 of this 
Annual Report on Form 10 - K. 

(2) Other financial statement schedules have not been included because they are not applicable or the 
information is included in the financial statements or notes thereto. 

(3) The following is a list of exhibits filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10 - K.  
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(b) Exhibits: 

   
Exhibit 
Number     Description
   
3.1  Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (previously filed as 

Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10 - K, originally filed with the SEC on April 1, 2013, 
and incorporated herein by reference).

3.2  Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Cyclacel 
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (previously filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8 - K, 
originally filed with the SEC on May 27, 2016, and incorporated herein by reference). 

3.3  Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Cyclacel 
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (previously filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8 - K, 
originally filed with the SEC on April 14, 2020, and incorporated herein by reference). 

3.4  Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Cyclacel 
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (previously filed as Exhibit 3.4 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, 
originally filed with the SEC on January 19, 2024, and incorporated herein by reference). 

3.5  
 

Certificate of Correction to the Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of 
Incorporation of Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (previously filed as Exhibit 3.5 to the Registrant’s Registration 
Statement on Form S-1, originally filed with the SEC on January 19, 2024, and incorporated herein by 
reference). 

3.6  Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (previously filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the 
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8 - K, originally filed with the SEC on May 7, 2020, and incorporated 
herein by reference). 

3.7  Amendment No. 1 to the Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (previously 
filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8 - K, originally filed with the SEC on 
November 7, 2023, and incorporated herein by reference). 

3.8  Certificate of Designation of 6% Convertible Exchangeable Preferred Stock (previously filed as Exhibit 3.2 to 
the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8 - K, originally filed with the SEC on November 5, 2004, and 
incorporated herein by reference). 

3.9  Certificate of Designation of Series A Preferred Stock (previously filed as Exhibit 3.5 to the Registrant’s 
Registration Statement on Form S - 1 (No. 333 - 218305), originally filed with the SEC on July 17, 2017, and 
incorporated herein by reference).

3.10  Certificate of Designation of Preferences, Rights and Limitations of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock 
(previously filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8 - K, originally filed with the SEC 
on December 22, 2020, and incorporated herein by reference). 

4.1  Specimen of Common Stock Certificate (previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Registrant’s Registration Statement 
on Form S - 1, File No. 333 - 109653, originally filed with the SEC on February 17, 2004, as subsequently 
amended, and incorporated herein by reference). 

4.2  Specimen of Preferred Stock Certificate of Designation (previously filed as Exhibit 3.2 to Registrant’s 
Registration Statement on Form S - 1, File No. 333 - 119585, originally filed with the SEC on October 21, 
2004, as subsequently amended, and incorporated herein by reference). 

4.3  Form of Warrant to purchase shares of Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Common Stock (previously filed as 
Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8 - K, originally filed with the SEC on July 1, 2011, and 
incorporated herein by reference). 

4.4  Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of December 14, 2012, by and between the Company and Aspire 
Capital Fund, LLC (previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8 - K, originally 
filed with the SEC on December 17, 2012, and incorporated herein by reference). 

4.5  Registration Rights Agreement, dated November 14, 2013, by and between the Company and Aspire Capital 
Fund, LLC (previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10 - Q, originally filed 
with the SEC on November 14, 2013, and incorporated herein by reference). 

4.6  Form of Warrant to purchase shares of Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc.’s Common Stock (previously filed as 
Exhibit 4.3 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-218305), originally filed with the 
SEC on July 17, 2017, and incorporated herein by reference).

4.7  Form of Pre-Funded Warrant (previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, 
originally filed with the SEC on April 24, 2020, and incorporated herein by reference). 
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4.8  Form of Common Warrant (previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, 
originally filed with the SEC on April 24, 2020, and incorporated herein by reference). 

4.9  Form of Warrant (previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, originally 
filed with the SEC on December 22, 2020, and incorporated herein by reference). 

4.10  Form of Pre-Funded Common Stock Purchase Warrant (previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K, originally filed with the SEC on December 26, 2023, and incorporated herein by 
reference). 

4.11  Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant (previously filed as Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report 
on Form 8-K, originally filed with the SEC on December 26, 2023, and incorporated herein by reference).

4.12*  Description of Securities. 

10.1†  Amended and Restated 2006 Equity Incentive Plan (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant’s Current 
Report on Form 8 - K, originally filed with the SEC on May 24, 2012, and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.2†  2015 Equity Incentive Plan (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, 
originally filed with the SEC on May 22, 2015, and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.3†  Amended and Restated 2018 Equity Incentive Plan (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant’s Current 
Report on Form 8-K originally filed with the SEC on June 14, 2023, and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.4#  Clinical Collaboration Agreement by and between Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and the University of Texas 
M.D. Anderson Cancer Center dated as of August 21, 2018 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s 
Quarterly Report on Form 10 - Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2018 and incorporated herein by 
reference). 

10.5  Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 2020 Inducement Equity Incentive Plan (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the 
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8 - K, originally filed with the SEC on November 12, 2020, and 
incorporated herein by reference). 

10.6  Form of Stock Option Grant Notice and Stock Option Agreement under the Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 
2020 Inducement Equity Incentive Plan (previously filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on 
Form 8-K, originally filed with the SEC on November 12, 2020, and incorporated herein by reference).

10.7  Employment Agreement between Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Spiro Rombotis (previously filed as 
Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, originally filed with the SEC on May 4, 2023 and 
incorporated herein by reference).

10.8  Employment Agreement between Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Paul McBarron (previously filed as 
Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, originally filed with the SEC on May 4, 2023 and 
incorporated herein by reference).

10.9  Form of Indemnification Agreement for directors (previously filed as Exhibit 10.16 to the Registrant’s Annual 
Report on Form 10-K/A, originally filed with the SEC on November 29, 2023, and incorporated herein by 
reference). 

10.10  Placement Agency Agreement by and between Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Ladenburg Thalmann & Co. 
Inc., dated December 21, 2023 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, 
originally filed with the SEC on December 26, 2023 and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.11  Securities Purchase Agreement by and between Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and the Purchasers, dated 
December 21, 2023 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.2 the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, originally 
filed with the SEC on December 26, 2023 and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.12  Securities Purchase Agreement by and between Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Spiro Rombotis and Paul 
McBarron, dated December 21, 2023 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.3 the Registrant’s Current Report on 
Form 8-K, originally filed with the SEC on December 26, 2023 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.13*  Consulting Agreement by and between Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Brian Schwartz, M.D., dated 
January 26, 2024. 

21  Subsidiaries of Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (previously filed as Exhibit 21 to the Registrant’s Annual Report 
on Form 10 - K, originally filed with the SEC on March 26, 2014, and incorporated herein by reference). 
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23.1*  Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm. 

31.1*  Certification of Spiro Rombotis, pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

31.2*  Certification of Paul McBarron, pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

32.1**  Certification of Spiro Rombotis, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 
(Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code). 

32.2**  Certification of Paul McBarron, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 
(Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code). 

97.1*  Clawback Policy 
101  The following materials from Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10 - K for the year 

ended December 31, 2022, formatted in Inline XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language): (i) the 
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income, (ii) the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets, (iii) the 
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, and (iv) Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial 
Statements. 

104  Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted in Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101) 
 

Exhibits: 

† Indicates management compensatory plan, contract or arrangement. 

# Confidential treatment has been granted with respect to certain portions of this exhibit, which portions have been 
omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission as part of an application for confidential 
treatment pursuant to the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. 

* Filed herewith. 

** Furnished herewith. 
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly 
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned. 

 
 

  CYCLACEL PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
Date: March 21, 2024 By: /s/ Paul McBarron
  Paul McBarron

 
 Chief Operating Officer, Chief Financial Officer & 

Executive Vice President, Finance 
 (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the 
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated. 
 
 

 
  

Signature      Title      Date
    

/s/ Spiro Rombotis  President & Chief Executive Officer March 21, 2024
Spiro Rombotis  (Principal Executive Officer) and Director  

   
/s/ Paul McBarron  Chief Operating Officer, Chief Financial March 21, 2024

Paul McBarron  Officer & Executive Vice President, Finance  

 
 (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)  

and Director
 

 
   

/s/ Dr. Christopher Henney  Chairman March 21, 2024
Dr. Christopher Henney   

   
/s/ Dr. Robert Spiegel  Vice Chairman March 21, 2024

Dr. Robert Spiegel   
   

/s/ Dr. Samuel L. Barker  Director March 21, 2024
Dr. Samuel L. Barker   

   
/s/ Kenneth Ferguson  Director March 21, 2024

Kenneth Ferguson   
   

/s/ Dr. Brian Schwartz  Director March 21, 2024
Dr. Brian Schwartz   

   
/s/ Karin L. Walker  Director March 21, 2024

Karin L. Walker   
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 Yes ☒ No ☐ 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T 
(§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files).  Yes ☒ No ☐ 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company, or an emerging 
growth company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting company,” and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the 
Exchange Act: 

Large accelerated filer  ☐ Accelerated filer  ☐ 
Non-accelerated filer ☒ Smaller reporting company ☒ 
Emerging growth company ☐   

 

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised 
financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. ☐ 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed a report on and attestation to its management’s assessment of the effectiveness of its internal control over 
financial reporting under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (15 U.S.C. 7262(b)) by the registered public accounting firm that prepared or issued its audit report.  ☐ 

If securities are registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act, indicate by check mark whether the financial statements of the registrant included in the filing reflect 
the correction of an error to previously issued financial statements. ☐ 

Indicate by check mark whether any of those error corrections are restatements that required a recovery analysis of incentive-based compensation received by any of the 
registrant’s executive officers during the relevant recovery period pursuant to §240.10D-1(b). ☐ 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act).  ☐Yes ☒No 

The aggregate market value of the registrant’s voting and non-voting common stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant (without admitting that any person whose 
shares are not included in such calculation is an affiliate), as of June 30, 2023 (based upon the closing sale price of $8.84 of such shares on The NASDAQ Capital Market on 
June 30, 2023), the last business day of the registrant’s most recently completed second fiscal quarter, was $5,622,362. 

As of April 26, 2024, there were 1,318,257 shares of the registrant’s common stock outstanding. 
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EXPLANATORY NOTE 

This Amendment No. 1 on Form 10-K/A (this “Amendment”) amends the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Cyclacel 
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023, as originally filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission (the “SEC”) on March 21, 2024 (the “Original 10-K”). The purpose of this Amendment is to include 
information required by Part III of the Annual Report on Form 10-K that was intentionally omitted from Part III of the 
Original 10-K. In addition, this Amendment amends Item 15 of Part IV of the Original 10-K to update the exhibit list 
and to include new certifications by our principal executive officer and principal financial officer under Section 302 of 
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as required by Rule 12b-15 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended 
(the “Exchange Act”). 

Except as described above, no other changes have been made to the Original 10-K. The Original 10-K continues to 
speak as of the dates described in the Original 10-K, and we have not updated the disclosures contained therein to reflect 
any events that occurred subsequent to such dates. Accordingly, this Amendment should be read in conjunction with the 
Company’s filings made with the SEC subsequent to the filing of the Original 10-K, as information in such filings may 
update or supersede certain information contained in this Amendment.  

In this Amendment, unless the context specifically indicates otherwise, “the Company,” “we,” “us,” “our,” and 
“Cyclacel” refer to Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and its subsidiaries. 
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PART III 

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance 

The Board of Directors 

Our charter provides that our business is to be managed by or under the direction of our Board of Directors. 
Our Board of Directors is divided into three classes for purposes of election. One class is elected at each annual 
meeting of stockholders to serve for a three-year term. Our Board of Directors currently consists of three classes, 
as set forth below. We also have two directors who are elected by holders of our 6% Convertible Exchangeable 
Preferred Stock (the “Preferred Stock”), 

Set forth below, as of December 31, 2023, are the names of our directors, their ages, their offices in the 
Company, if any, their principal occupations or employment for at least the past five years, the length of their 
tenure as directors and the names of other public companies in which such persons hold or have held directorships 
during the past five years. Additionally, information about the specific experience, qualifications, attributes or 
skills that led to our Board of Directors’ conclusion at the time of filing of this proxy statement that each person 
listed below should serve as a director is set forth below: 
     

Name      Age      Position 
Spiro Rombotis  65  President and Chief Executive Officer; Class 2 Director 
Paul McBarron  63  Executive Vice President — Finance, Chief Financial Officer, Chief 

Operating Officer and Secretary; Class 3 Director Nominee 
Dr. Christopher Henney  83  Chairman; Class 3 Director Nominee 
Dr. Robert Spiegel  74  Vice Chairman; Class 3 Director Nominee 
Dr. Samuel L. Barker  81  Class 2 Director on behalf of our holders of Preferred Stock 
Dr. Kenneth M. Ferguson  68  Class 1 Director on behalf of our holders of Preferred Stock 
Dr. Brian Schwartz  62  Class 2 Director; Interim Chief Medical Officer  
Karin L. Walker  60  Class 1 Director 

Board Diversity Matrix 
(as of April 23, 2024) 

This table provides information on the diversity of our current Board of Directors: 
             

Total Number of Directors  8  
      Male       Female  
Directors  7   1  
Part I: Gender Identity   
Part II: Demographic Background   
White  6   1  
Did not Disclose Demographic Background  1  

Class 1 Director (Term to Expire in 2025) 

Karin L. Walker.   Ms. Walker has served as a director of the Company since November 2020 and has over 
30 years of extensive finance experience in biopharmaceuticals, including in public biotechnology companies and 
technology companies. Ms. Walker currently serves as the Chief Accounting Officer of Prothena Corporation plc, a 
late-stage clinical biotechnology company with expertise in protein dysregulation and a pipeline of investigational 
therapeutics focused on neurodegenerative and rare peripheral amyloid diseases, and has held this position since 
2013. Prior to joining Prothena, she was Vice President, Finance and Chief Accounting Officer of Affymax, Inc., a 
position she held from 2012 to 2013. From 2009 to 2012, Ms. Walker was Vice President, Finance and Corporate 
Controller at Amyris Inc. From 2006 to 2009, she was Vice President, Finance and Corporate Controller for CV 
Therapeutics, Inc. Ms. Walker also held senior financial leadership positions at Knight Ridder Digital, Accellion, 
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Niku Corporation, Financial Engines, Inc. and NeoMagic Corporation. Ms. Walker also served as a director and 
Audit Committee Chair for LifeSci Acquisition Corp. (a publicly-traded special purpose acquisition company) in 
2020. Ms. Walker earned her B.S. in business from the California State Polytechnic University, San Luis Obispo, 
and is a certified public accountant (CPA). We believe that Ms. Walker’s qualifications to serve on the Board of 
Directors include experience in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industry and her many years’ experience in 
finance. 

Class 2 Directors (Terms to expire in 2026) 

Spiro Rombotis.   Mr. Rombotis joined Cyclacel as its first CEO in 1997 and has over 38 years at three public 
biotechs and two pharmas. He participated in in-licensing, clinical development, regulatory approval, partnering and 
commercial launch of several drugs, mainly in inflammation and hematology/oncology, including Abelcet®, 
Evacet/Myocet®, ProHance®, Remicade® and Reopro®. Major functional roles included international operations and 
business development as Vice President at Liposome (subsequently acquired by Elan) and previously Vice President in 
the pharmaceuticals division of Bristol-Myers Squibb. He began his career in the early ’80s, after training at Novartis, as 
one of the first employees of Centocor (subsequently acquired by Johnson & Johnson). He holds an MBA and MPH 
(Hospital & Health Services Management) with honors, Kellogg School of Management, Northwestern University and a 
BA, Williams College (1981 James A. Garfield Scholar). He serves on the Board of Trustees of BioNJ, the NJ biotech 
association. We believe Mr. Rombotis’ qualifications to serve on the Board of Directors include his role as President and 
Chief Executive Officer of our Company, his extensive knowledge and experience in the biotechnology and life sciences 
industry and his leadership, strategic guidance and operational vision. 

Brian Schwartz, M.D.   Dr. Schwartz has served as a director of the company since December 2020 and as our 
interim Chief Medical Officer since January 2024. Dr. Schwartz has wide-ranging experience as a drug development 
expert in pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries primarily in oncology, hematology, and rare diseases. From 
June 2008 to 2020, he served as Senior Vice President, Head of Research & Development and Chief Medical Officer of 
ArQule Inc., which was acquired for $2.7 billion by Merck & Co. in 2020. Prior to ArQule, Dr. Schwartz was Chief 
Medical Officer at Ziopharm, having previously held several senior leadership roles at Bayer and LEO Pharma. He is a 
current Board Member of Enlivex Pharmaceuticals and also served as a director of LifeSci Acquisition Corp., Mereo 
Biopharma and Infinity. In addition, he serves as an advisor and independent consultant for numerous biotech and 
investment companies. He received his medical degree from the University of Pretoria, South Africa, completed a 
fellowship at the University of Toronto, Canada and practiced medicine prior to his career in the biopharmaceutical 
industry. We believe Dr. Schwartz’s qualifications to serve on the Board of Directors include his extensive knowledge 
and experience in the biotechnology and life science industry. 

Continuing Preferred Stock Class 1 Director (Term to Expire in 2025) 

Dr. Kenneth M. Ferguson.   Dr. Ferguson has worked in the biopharmaceutical industry for 30 years, and has 
led Research and Development operations in a number of publicly funded biotechnology companies. Dr. Ferguson 
is currently an operating partner at Accelerator Life Science Partners. He served at ICOS Corporation, at various 
times in its history, as President, Vice President of Therapeutic Development and Senior Director of Research. He 
was co-team leader of ICOS’ joint venture with Eli Lilly and Company that resulted in the launch of 
Cialis®/Adcirca® for the treatment of erectile dysfunction, benign prostatic hyperplasia and pulmonary arterial 
hypertension. Subsequently, Dr. Ferguson was Vice President of Development and Chief Development Officer at 
Omeros Corporation and was involved in the approval and the launch of its first product for use in cataract surgery. 
Dr. Ferguson has also served as President and CEO of privately held Imvaxyn Corporation, a company dedicated to 
the exploration of new vaccine technology and was Chief Scientific Officer of EMulate Therapeutics. Dr. Ferguson 
graduated in biological sciences from Cornell University, obtained his PhD in pharmacology from the University 
of Texas Health Sciences Center Dallas, and completed his postdoctoral studies at Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory 
in New York. We believe Dr. Ferguson’s qualifications to serve on the Board of Directors include his extensive 
knowledge and business experience in the biotechnology industry, including as an executive in public companies, 
where he developed specific expertise in research and development of pharmaceutical products. 
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Continuing Preferred Stock Class 2 Director (Term to Expire in 2026) 

Samuel L. Barker.   Dr. Barker has served as a director of the Company since September 2014. In 2001, Dr. Barker 
co-founded Clearview Projects, Inc., a provider of partnering and transaction services to biopharmaceutical companies, 
where he was active until September 2010, having served as its President and Chief Executive Officer from 2003 to 
2004. Dr. Barker served in a series of leadership positions at Bristol-Myers Squibb Company until his retirement in 
1999. His positions at Bristol-Myers Squibb included service as Executive Vice President, Worldwide Franchise 
Management and Strategy during 1998; President, United States Pharmaceuticals from 1992 to 1998; and President, 
Bristol-Myers Squibb Intercontinental Commercial Operations from 1989 to 1991. Prior to 1989, Dr. Barker held 
executive positions in research and development, manufacturing, business development and served as President of U.S. 
commercial operations at Squibb Pharmaceuticals. Dr. Barker has served as a director of Lexicon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 
since 2001 and as Chairman from 2005 to 2012. Dr. Barker also served as a director of Cadence Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 
from 2006 to 2014 and AtheroGenics, Inc. from 2005 to 2009. Dr. Barker received his B.S. from Henderson State 
College, his M.S. from the University of Arkansas and his Ph.D. from Purdue University. We believe that Dr. Barker’s 
qualifications to serve on the Board of Directors include his extensive experience in senior leadership positions in the 
global pharmaceutical industry, where he developed specific expertise in the identification, development, 
commercialization and partnering of pharmaceutical products. 

Class 3 Directors (Terms to Expire in 2027; if re-elected) 

Christopher S. Henney, Ph.D. D.Sc.   Dr. Henney has served as a director of the Company since March 2006. 
Dr. Henney became Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Company in October 2020. Dr. Henney had served 
as a director of Xcyte Therapies Inc., acquired by the Company in 2006, since March 2005, and continued on as 
Vice Chairman of the Company. Previously, Dr. Henney co-founded three major publicly held U.S. biotechnology 
companies, Immunex, ICOS and Dendreon, and held a seat on the board of directors and executive positions at 
each company. From 1995 to January 2003, Dr. Henney was Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Dendreon 
Corporation. During part of 2016, he was also interim President and Chief Executive Officer of Cascadian 
Therapeutics Inc. and a board member of Anthera Pharmaceuticals, Inc., both biotechnology companies. 
Dr. Henney was a director of Prothena Corporation plc from 2013 until May 2022. Dr. Henney received a Ph.D. in 
experimental pathology from the University of Birmingham and a D.Sc. from the same university for contributions 
to the field of immunology. In 2012, Dr. Henney was inducted into the Biotechnology Hall of Fame. We believe 
Dr. Henney’s qualifications to serve on the Board of Directors include his extensive knowledge and business 
experience in the biotechnology industry, including a diversified background as an executive in public companies 
and as a board member of many public companies, giving him a breadth of knowledge and valuable understanding 
of our business. 

Paul McBarron.   Mr. McBarron has served as a director of the Company since March 2006. Mr. McBarron joined 
Cyclacel in January 2002 and has over 30 years of experience with pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies. He 
has served as a financial executive at Sterling Drug, Sanofi-Winthrop and SmithKline Beecham and, from 1996 to 2001, 
as a senior member of the finance team at Shire Pharmaceuticals plc, where he held the positions of Director of 
Corporate Finance and Group Financial Controller. He joined Shire when it was an emerging public company. He 
qualified as a chartered accountant with Ernst & Young and served on the Scottish Lifesciences Association Board. We 
believe Mr. McBarron’s qualifications to serve on the Board of Directors include his role as Executive Vice President, 
Finance and Chief Operating Officer of our Company, his experience in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industry 
and his expertise in financial areas and operations. 

Robert J. Spiegel, M.D.   Dr. Spiegel has served as a director of the Company since September 2018. Dr. Spiegel 
has over 30 years of extensive R&D and operational experience in biopharmaceuticals, including large 
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, and academic startups as well as an advisor to venture capital and 
private equity funds. Dr. Spiegel has also served as a director of Athenex, Inc., a global biopharmaceutical 
company, since August 2020, of Geron Corp., a late-stage clinical biopharmaceutical company, since May 2010, 
and of Ayala Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a clinical-stage oncology company, since December 2017. Dr. Spiegel was an 
Assistant Professor and Director of the Developmental Therapeutics Program at New York University Medical 
Center and then spent 25 years at Schering-Plough (subsequently acquired by Merck & Co.), where he joined as 
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the first Director for Oncology Clinical Research. He subsequently held a series of senior executive positions, 
including Senior Vice President for Worldwide Clinical Research and Chief Medical Officer. During his time at 
Schering-Plough he led teams that took numerous drug candidates through clinical development and was involved 
with over 30 New Drug Application approvals by the U.S. FDA. For the last seven years, he has been a consultant 
to the biotech industry and has served on the Scientific Advisory Board and Board of Directors of multiple biotech 
companies. Dr. Spiegel received his B.A. from Yale University and his M.D. from the University of Pennsylvania. 
He completed his specialty training at the National Cancer Institute, National Institute of Health (NIH). We believe 
Dr. Spiegel’s qualifications to serve on the Board of Directors include his extensive knowledge and business 
experience in the biotechnology industry, including a diversified background as an executive in public companies 
and as a board member of several public companies, giving him a breadth of knowledge and valuable 
understanding of our business. 

Director Independence 

Our Board of Directors has reviewed the materiality of any relationship that each of our directors has with the 
Company, either directly or indirectly. Based upon this review, our Board of Directors has determined that each of 
the following directors is an “independent director” as such term is defined by rules of The Nasdaq Stock Market, 
Inc., or Nasdaq: 

• Christopher S. Henney, Ph.D., D.Sc. 
• Robert J. Spiegel, M.D. 
• Samuel L. Barker, Ph.D. 
• Kenneth M. Ferguson, Ph.D. 
• Karin L. Walker 

The Board of Directors has established three standing committees: (1) the Compensation and Organization 
Development Committee, (2) the Audit Committee, and (3) the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. 
The Board of Directors has also determined that each member of these committees meets the independence 
requirements applicable to each such committee as prescribed by Nasdaq and the SEC. Dr. Schwartz will not be 
considered an independent director while serving as interim Chief Medical Officer. Following his appointment on 
January 25, 2024, Dr Schwartz resigned from the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. In 
September 2018, the Board of Directors also reconstituted the Science and Technology Committee. 

Committees of the Board of Directors and Meetings 

Meeting Attendance.   During fiscal 2023, there were 11 meetings of our Board of Directors, and the 
Compensation and Organization Development Committee, the Audit Committee, the Nominating and Corporate 
Governance Committee and the Science and Technology Committee met collectively a total of 15 times. No 
director attended fewer than 55% of the total number of meetings of the Board of Directors or of the committees of 
the Board of Directors on which they served during fiscal 2023. We have adopted a policy encouraging our 
directors to attend annual meetings of stockholders. Five of our then directors attended our annual stockholders’ 
meeting held on June 13, 2023. Each of the committees of the Board of Directors is described below. 

Audit Committee.   Our Audit Committee met six times during fiscal 2023. The Audit Committee during such 
period had four members: Karin L. Walker (Chair), Dr. Christopher Henney, Dr. Samuel L. Barker and Dr. Robert 
J. Spiegel. Karin L. Walker was appointed as Chairman of the Audit Committee on February 18, 2021. All 
members of the Audit Committee satisfy the current independence standards promulgated by Nasdaq and the SEC, 
as such standards apply specifically to members of audit committees. The Board of Directors has determined that 
Karin L. Walker is an “audit committee financial expert,” as the SEC has defined that term in Item 407 of 
Regulation S-K. 

Our Audit Committee’s role and responsibilities are set forth in the Audit Committee’s written charter and 
include the authority to retain and terminate the services of our independent registered public accounting firm. In 
addition, the Audit Committee reviews annual financial statements, considers matters relating to accounting policy 
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and internal controls and reviews the scope of annual audits. For additional information, please see the report of 
the Audit Committee set forth elsewhere in this proxy statement. A copy of the Audit Committee’s written charter 
is publicly available on our website at www.cyclacel.com. 

Compensation and Organization Development Committee.   Our Compensation and Organization Development 
Committee met three times during fiscal 2023. The Compensation and Organization Development Committee is 
composed entirely of directors who are not our current or former employees, all of whom qualify as independent 
under the definition promulgated by Nasdaq and the SEC. The Compensation and Organization Development 
Committee currently has three members: Dr. Samuel L. Barker (Chairman), Dr. Christopher S. Henney and 
Dr. Kenneth M. Ferguson. Our Compensation and Organization Development Committee’s role and 
responsibilities are set forth in its written charter and include reviewing, approving and making recommendations 
regarding our compensation policies, practices and procedures to ensure that legal and fiduciary responsibilities of 
the Board of Directors are carried out and that such policies, practices and procedures contribute to our success. 
The Compensation and Organization Development Committee also administers our 2020 Inducement Equity 
Incentive Plan, our 2018 Equity Incentive Plan, our 2015 Equity Incentive Plan and our Amended and Restated 
2006 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended. Our Compensation and Organization Development Committee is 
responsible for the determination of the compensation of our chief executive officer, and shall conduct its decision 
making process with respect to that issue without the chief executive officer present. 

A copy of the Compensation and Organization Development Committee’s written charter is publicly available 
on our website at www.cyclacel.com. 

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee.   Our Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee 
met [once] during fiscal 2023. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee consists of Dr. Christopher 
S. Henney (Chairman),  Karin L. Walker and Dr. Robert J. Spiegel, all of whom qualify as independent under the 
definition promulgated by Nasdaq and the SEC. Dr. Brian Schwartz resigned from the Nominating and Corporate 
Governance Committee when appointed interim Chief Medical Officer on January 25, 2024. The functions of the 
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee are set forth in the Nominating and Corporate Governance 
Committee’s charter and include evaluating and making recommendations to the full Board of Directors as to the 
size and composition of the Board of Directors and its committees, evaluating and making recommendations as to 
potential candidates, and evaluating the performance of the Board of Directors. Generally, our Nominating and 
Corporate Governance Committee considers candidates recommended by stockholders as well as from other 
sources such as other directors or officers, third party search firms or other appropriate sources. Once identified, 
the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee will evaluate a candidate’s qualifications in accordance 
with its guiding principles as set forth in the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee’s written charter. 
Additionally, the Nominating Committee will consider issues of diversity among its members in identifying and 
considering nominees for director, and strive where appropriate to achieve a diverse balance of backgrounds, 
perspectives, experience, age, gender, ethnicity and country of citizenship on our board of directors and its 
committees. 

If a stockholder wishes to nominate a candidate for director who is not to be included in our proxy statement, it 
must follow the procedures described in our By-Laws and in “Stockholder Proposals and Nominations for 
Director” at the end of this proxy statement. 

In addition, under our current corporate governance policies, the Nominating and Corporate Governance 
Committee may consider candidates recommended by stockholders as well as from other sources, such as other 
directors or officers, third party search firms or other appropriate sources. For all potential candidates, the 
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee may consider all factors it deems relevant, such as a 
candidate’s personal integrity and sound judgment, business and professional skills and experience, independence, 
knowledge of the industry in which we operate, possible conflicts of interest, diversity, the extent to which the 
candidate would fill a present need on the Board of Directors and concern for the long-term interests of the 
stockholders. In general, persons recommended by stockholders will be considered on the same basis as candidates 
from other sources. 
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A copy of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee’s written charter is publicly available on our 
website at www.cyclacel.com. 

Science and Technology Committee.   The Science and Technology Committee, which met 4 times during 
fiscal 2023, consists of Dr. Robert J. Spiegel (Chairman), Dr. Samuel L. Barker, Dr. Kenneth M. Ferguson and 
Dr. Brian Schwartz. 

The responsibilities of the Science and Technology Committee are set forth in the Science and Technology 
Committee’s charter and include providing oversight on behalf of the Board of Directors of our overall strategic 
direction and investment in research and development (“R&D”) and technological and scientific initiatives. The 
Science and Technology Committee also assists the Board of Directors and our management in evaluating risks 
and potential commercial value of technical profiles regarding our R&D programs and technology, as they might 
impact our business performance, growth and competitive position. 

Board Leadership Structure 

Dr. Christopher Henney serves as the Chairman of our Board of Directors and Mr. Rombotis serves as our 
President and Chief Executive Officer. Dr. Christopher Henney is an independent director under the definition 
promulgated by Nasdaq and the SEC, and we believe that it is preferable for one of our independent directors to 
serve as Chairman of the Board of Directors. We also believe that this structure is the most effective structure for 
us and our stockholders at this time because a separate chairman (i) can provide the Chief Executive Officer with 
guidance and feedback on his performance, (ii) provides a more effective channel for the Board of Directors to 
express views on management, and (iii) allows the Chairman to focus on stockholder interests and corporate 
governance while providing Mr. Rombotis with the ability to focus his attention on managing our day-to-day 
operations. As Dr. Henney has significant senior level pharmaceutical industry experience, he is particularly well-
suited to serve as Chairman. 

We recognize that different board leadership structures may be appropriate for companies in different 
situations. We will continue to re-examine our corporate governance policies and leadership structures on an 
ongoing basis to ensure that they continue to meet the Company’s needs. 

Role in Risk Oversight 

Management is responsible for managing the risks that we face. The Board of Directors is responsible for 
overseeing management’s approach to risk management that is designed to support the achievement of 
organizational objectives, including strategic objectives and risks associated with our clinical trials, to improve 
long-term organizational performance and enhance stockholder value. The involvement of the full Board of 
Directors in reviewing our strategic objectives and plans, including with respect to our clinical trials, is a key part 
of the Board of Directors’ assessment of management’s approach and tolerance to risk. A fundamental part of risk 
management is not only understanding the risks a company faces and what steps management is taking to manage 
those risks, but also understanding what level of risk is appropriate for us. In setting our business strategy, our 
Board of Directors assesses the various risks being mitigated by management and determines what constitutes an 
appropriate level of risk for us. 

While the Board of Directors has ultimate oversight responsibility for overseeing management’s risk 
management process, various committees of the Board of Directors assist it in fulfilling that responsibility. 
Notably, the Audit Committee assists the Board of Directors in its oversight of risk management in the areas of 
financial reporting, internal controls and compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the Nominating and 
Corporate Governance Committee reviews legal and regulatory compliance risks and the Compensation and 
Organization Development Committee assists the Board of Directors in its oversight of the evaluation and 
management of risks related to our compensation policies and practices. 



10 

Policy Prohibiting Hedging 

Our Insider Trading Policy provides that no employee, officer or director may acquire, sell or trade in any 
interest or position relating to the future price of Company securities, such as a put option, a call option or a short 
sale (including a short sale “against the box”), or engage in hedging transactions (including “cashless collars”). 

Stockholder Communications to the Board of Directors 

Generally, stockholders who have questions or concerns should contact our Investor Relations department at 
(908) 517-7330 or e-mail at ir@cyclacel.com. However, stockholders wishing to submit written communications 
directly to the Board of Directors should send their communications to our Secretary, Paul McBarron, Cyclacel 
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 200 Connell Drive, Suite 1500, Berkeley Heights, New Jersey 07922. All stockholder 
communications will be considered by the independent members of our Board of Directors. Items that are 
unrelated to the duties and responsibilities of the Board may be excluded, such as: 

• junk mail and mass mailings; 
• resumes and other forms of job inquiries; 
• surveys; and 
• solicitations or advertisements. 

In addition, any material that is unduly hostile, threatening, or illegal in nature may be excluded, provided that 
any communication that is filtered out will be made available to any independent director upon request. 

Item 11. Executive Compensation 

Summary Compensation Table 

The following table shows the compensation paid or accrued during the last two fiscal years ended 
December 31, 2022 and 2023 to (1) our President and Chief Executive Officer, (2) our Executive Vice President, 
Finance, Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operating Officer, and (3) our former Senior Vice President and Chief 
Medical Officer. 
                         

Name and Principal Position   Year     
Salary 
($)     

Bonus 
($)     

Option 
Awards 
($)(1)     

All Other 
Compensation 
($)(2)     

Total 
($)   

Spiro Rombotis      2023       560,131       0       48,581       52,337       661,049   
President and Chief Executive Officer     2022       546,470       169,406       -       47,675       763,551   
                                                 
Paul McBarron(3)     2023       304,214       0       31,003       17,398       352,615   
Executive Vice President, Finance, 
Chief Financial Officer, Chief Operating 
Officer, Secretary     2022       279,568       93,655       -       21,452       394,675   
                                                 
Mark Kirschbaum, MD      2023       396,760       0       31,003       52,855       480,618   
Former Senior Vice President and Chief 
Medical Officer (4)     2022       381,500       97,644       -       44,699       523,843   

 
(1) These amounts represent the aggregate grant date fair value for option awards computed in accordance with FASB 

ASC Topic 718. A discussion of the assumptions used in determining grant date fair value may be found in our 
Financial Statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023. No 
Options were granted during the year ended December 31, 2022 to Spiro Rombotis, Paul McBarron, or Mark 
Kirschbaum. Options were granted during the year ended December 31, 2023 to Spiro Rombotis, Paul McBarron, 
and Mark Kirschbaum in the amounts of 7,333 shares, 4,680 shares, and 4,680 shares, respectively. 
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(2) Consists of the following for all executive officers: Payments for private medical and health insurance, life 
insurance and permanent health insurance; and matching contributions made under the Company’s U.S. 401(k) Plan 
and U.K. Group Personal Pension Plan. 

(3) Mr. McBarron’s compensation was translated from British pound sterling to the U.S. dollar using the exchange rates 
of 1.35104 as of December 31, 2022 and 1.24361 as of December 31, 2023. 

(4) Dr. Kirschbaum was terminated as Chief Medical Officer on January 25, 2024. 

Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table 

The Compensation and Organization Development Committee of our Board of Directors makes decisions 
regarding the compensation of our President and Chief Executive Officer. The Compensation and Organization 
Development Committee is composed entirely of independent directors and meets in executive sessions to discuss 
and formulate its recommendation for the Chief Executive Officer’s base salary and bonus. The Compensation and 
Organization Development Committee does not rely solely on any predetermined formula or a limited set of 
criteria in evaluating the Chief Executive Officer’s performance for the year but does consider the achievement of 
preset goals as part of its deliberations. 

The evaluation is based on the Chief Executive Officer’s success in achieving his performance goals, which 
include financial, strategic and leadership objectives. The Chief Executive Officer also provides the Compensation 
and Organization Development Committee with a self-review of his performance as part of the Company’s review 
process. The Compensation and Organization Development Committee also approves the annual compensation 
(including base salary, bonus, and stock-based compensation) for our other named executive officers based on: 

• the executive’s scope of responsibilities; 

• an informed market assessment of competitive practices for similar roles within peer group companies; 

• evaluations of performance for the year, as assessed by the Chief Executive Officer, supported by the 
Company’s performance review process and the executive’s self-assessment; and 

• recommendations by our Chief Executive Officer for each named executive officer with respect to base 
salary, cash bonus, and stock-based compensation. 

The Compensation and Organization Development Committee is authorized to engage and retain independent 
consultants and other experts to assist in fulfilling its responsibilities, and the Committee engages periodically an 
external consultant to provide independent verification of market position and ensure the appropriateness of 
executive compensation. During the year ended December 31, 2023, our Compensation and Organization 
Development Committee retained Radford, part of the Aon Rewards Solutions practice, or Radford, an 
independent, executive compensation consulting firm, to review and provide recommendations concerning our 
non-employee director and executive director compensation programs. Radford performed services solely on 
behalf of the Compensation and Organization Development Committee and has no relationship with the Company 
or management beyond the performance of such services (except that Aon plc provides directors & officers 
insurance services to the Company). The Compensation and Organization Development Committee has assessed 
the independence of Radford pursuant to SEC rules and the corporate governance rules of The Nasdaq Stock 
Market and has concluded that no conflict of interest exists that would prevent Radford from independently 
representing the Compensation and Organization Development Committee. 

During the most recent year ended December 31, 2023, the Board of Directors and the Compensation and 
Organization Development Committee reviewed the annual compensation for our executive officers. The 
Compensation and Organization Development Committee determined to provide increases in base salary for 2023 
to Spiro Rombotis, Paul McBarron and Mark Kirschbaum, raising annual salaries to $560,131, £244,622 (or 
$304,214) and $396,760, respectively. 
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We granted 3,840, 2,080, and 2,080 restricted stock units to Spiro Rombotis, Paul McBarron and Mark 
Kirschbaum, respectively, during the year ended December 31, 2023. 

Spiro Rombotis, President and Chief Executive Officer.   On April 28, 2023, we entered into a two-year 
employment agreement with Mr. Spiro Rombotis, effective January 1, 2023. 

Mr. Rombotis’ current annual base salary is $560,131, which may be increased in the future in accordance with the 
terms of his employment agreement. Mr. Rombotis was paid an annual base salary of $560,131 for the year ending 
December 31, 2023 and $546,470 for the year ending December 31, 2022. Mr. Rombotis is also eligible for a yearly 
incentive cash bonus, based on a percentage of his then current base salary, if he meets certain corporate and individual 
performance criteria set by the Compensation and Organization Development Committee at the beginning of each year 
of employment. The agreement also provides for reimbursement of reasonable and necessary expenses incurred by 
Mr. Rombotis in connection with his performance of his services. Mr. Rombotis is also entitled to certain employment 
benefits in accordance with the Company’s benefit policies in effect from time to time. 

In addition, Mr. Rombotis also agreed to certain confidentiality and assignment of inventions obligations and will be 
subject to certain non-competition obligations for a period of one year following termination of his employment. 

For further information on terms regarding termination and change-in-control of the Company, see “Potential 
Payments upon Termination or Change-in-Control” below. 

Paul McBarron, Executive Vice President — Finance, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Operating Officer and 
Secretary.   On April 28, 2023, we entered into a two-year employment agreement with Mr. Paul McBarron, 
effective January 1, 2023. Mr. McBarron’s current annual base salary is £244,622, or $304,214, which may be 
increased in the future in accordance with the terms of his employment agreement. 

Mr. McBarron was paid an annual base salary of £244,622, or $304,214 for the year ending December 31, 
2023 and £226,133, or $279,568, for the year ending December 31, 2022, respectively. Mr. McBarron is also 
eligible for a yearly incentive cash bonus based on a percentage of his then current base salary, if he meets certain 
corporate and individual performance criteria set by the Compensation and Organization Development Committee 
at the beginning of each year of employment. The agreement also provides for reimbursement of reasonable and 
necessary expenses incurred by Mr. McBarron in connection with the performance of his services. Mr. McBarron 
is also entitled to certain employment benefits in accordance with the Company’s benefit policies in effect from 
time to time. 

In addition, Mr. McBarron also agreed to certain confidentiality and assignment of inventions obligations and 
will be subject to certain non-competition obligations for a period of one year following termination of his 
employment. 

For further information on terms regarding termination and change-in-control of the Company, see “Potential 
Payments upon Termination or Change-in-Control” below. 

Mark Kirschbaum, Former Senior Vice President and Chief Medical Officer.   On October 17, 2020, we 
entered into an employment agreement with Dr. Mark Kirschbaum, effective October 23, 2020. We terminated 
Dr. Kirschbaum’s employment on January 25, 2024. 

 Prior to his termination, Dr. Kirschbaum’ annual base salary was $396,760. Dr. Kirschbaum was paid an 
annual base salary of $396,760 for the year ending December 31, 2023 and $381,500 for the year ending 
December 31, 2022. 

In addition, Dr. Kirschbaum also agreed to certain confidentiality and assignment of inventions obligations and 
will be subject to certain non-competition obligations for a period of one year following termination of his 
employment. 
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EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION 

Outstanding Equity Awards at 2023 Fiscal Year-End 

The following table shows grants of stock options outstanding on the last day of the fiscal year ended 
December 31, 2023, to each of the executive officers named in the Summary Compensation Table. As applicable, 
the figures described in this section have been adjusted to give effect to the reverse stock split completed on 
December 15, 2023. 
                 

Name   

Number of  
Securities  

Underlying  
Options  

Exercisable     

Number of  
Securities  

Underlying  
Options  

Unexercisable     

Option  
Exercise  
Price(1)  

($)     

Option  
Expiration  

Date   
Spiro Rombotis     22 (2)             3,096.00       02/18/2025   
      121 (3)             2,120.40       12/07/2025   
      104 (4)             522.00       12/29/2027   
      95 (4)             468.00       02/22/2028   
      1,693 (5)             213.00       01/04/2029   
      11,666 (6)             64.80       12/11/2030   
      8,444 (8)     4,222       51.75       12/13/2031   
      0 (9)     7,333       8.70       06/27/2033   
Paul McBarron     14 (2)             3,096       02/18/2025   
      72 (3)             2,120.40       12/07/2025   
      86 (4)             522.00       12/29/2027   
      79 (4)             468.00       02/22/2028   
      900 (5)             213.00       01/04/2029   
      8,000 (6)             64.80       12/11/2030   
      4,444 (8)     2,222       51.75       12/13/2031   
      0 (9)     4,680       8.70       06/27/2033   
Mark Kirschbaum (10)     8,000 (7)     0       56.55       10/23/2030   
      4,444 (8)     2,222       51.75       12/13/2031   
      0 (9)     4,680       8.70       06/27/2033   

 
(1) The option exercise price is the closing price of our Common Stock on The Nasdaq Capital Market on the date the 

option was granted. 

(2) These options were granted on February 18, 2015, and vest ratably on a monthly basis over 36 months. 

(3) These options were granted on December 7, 2015, and vest ratably on a monthly basis over 36 months. 

(4) Certain performance criteria were deemed to have been met in 2018 and 2019, and as such, performance-based 
options granted in 2017 and 2018 vested. 

(5) These options were granted on January 4, 2019 and included part of the 2018 bonus award, and vest ratably on a 
monthly basis over 36 months. 

(6) These options were granted on December 11, 2020, and vest ratably on a monthly basis over 36 months. 

(7) These options were granted on October 23, 2020 and vest over 36 months as to one third (1/3) of the shares on the 
first anniversary of the Grant Date and as to one thirty-sixth (1/36) of the total number shares monthly thereafter. 

(8) These options were granted on December 13, 2021, and vest ratably on a monthly basis over 36 months. 

(9) These options were granted on June 27, 2023, and vest on achievement of certain performance criteria. 

(10) We terminated Dr. Kirschbaum’s employment on January 25, 2024. These options have ceased vesting as of 
January 25, 2024, and have not been exercised as of February 6, 2024. 
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Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change-in-Control 

We have entered into agreements that require us to make payments and/or provide benefits to certain of our 
executive officers in the event of a termination of employment or change-in-control. Our 2006 Equity Incentive 
Plan, or 2006 Plan, our 2015 Equity Incentive Plan, or 2015 Plan, our 2018 Equity Incentive Plan, or 2018 Plan, 
and our 2020 Inducement Equity Incentive Plan, or 2020 Plan (and collectively with the 2006 Plan, 2015 Plan, and 
2018 Plan the “Plans”) provide for payments to named executive officers in connection with a termination or a 
change-in-control of the Company. 

The following summarizes the potential payments to certain of our executive officers with whom we have 
entered into an employment agreement that includes a payment upon termination and/or a change-in-control, as 
further described below. 

Spiro Rombotis, President and Chief Executive Officer.   Mr. Rombotis’s employment agreement provides for 
certain severance arrangements. In the event that Mr. Rombotis’s employment is terminated “without cause,” other 
than termination in connection with a “change of control” (each as defined in the employment agreement), we will 
be required to pay Mr. Rombotis (i) all accrued but unpaid compensation up to the time of such termination; (ii) for 
a period of twelve months following such termination, severance payments in the form of his base salary as in 
effect immediately prior to such termination, or Severance Payments, including form of continuation coverage of 
his medical care and life insurance on the same terms as applicable to other executive employees, unless 
Mr. Rombotis obtains substitute coverage; and (iii) a period of six months in which to exercise all vested options 
held by Mr. Rombotis. In the event that Mr. Rombotis’s employment is terminated within six months following a 
“change-in-control” event, Mr. Rombotis will be entitled to (i) all accrued but unpaid compensation up to the time 
of such termination; (ii) Severance Payments for a period of 24 months; (iii) out-of-pocket expenses reasonably 
incurred by Mr. Rombotis in connection with his and his family’s relocation to London; and (iv) eighteen months’ 
accelerated vesting of any options held by him. In the event of termination due to his death or disability, we will 
pay Mr. Rombotis (or his estate, as the case may be) (i) all accrued but unpaid compensation up to the time of such 
termination and (ii) Severance Payments for a period of twelve months. He (or his estate, as the case may be) 
would also be entitled to a period of twelve months in which all of his vested options can be exercised. 

Paul McBarron, Executive Vice President — Finance, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Operating Officer and 
Secretary.   Mr. McBarron’s employment agreement provides for certain severance arrangements. In the event that 
Mr. McBarron’s employment is terminated “without cause,” other than termination in connection with a “change of 
control” (each as defined in his employment agreement), we will be required to pay Mr. McBarron (i) all accrued 
but unpaid compensation up to the time of such termination; (ii) Severance Payments for a period of twelve months 
following such termination; and (iii) a period of six months in which to exercise all vested options held by 
Mr. McBarron. In the event that Mr. McBarron’s employment is terminated within six months following a 
“change-in-control” event, Mr. McBarron will be entitled (i) all accrued but unpaid compensation up to the time of 
such termination; (ii) Severance Payments for a period of twelve months; and (iii) eighteen months’ accelerated 
vesting of any options held by him. In the event of termination due to his death or disability, we will pay 
Mr. McBarron (or his estate, as the case may be) all accrued but unpaid compensation up to the time of such 
termination and Severance Payments for a period of twelve months. He (or his estate, as the case may be) would 
also be entitled to a period of twelve months in which all of his vested options can be exercised. 

Potential payments to each named executive officer under our Plans in connection with a termination or a change-
in-control of the Company 

The following summarizes the potential payments to each named executive officer under the Plans in 
connection with a termination or a change-in-control of the Company. 

Termination For Cause.   If an award recipient’s service relationship with the Company terminates for 
“cause” (as defined in the Plans), then any unexercised award shall terminate immediately upon his or her 
termination of service. 
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Termination Without Cause.   If an award recipient’s service relationship with the Company terminates for 
any reason other than for “cause” (excluding death or disability), then the recipient generally may exercise the 
award, to the extent vested, within 30 days (in our 2006 Plan) or three months (in our 2015 Plan, 2018 Plan, and 
2020 Plan), of such termination to the extent that the award is vested on the date of termination (but in no event 
later than the expiration of the term of the award as set forth in the award agreement). If the recipient dies within 
three months following such a termination, the award generally may be exercised, to the extent vested, within 
180 days’ or one year (as per the 2006 Plan, 2015 Plan, 2018 Plan, and 2020 Plan, respectively) of the recipient’s 
death. If an award recipient’s service relationship with the Company terminates due to his or her death, the award 
recipient’s personal representative, estate, or the person who acquires the right to exercise the award by bequest or 
inheritance, as the case may be, generally may exercise the award, to the extent the award was vested on the date of 
termination, within one year from the date of the recipient’s death. Pursuant to the 2006 Plan, if an award 
recipient’s service relationship with the Company terminates due to his or her disability, the recipient, the 
recipient’s personal representative, estate, or the person who acquires the right to exercise the award by bequest or 
inheritance, as the case may be, generally may exercise the award, to the extent exercisable on the date of 
termination, within one year from the date of the recipient’s termination, or if the recipient dies during such one-
year period, within the later of one year from the date of the recipient’s termination and 180 days from the 
recipient’s death. In no event may an award be exercised later than the expiration of the term of the award as set 
forth in the award agreement. Pursuant to the 2015 Plan, 2018 Plan, and 2020 Plan, with regard to options 
outstanding on the date of an individual’s termination due to disability, he or she may exercise any option to the 
extent that the option is exercisable but has not been exercised on the date of termination. Such an individual is 
also entitled to any additional vesting rights that would have accrued on the next vesting date had he or she not 
become disabled. Exercise may only occur during the one-year period after the date of termination. With regard to 
stock grants and stock-based awards outstanding on the date of an individual’s termination due to disability, to the 
extent the forfeiture provisions or the Company’s rights of repurchase have not lapsed, they shall be exercisable; 
provided, however, that in the event such forfeiture provisions or rights of repurchase lapse periodically, they shall 
lapse to the extent of a pro rata portion of the shares subject to such stock grant or stock-based award through the 
date of disability as would have lapsed had the individual not become disabled. 

Change-in-Control.   Pursuant to the terms of the Plans, in the event of a change-in-control (as defined in the 
Plans), all outstanding awards granted under the Plans will be either: 

• assumed by the successor corporation or a parent or subsidiary of the successor corporation; or 
• substituted with an equivalent award by the successor corporation or a parent or subsidiary of the successor 

corporation. 

However, in the event that the successor corporation refuses to assume or substitute an award: 

• awards consisting of options, stock appreciation rights and rights to purchase restricted stock will become fully 
vested and immediately exercisable, including awards that would not otherwise have become vested or 
exercisable; and 

• all other awards will become fully earned and eligible to receive a payout. 

For the purposes of the Plans, a participant’s award will be considered assumed if, following the change-in-
control, the assumed award confers, for each share of the Company’s Common Stock subject to the award 
immediately prior to the change-in-control, the right to receive the consideration (whether stock, cash, or other 
securities or property) received in the change-in-control for each share of Common Stock held on the effective date 
of the transaction; provided, however, that if the consideration received in the change-in-control is not solely 
common stock of the successor corporation or its parent, the committee administering the plan may, with the 
consent of the successor corporation, provide for the consideration per share to be received upon the exercise of the 
award, to be solely common stock of the successor corporation or its parent equal in fair market value to the per 
share consideration received by holders of the Company’s Common Stock in the change-in-control. 
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Under the Plans, a change-in-control is the occurrence of one of the following events: 

• a person, partnership, joint venture, corporation or other entity, or two or more of any of the foregoing acting as 
a group (or any “person” within the meaning of Sections 13(d)(3) and 14(d) of the Exchange Act), other than 
the Company, a Subsidiary, or an employee benefit plan (or related trust) of the Company or a Subsidiary, 
become(s) the “beneficial owner” (as defined in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act) of 30% or more of the 
then-outstanding voting stock of the Company; 

• during any period of two consecutive years, individuals who at the beginning of such period constitute the 
Board of Directors (together with any new director whose election by the Board of Directors or whose 
nomination for election by the Company’s stockholders, was approved by a vote of at least two-thirds of the 
directors then still in office who either were directors at the beginning of such period or whose election or 
nomination for election was previously so approved) cease for any reason to constitute a majority of the 
directors then in office; 

• all or substantially all of the business of the Company is disposed of pursuant to a merger, consolidation or 
other transaction in which the Company is not the surviving corporation or the Company combines with another 
Company and is the surviving corporation (unless the stockholders of the Company immediately following such 
merger, consolidation, combination, or other transaction beneficially own, directly or indirectly, more than 50% 
of the aggregate voting stock or other ownership interests of (x) the entity or entities, if any, that succeed to the 
business of the Company or (y) the combined company); 

• the Company is a party to a merger, consolidation, sale of assets or other reorganization, or a proxy contest, as a 
consequence of which the Board of Directors in office immediately prior to such transaction or event 
constitutes less than a majority of the Board of Directors thereafter; or the stockholders of the Company 
approve a sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company or a liquidation or dissolution of the 
Company. 

Director Compensation 

The following table shows the total compensation paid or accrued during the fiscal year ended December 31, 
2023 to each of our non-employee directors. Directors who are employed by us are not compensated for their 
service on our Board of Directors. As applicable, the figures described in this section have been adjusted to give 
effect to the reverse stock split completed on December 15, 2023. 
                 

Name   

Fees Earned 
or Paid in 
Cash ($)     

Option  
Awards  
($)(1)(2)     

Stock  
Awards  
($)(1)(3)     

Total  
($)   

Christopher S. Henney, Ph.D. D.Sc   $ 105,500     $ 18,991     $ 12,500     $ 136,991   
Robert J. Spiegel, M.D.   $ 84,500     $ 18,991     $ 12,500     $ 115,991   
Samuel L. Barker, Ph.D.   $ 66,500     $ 18,991     $ 12,500     $ 97,991   
Kenneth M. Ferguson, Ph.D.   $ 54,000     $ 18,991     $ 12,500     $ 85,491   
Brian Schwartz, M.D.   $ 53,000     $ 18,991     $ 12,500     $ 84,491   
Karin L. Walker   $ 64,000     $ 18,991     $ 12,500     $ 95,491   

 
(1) These amounts represent the aggregate grant date fair value of options and restricted stock units granted to each 

director during the year ended December 31, 2023 computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. A 
discussion of the assumptions used in determining grant date fair value may be found in Note 11 to our financial 
statements included on our Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023. 

(2) The fair value of the options granted on June 30, 2023 was $6.71 per share. Each non-employee director held an 
aggregate of 2,829 stock options as of December 31, 2023. 

(3) The fair value of RSUs granted on June 30, 2023 was $8.84 per share. Each non-employee director held an 
aggregate of 1,415 RSUs as of December 31, 2023. 
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Director Compensation Program 

Under the terms of our Director Compensation Program, the non-employee members of our Board of Directors 
are paid a fixed annual fee, payable on a quarterly basis, in arrears, on the first day of each quarter, as follows: 

         

 Chairman of the Board    $ 85,000   
 Vice Chairman of the Board    $ 65,000   
 Other Non-Management Board Members    $ 45,000   

The Chair of each of the various committees of the Board of Directors will also receive the following fixed annual 
fee, payable on a quarterly basis, in arrears, on the first day of each quarter, as follows: 

         

 Audit    $ 15,000   
 Compensation and Organization Development    $ 10,000   
 Nominating and Corporate Governance    $ 8,000   
 Science and Technology    $ 8,000   

The non-Chair members of each of the various committees of the Board of Directors will also receive the following 
fixed annual member fee, payable on a quarterly basis, in arrears, on the first day of each quarter, as follows: 

         

 Audit    $ 7,500   
 Compensation and Organization Development    $ 5,000   
 Nominating and Corporate Governance    $ 4,000   
 Science and Technology    $ 4,000   

In addition, the non-employee members of our Board of Directors are entitled to receive stock options and / or 
restricted stock options (RSUs) on their initial appointment to the Board and on an annual basis on the date of the 
Company’s annual meeting, such options and RSUs to vest fully on the first anniversary of the date of the grant. 
The non-employee directors are also reimbursed for customary business expenses in connection with attending 
Board of Directors and committee meetings. 
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Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters 

The following table sets forth certain information with respect to the beneficial ownership of our Common 
Stock and our 6% Convertible Exchangeable Preferred Stock (the “Preferred Stock”) as of April 23, 2024 for (a) 
each of our named executive officers, (b) each of our directors and director nominees, (c) all of our current 
directors and executive officers as a group, and (d) each stockholder known by us to own beneficially more than 
5% of our Common Stock or Preferred Stock, relying solely upon the amounts and percentages disclosed in their 
public filings. 

Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC and includes voting or investment 
power with respect to the securities. We deem shares of Common Stock that may be acquired by an individual or 
group within 60 days of April 23, 2024 pursuant to the exercise of options or warrants to be outstanding for the 
purpose of computing the percentage ownership of such individual or group but do not deem them to be 
outstanding for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of any other person shown in the table. Except 
as indicated in footnotes to this table, we believe that the stockholders named in this table have sole voting and 
investment power with respect to all shares of stock shown to be beneficially owned by them based on information 
provided to us by these stockholders. 

Percentage of ownership of Common Stock is based on 1,318,257 shares of Common Stock outstanding as of 
April 23, 2024. Percentage of ownership of Preferred Stock is based on 335,273 shares of Preferred Stock 
outstanding as of April 23, 2024. 

The address for each of the directors, director nominees and named executive officers is c/o Cyclacel 
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 200 Connell Drive, Suite 1500, Berkeley Heights, New Jersey 07922. Addresses of other 
beneficial owners are noted in the table. 
                          

Name of Beneficial Owners   

Number of 
Shares of 

Common Stock 
Beneficially 

Owned   

Percentage of 
Common Stock 

Owned   

Number of 
Shares of 

Preferred Stock 
Beneficially 

Owned   

Percentage of 
Preferred Stock 

Owned  
Dr. Samuel L. Barker     4,155      *      0      0   
Dr. Kenneth M. Ferguson(1)     2,636      *      0      0   
Dr. Christopher Henney     4,089      *      0      0   
                          
Paul McBarron(2)     16,611      1.26%      0      0   
Spiro Rombotis(3)     30,658      2.33%      1,600      *                             
Dr. Robert Spiegel     4,073      *      0      0   
Dr. Brian Schwartz(4)     25,028      1.90%      0      0   
Karin Walker(5)     4,194      *      0      0   
Executive officers and directors as a group 
(8 persons)(6)     91,444      6.94%      1,600      *   
5% or more stockholders      
Entities affiliated with Lind Global Fund 
II LP(7)     102,250      7.76%      0      0   
Entities affiliated with Altium Growth 
Fund, LP(8)     82,032      6.22%      0      0   

 
* Represents beneficial ownership of less than 1% of the outstanding shares of our Common Stock or of our 

Preferred Stock. 

(1) Includes options to purchase 175 shares of Common Stock that are exercisable within 60 days of April 23, 
2024 and 527 Restricted Stock Units that will vest within 60 days of April 23, 2024. 
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(2) Includes options to purchase 370 shares of Common Stock that are exercisable within 60 days of April 23, 
2024 

(3) Includes options to purchase 704 shares of Common Stock that are exercisable within 60 days of April 23, 
2024. Does not include 46 shares of Common Stock beneficially owned by Kalliopi Rombotis, Mr. Rombotis’ 
mother. Mr. Rombotis disclaims beneficial ownership of the foregoing shares. 

(4) Includes options to purchase 4,167 shares of Common Stock that are exercisable within 60 days of April 23, 
2024 and 4,167 Restricted Stock Units that will vest within 60 days of April 23, 2024. 

(5) Includes options to purchase 9 shares of Common Stock that are exercisable within 60 days of April 23, 2024. 

(6) See footnotes 1 through and including 5. 

(7) Based solely on Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on January 4, 2024 by Lind Global Fund II, LP. Lind Global 
Partners II LLC, the general partner of Lind Global Fund II LP, may be deemed to have sole voting and dispositive 
power with respect to the shares held by Lind Global Fund II LP. Jeff Easton, the managing member of Lind Global 
Partners II LLC, may be deemed to have sole voting and dispositive power with respect to the shares held by Lind 
Global Fund II LP. 

(8) Based solely on Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on January 10, 2024 by Altium Growth Fund, LP. Altium 
Capital Management, LP is the investment adviser of, and may be deemed to beneficially own securities, owned by 
the Altium Growth Fund, LP (the “Fund”). Altium Growth GP, LLC is the general partner of, and may be deemed to 
beneficially own securities, owned by the Fund. 

Equity Compensation Plan Information 

The following table provides certain aggregate information with respect to all of our equity compensation 
plans in effect as of December 31, 2023. As applicable, the figures described in this section have been adjusted to 
give effect to the reverse stock split completed on December 15, 2023. 
                    

   (a)   (b)   (c)  

Plan Category   

Number of 
Securities to 

be 
issued upon 
exercise of 

outstanding 
options, 

warrants 
and 

rights   

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
of 

outstanding 
options, 

warrants, 
and rights   

Number of 
Securities 
remaining 

available for 
future issuance 
under equity 
compensation 

plans 
(excluding 
securities 

reflected in 
column (a))  

Total equity compensation plans approved by security holders(1)     137,446     $ 59.11      22,466   
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders(2)     8,000     $ 56.55      5,333   

 
(1) Consists of our 2018 Plan, our 2015 Plan, and our 2006 Plan. The Plans provide for the grant of incentive 

stock options, nonqualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units and 
performance units. There were no shares available for issuance, as of the date hereof, under the 2006 Plan or 
the 2015 Plan. 

(2) Consists of our 2020 Plan. The 2020 Plan provides for the grant of nonqualified stock options, stock 
appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units and performance units. 
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Item 13.   Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence 

Our Audit Committee reviews and approves in advance all related-party transactions. Except as described 
below, there have been no transactions during our last two fiscal years with our directors and officers and 
beneficial owners of more than 5% of our voting securities and their affiliates. 

On December 21, 2023, in an insider private placement, we entered into an Insider Securities Purchase Agreement 
pursuant to which we agreed to sell in a private placement (i) 6,070 shares of common stock and warrants to purchase 
6,070 shares of common stock, on the same terms as the unregistered warrants issued to certain institutional investors 
(the “Purchasers” and such warrants, the “Private Warrants”), to Spiro Rombotis, our Chief Executive Officer, and (ii) 
1,886 shares of common stock and warrants to purchase 1,886 shares of common stock on the same terms as the Private 
Warrants issued to the Purchasers in the Offerings to Paul McBarron, our Executive Vice President-Finance, Chief 
Financial Officer and Chief Operating Officer. Each such share of common stock and accompanying warrant was sold at 
a purchase price of $3.315, which was the same purchase price for the shares of common stock sold in a concurrent 
registered direct offering. 

Director Independence 

Our Board of Directors has reviewed the materiality of any relationship that each of our directors has with the 
Company, either directly or indirectly. Based upon this review, our Board of Directors has determined that each of 
the following directors is an “independent director” as such term is defined by rules of The Nasdaq Stock Market, 
Inc., or Nasdaq: 

• Christopher S. Henney, Ph.D., D.Sc. 
• Robert J. Spiegel, M.D. 
• Samuel L. Barker, Ph.D. 
• Kenneth M. Ferguson, Ph.D. 
• Karin L. Walker 

The Board of Directors has established three standing committees: (1) the Compensation and Organization 
Development Committee, (2) the Audit Committee, and (3) the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. 
The Board of Directors has also determined that each member of these committees meets the independence 
requirements applicable to each such committee as prescribed by Nasdaq and the SEC. Dr. Schwartz will not be 
considered an independent director while serving as interim Chief Medical Officer. Following his appointment on 
January 25, 2024, Dr Schwartz resigned from the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. In 
September 2018, the Board of Directors also reconstituted the Science and Technology Committee. 
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Item 14.   Principal Accountant Fees and Services 

The Audit Committee has appointed RSM US LLP, or RSM, as our independent registered public accounting 
firm, to audit our consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024. The Board of 
Directors proposes that our holders of Common Stock ratify this appointment.  

The following table presents fees for professional audit services rendered by RSM for the audit of Cyclacel’s 
annual financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023, and fees billed for other services 
rendered by them during those periods. 

              

   2022   2023  
Audit fees(1)    $ 331,916     $ 335,430   
Tax fees(2)    $ 27,300     $ 31,164   
Total    $ 359,216     $ 366,594   

 
(1) Audit fees represent fees for the audit of the Company’s annual consolidated financial statements, review of 

the Company’s interim financial statements included in quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, services that an 
independent auditor would customarily provide in connection with subsidiary audits, other regulatory filings 
and similar engagements for each fiscal year shown, such as attest services, comfort letters, consents and 
assistance with review of reports filed with the SEC. 

(2) Tax fees represent tax compliance and return preparation and tax planning and advice. 

Policy on Audit Committee Pre-Approval of Audit and Permissible Non-audit Services of Independent Auditors 

Consistent with SEC policies regarding auditor independence, the Audit Committee has responsibility for 
appointing, setting compensation, and overseeing the work of our independent registered public accounting firm. In 
recognition of this responsibility, the Audit Committee has established a policy to pre-approve all audit and 
permissible non-audit services provided by our independent registered public accounting firm. 

Prior to engagement of the independent auditor for the next year’s audit, management will submit an aggregate 
of services expected to be rendered during that year for each of four categories of services to the Audit Committee 
for approval. 

1. Audit services include audit work performed in the preparation of financial statements, as well as work that 
generally only the independent registered public accounting firm can reasonably be expected to provide, 
including comfort letters, statutory audits and attest services and consultation regarding financial 
accounting and/or reporting standards. 

2. Audit-Related services are for assurance and related services that are traditionally performed by the 
independent registered public accounting firm, including due diligence related to mergers and acquisitions, 
employee benefit plan audits and special procedures required to meet certain regulatory requirements. 

3. Tax services include all services performed by the independent registered public accounting firm’s tax 
personnel except those services specifically related to the audit of the financial statements, and includes 
fees in the areas of tax compliance, tax planning and tax advice. 

4. Other Fees are those associated with services not captured in the other categories. The Company generally 
does not request such services from our independent registered public accounting firm. 

Prior to engagement, the Audit Committee pre-approves these services by category of service. The fees are 
budgeted and the Audit Committee requires our independent registered public accounting firm and management to 
report actual fees versus the budget periodically throughout the year by category of service. 

During the year, circumstances may arise when it may become necessary to engage our independent registered 
public accounting firm for additional services not contemplated in the original pre-approval. In those instances, the 
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Audit Committee requires specific pre-approval before engaging the independent registered public accounting 
firm. 

The Audit Committee may delegate pre-approval authority to one or more of its members. The member to 
whom such authority is delegated must report, for informational purposes only, any pre-approval decisions to the 
Audit Committee at its next scheduled meeting. 

In the event the stockholders do not ratify the appointment of RSM as our independent registered public 
accounting firm, the Audit Committee will reconsider its appointment. 
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PART IV 

Item 15.   Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules 

The following documents are being filed as part of this report: 

(1) No financial statements are filed with this Amendment No.1 to our Annual Report Form 10-K. See Index to 
Consolidated Financial Statements at Item 8 of the Original 10-K. 

(2) Financial Satement Schedules 

No financial statement schedules are filed with this Amendment No.1 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

(3) Exhibits 

The following is a list of exhibits filed as part of this Amendment No.1 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K. 
   

Exhibit 
Number      Description 
   

3.1  Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (previously filed as 
Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, originally filed with the SEC on April 1, 
2013, and incorporated herein by reference). 

3.2  Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Cyclacel 
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (previously filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, 
originally filed with the SEC on May 27, 2016, and incorporated herein by reference). 

3.3  Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Cyclacel 
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (previously filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, 
originally filed with the SEC on April 14, 2020, and incorporated herein by reference). 

3.4  Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Cyclacel 
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (previously filed as Exhibit 3.4 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on 
Form S-1, originally filed with the SEC on January 19, 2024, and incorporated herein by reference). 

3.5  Certificate of Correction to the Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of 
Incorporation of Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (previously filed as Exhibit 3.5 to the Registrant’s 
Registration Statement on Form S-1, originally filed with the SEC on January 19, 2024, and incorporated 
herein by reference). 

3.6  Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (previously filed as Exhibit 3.1 
to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, originally filed with the SEC on May 7, 2020, and 
incorporated herein by reference). 

3.7  Amendment No. 1 to the Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 
(previously filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, originally filed with the 
SEC on November 7, 2023, and incorporated herein by reference). 

3.8  Certificate of Designation of 6% Convertible Exchangeable Preferred Stock (previously filed as 
Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, originally filed with the SEC on November 5, 
2004, and incorporated herein by reference). 

3.9  Certificate of Designation of Series A Preferred Stock (previously filed as Exhibit 3.5 to the Registrant’s 
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-218305), originally filed with the SEC on July 17, 2017, 
and incorporated herein by reference). 

3.10  Certificate of Designation of Preferences, Rights and Limitations of the Series B Convertible Preferred 
Stock (previously filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, originally filed 
with the SEC on December 22, 2020, and incorporated herein by reference). 

4.1  Specimen of Common Stock Certificate (previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Registrant’s Registration 
Statement on Form S-1, File No. 333-109653, originally filed with the SEC on February 17, 2004, as 
subsequently amended, and incorporated herein by reference). 
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4.2  Specimen of Preferred Stock Certificate of Designation (previously filed as Exhibit 3.2 to Registrant’s 
Registration Statement on Form S-1, File No. 333-119585, originally filed with the SEC on October 21, 
2004, as subsequently amended, and incorporated herein by reference). 

4.3  Form of Warrant to purchase shares of Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Common Stock (previously filed as 
Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, originally filed with the SEC on July 1, 2011, 
and incorporated herein by reference). 

4.4  Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of December 14, 2012, by and between the Company and Aspire 
Capital Fund, LLC (previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, 
originally filed with the SEC on December 17, 2012, and incorporated herein by reference). 

4.5  Registration Rights Agreement, dated November 14, 2013, by and between the Company and Aspire 
Capital Fund, LLC (previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, 
originally filed with the SEC on November 14, 2013, and incorporated herein by reference). 

4.6  Form of Warrant to purchase shares of Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc.’s Common Stock (previously filed 
as Exhibit 4.3 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-218305), originally filed 
with the SEC on July 17, 2017, and incorporated herein by reference). 

4.7  Form of Pre-Funded Warrant (previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 
8-K, originally filed with the SEC on April 24, 2020, and incorporated herein by reference). 

4.8  Form of Common Warrant (previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-
K, originally filed with the SEC on April 24, 2020, and incorporated herein by reference). 

4.9  Form of Warrant (previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, 
originally filed with the SEC on December 22, 2020, and incorporated herein by reference). 

4.10  Form of Pre-Funded Common Stock Purchase Warrant (previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K, originally filed with the SEC on December 26, 2023, and incorporated 
herein by reference). 

4.11  Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant (previously filed as Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant’s Current 
Report on Form 8-K, originally filed with the SEC on December 26, 2023, and incorporated herein by 
reference). 

4.12*  Description of Securities (previously filed as Exhibit 4.12 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on 
Form 10-K, originally filed with the SEC on March 21, 2024, and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.1†  Amended and Restated 2006 Equity Incentive Plan (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K, originally filed with the SEC on May 24, 2012, and incorporated herein by 
reference). 

10.2†  2015 Equity Incentive Plan (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, 
originally filed with the SEC on May 22, 2015, and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.3†  Amended and Restated 2018 Equity Incentive Plan (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K originally filed with the SEC on June 14, 2023, and incorporated herein by 
reference). 

10.4#  Clinical Collaboration Agreement by and between Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and the University of 
Texas M.D. Anderson Cancer Center dated as of August 21, 2018 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the 
Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2018 and 
incorporated herein by reference). 

10.5  Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 2020 Inducement Equity Incentive Plan (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to 
the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, originally filed with the SEC on November 12, 2020, and 
incorporated herein by reference). 

10.6  Form of Stock Option Grant Notice and Stock Option Agreement under the Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, 
Inc. 2020 Inducement Equity Incentive Plan (previously filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Current 
Report on Form 8-K, originally filed with the SEC on November 12, 2020, and incorporated herein by 
reference). 

10.7  Employment Agreement between Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Spiro Rombotis (previously filed as 
Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, originally filed with the SEC on May 4, 
2023 and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.8  Employment Agreement between Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Paul McBarron (previously filed as 
Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, originally filed with the SEC on May 4, 
2023 and incorporated herein by reference). 



25 

10.9  Form of Indemnification Agreement for directors (previously filed as Exhibit 10.16 to the Registrant’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K/A, originally filed with the SEC on November 29, 2023, and incorporated 
herein by reference). 

10.10  Placement Agency Agreement by and between Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Ladenburg Thalmann 
& Co. Inc., dated December 21, 2023 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 the Registrant’s Current Report on 
Form 8-K, originally filed with the SEC on December 26, 2023 and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.11  Securities Purchase Agreement by and between Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and the Purchasers, dated 
December 21, 2023 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.2 the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, 
originally filed with the SEC on December 26, 2023 and incorporated herein by reference). 

10.12  Securities Purchase Agreement by and between Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Spiro Rombotis and 
Paul McBarron, dated December 21, 2023 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.3 the Registrant’s Current 
Report on Form 8-K, originally filed with the SEC on December 26, 2023 and incorporated herein by 
reference). 

10.13*  Consulting Agreement by and between Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Brian Schwartz, M.D., dated 
January 26, 2024 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.13 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, 
originally filed with the SEC on March 21, 2024, and incorporated herein by reference). 

21  Subsidiaries of Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (previously filed as Exhibit 21 to the Registrant’s Annual 
Report on Form 10-K, originally filed with the SEC on March 26, 2014, and incorporated herein by 
reference). 

23.1*  Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (previously filed as Exhibit 23.1 to the 
Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, originally filed with the SEC on March 21, 2024, and 
incorporated herein by reference).. 

31.1**  Certification of Spiro Rombotis, pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 
31.2**  Certification of Paul McBarron, pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

32.1+  Certification of Spiro Rombotis, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 
(Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code) (previously filed as 
Exhibit 32.1 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, originally filed with the SEC on March 21, 
2024, and incorporated herein by reference). 

32.2+  Certification of Paul McBarron, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 
(Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code) (previously filed as 
Exhibit 32.2 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, originally filed with the SEC on March 21, 
2024, and incorporated herein by reference). 

97.1*  Clawback Policy (previously filed as Exhibit 97.1 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, 
originally filed with the SEC on March 21, 2024, and incorporated herein by reference). 

101  The following materials from Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year 
ended December 31, 2022, formatted in Inline XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language): (i) the 
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income, (ii) the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets, (iii) the 
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, and (iv) Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial 
Statements. 

104  Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted in Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101) 
 

Exhibits: 

† Indicates management compensatory plan, contract or arrangement. 

# Confidential treatment has been granted with respect to certain portions of this exhibit, which portions have been 
omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission as part of an application for confidential 
treatment pursuant to the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. 

* Previously Filed. 

** Filed herewith. 

+ Previously Furnished 
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly 
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned. 
   

  CYCLACEL PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. 
Date: April 29, 2024 By: /s/ Paul McBarron 
  Paul McBarron 

 
 Chief Operating Officer, Chief Financial Officer & 

Executive Vice President, Finance 
  (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) 
 



Directors 

Dr. Christopher Henney 
Chairman of Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 

Dr. Robert Spiegel 
Vice Chairman of Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc.,  
Biotech consultant, scientific advisory board member and 
director of various companies. 

Dr. Samuel L. Barker 
Director of various public companies.

Dr. Kenneth M. Ferguson 
Operating partner at Accelerator Life Science 
Partners. 

Dr. Brian Schwartz 
Interim Chief Medical Officer of Cyclacel 
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Former Senior Vice President,  
Head of Research and Development and Chief Medical 
Officer at ArQule Inc. Biotech consultant and Director of 
various companies. 

Karin L. Walker 
Chief Accounting Officer of Prothena 
Corporation plc. 

Spiro Rombotis 
President and Chief Executive Officer of 
Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 

Paul McBarron 
Executive Vice President – Finance, Chief 
Financial Officer, Chief Operating Officer  
and Secretary of Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 

Executive Officers 

Spiro Rombotis 
President and Chief Executive Officer 

Paul McBarron 
Executive Vice President – Finance, Chief 
Financial Officer, Chief Operating Officer  
and Secretary 

Stockholders and Stock Listing 

Our common stock is traded on the Nasdaq Capital Market 
under the symbol CYCC. On May 6, 2024, the closing 
price of our common stock was $2.07 per share and our 
common stock was held by 12 stockholders of record. 

Investor Information

You may obtain a copy of any of the exhibits to our Annual 
Report on Form 10-K free of charge. These documents are 
available on our website at www.cyclacel.com or by 
contacting Investor Relations at (908) 517-7330. 

Requests for information about Cyclacel Pharmaceuticals, 
Inc. should be directed to our Investor Relations team. 

Annual Meeting 

The annual meeting of stockholders will be held at 11:00 
p.m. E.D.T. on June 21, 2024, via live audio webcast at the 
following URL: 
www.virtualshareholdermeeting.com/CYCC2024

Internet Website 

www.cyclacel.com

Legal Counsel 

Mintz, Levin, Cohn, Ferris, Glovsky and Popeo, P.C.  
New York, New York 

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  

RSM US LLP 
New York, New York 

Transfer Agent and Registrar 

Equiniti Trust Company 
Ridgefield Park, New Jersey


